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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
CUE VR HE S

As the shares (the “Share(s)”) of Dmall Inc. (the “Company”, ZERHZE2024F 12A31HILEFE((REEE])
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) have been listed X @ ZAHEERAR(TALXT ] EREWEA
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock RIFZTEIXNEE ) NG ([RE ) EREBHER
Exchange”) for less than one year as at the end of the year ended S AR AT ([BERFT]) FiNm—F - BEFIR
December 31, 2024 (the “Reporting Year”), only a summary T 1R BIFR BT 5 22 Bl AR B AY 2N S (B30 1 PU (8 B
of the financial results of the Group prepared in accordance with ~ BFEIEEEHRE - FI5WT

IFRS Accounting Standards for the past four financial years is

presented. The details are set out below:

Year ended December 31, (RMB'000)
BZ12A31BLFE(ARETT)

2024 2023 2022 2021
20245 20234 20224 20214
Revenue Uz 1,859,002 1,585,357 1,328,264 848,192
Gross Profit EF 746,376 554,701 505,196 172,739
Loss for the year FAEE (2,220,276)  (655,439) (840,526) (1,825,048)
Non-IFRS measure: Adjusted FEBRR B T R 5 AR Rl ET
profit/(loss) from continuing 2 FRIFBELEES
operations for the year® KEREEFE, (BR)D 29,795 (276,704)  (368,396)  (952,981)
As at December 31, (RMB’'000)
M12A318(ARETIL)
2024 2023 2022 2021
20245 20234 20224 20214
Total assets BEAE 1,659,186 1,377,772 1,307,164 1,281,102
Total liabilities BfEER 1,018,157 8,142,896 7,384,531 6,020,350
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(aR)FHE 641,029 (6,765,124) (6,077,367) (4,739,248)
Notes: Bitat -

(1) The Group defines adjusted profit/(loss) from continuing operations (1) 338 1 (B LA 4 2 45 & #9 LA B (5 & 1 /9 1 515

(non-IFRS measure) as loss for the year from continuing operations T AEB EEEAERNALEEBEE - IRE
adjusted by adding back equity-settled share-based payment BENAAEESZH R ETRIOAE  KEH
expenses, fair value change of convertible redeemable preferred R AR ECE EBERARETE(B18) GER
shares, fair value change of an equity investment and listing B EmERNAZ)EERTFARBLEEED
expenses. Fair value change of an equity investment was an item WEIE - BARAIRBEFERMFEEELS
taken into account since the publication of the annual results AR EREENARBEZESHAEREN—(EE
announcement of the Company for the Reporting Year and B BEFELBIRCHEEMETT T A

historical numbers have been adjusted accordingly.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEEE

In 2024, the Group forged ahead with unremitting perseverance
and scaled new heights in its journey for retail digital intelligence,
achieving a series of milestone breakthroughs. This year witnessed
the listing of the Group on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong,
embracing a new chapter as a public company. At the operational
level, the Group sustained a rapid revenue growth while
attaining profitability (Non-IFRS Measure). This accomplishment
fully manifests the Group’s profound expertise in retail digital
intelligence and its fast and robust development momentum.

Financial Performance

In 2024, the Group stayed on track for the rapid and high-
quality business growth and steadfastly advanced its vision to
drive global retail technology innovation and digital intelligence
transformation. Guided by its dual-driver strategy for domestic
and international markets, the Group proactively cemented and
furthered its strategic partnerships with Chinese top retailers
and international retail giants. Currently, the Group’s business
footprint has covered 10 countries and regions, marked by a
growing customer base. In 2024, the number of customers
served reached up to 591. Financially, the Group sustained a
robust revenue growth, recording RMB1,859.0 million in 2024,
representing a year-over-year increase of 17.3%. Notably, the
overseas business achieved remarkable results. In 2024, it recorded
revenue of RMB157.6 million, representing a year-over-year
increase of 27.9%. Meanwhile, in 2024, the gross profit of the
Group also rose to RMB746.4 million, representing a year-over-
year increase of 34.6%, with gross profit margin increasing by
5.2 percentage points and adjusted net profit (Non-IFRS measure)
reached RMB29.8 million, reflecting a robust and improving
financial position.
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Business Review
Chinese Market

For the Chinese market, the Group furthered its relationships
with regular customers and identified new customers. We
have forged landmark cooperation with Xuchang Pangdonglai
Commerce & Trade Co., Ltd. (“Pangdonglai”), which is hailed
as a renowned innovator and trailblazer in China’s retail sector.
In December 2024, the “Dmall Annual Partners Summit ( % 24
DMALLF & & 1E & KX & )" witnessed a success in Xuchang,
where Mr. YU Donglai, the founder of Pangdonglai, attended
and delivered a keynote address. He affirmed the value of Dmall’s
co-work with Pangdonglai in the digital intelligence drive, which
has advanced scientific retail management practices. He noted
that Pangdonglai would cooperate with Dmall to promote
excellence and lead China’s retail sector into a new era marked
by quality. On top of that, the Group has reached cooperation
with various retail formats representatives, including Better Life
Group (002251.52), Lishui Wanjiahui, Lawson (China) Investment
Co., Ltd. (“Lawson”), Harbin Churin Leaderfoods Co., Ltd.
(“Harbin Churin Leaderfoods”), Henan Shuanghui Investment
and Development Co., Ltd. (7] F # [ER & #H R KD BR 2 F)
(000895.57) (“Shuanghui Development”), and Huazhong
University of Science and Technology Campus Retail.

International Market

For the international market, the Group takes the Southeast Asian
market as its strategic hub to work harder on lighthouse projects
and expand its footprints in the emerging regional market. In
2024, the international business gained momentum as the major
growth engine driving the Group’s development. The international
business revenue increased by 27.9% from the same period
last year, accounting for 8.5% of the total revenue. The Group
worked with internationally renowned retailers such as DFI Retail
Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“DFI Retail Group”),
SM Investments Corporation and its subsidiaries (“SM Group”)
and Metro AG and its subsidiaries (“Metro Group”), laying a
solid foundation for its footprints in the international market.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

Al Exploration

Championing uninterrupted technological innovation, the Group
has been tapping into the promising potential of Al in the
retail sector. Targeting core retail scenarios, we have launched
a series of proprietary Al Agents, furthering industry-wide Al
advancements. Notable Al products such as Al Clearance (AlIH)%)
and Al Patrol Inspection (Alz#%) have delivered measurable gains
to customers. In 2024, the Group’s Al-backed retail core service
cloud embraced its 3.0 phase, launching ten major innovative
applications that span the entire retail chain, empowering the
industry-wide digital intelligence. Internally, the Group piloted the
use of advanced Al tools for better R&D efficiency.

Environmental, Social, and Governance

While working hard to expand its business footprints, the
Group proactively implemented its corporate social responsibility
and embedded it into its core operational framework. For
environmental protection, the Group developed multiple
innovative intelligent energy efficiency solutions, empowering
retailers to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions
in key links across logistics, warehousing, and store operations.
Taking advantage of the digital intelligence transformation, the
Group enables paperless offices to help retail partners reduce
costs while minimizing the resource consumption. For corporate
governance, the Group is committed to the principles of rigor,
standardization, and transparency for robust and efficient
governance architecture. The Group also prioritized diversity in
board and workforce composition. For corporate culture and
talent development, the Group has shaped a complete talent
training system, performance evaluation system and corresponding
long-term and short-term incentive plans.
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Acknowledgment and Outlook

Since its outset in 2015, the Group has been devoted to the retail
digital intelligence for nearly a decade. Here, I, on behalf of the
Board, would like to sincerely thank people from all walks of
life for your unwavering support to the Group! 2025 represents
a crucial year of the Group'’s first decade and it also serves as a
starting point where we are setting off for the era of Al - powered
new quality retail. Looking into the future, the digital intelligence
transformation in the retail industry will be defining the trend.
In this context, the Group will seize the opportunities to keep
exploring the innovative models for the in-depth integration of
Al and retail. By creating a new retail system that integrates high
efficiency, convenience and high quality, we will comprehensively
restructure the circulation model and create a brand-new
consumer experience. Meanwhile, we will refresh our commitment
to the development philosophy of “Chinese Wisdom Empowering
the Globe”. To make it happen, we will follow the dual-driver
strategy in the Chinese and international markets and join hands
with the retail industry to practice and promote excellence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI WR A

1.

Note:

BUSINESS REVIEW
Highlights for 2024

In 2024, the global economy maintained steady progress
in a complex and volatile environment. As a key driver of
economic growth, the retail consumption industry continued
to develop powered by twin drivers: quality retailing
and digital transformation. The surging technological
transformation, especially the emergence of generative
artificial intelligence (GenAl), has revolutionized the
operational efficiency and business model of a wide range
of industries with unprecedented speed and depth. The
past year has marked GenAl's shift from experimental pilots
to scaled production deployments globally, with retail’s Al-
driven digital transformation mirroring this trend.

As a leading provider of Al-driven retail digitalization
solutions, the Group restructured its business in 2024,
further anchoring its focus on retail core service cloud
solutions which concentrates on two core business
segments: Dmall OS system and AloT solutions. Through
strengthening its commitment to innovation, the Group
successfully launched Dmall Solution 3.0, which incorporated
Al technology to introduce cutting-edge applications. The
Group positioned GenAl at the core of its strategic priorities.
With continuous efforts in technology and independent
innovation, the Group has deeply explored the application
potential of GenAl and collaboration with robots in retail
scenarios from multiple dimensions, and launched a series
of Al Agent products tailored for diverse retail applications,
promoting the Al upgrade of retail businesses. As of 2024,
the Group has served 591 customers. The number of
customers has been continuously increasing. The Group’s
dollar-based net retention rate"® reached 114%, kept on
achieving higher than 100%. The Group advanced its dual-
engine strategy driven by both Chinese and international
markets and both existing customers and new customers.

revenues generated in the given year by recurring customers
(excluding consumers) with the prior period divided by revenues
generated by all customers (excluding consumers) in the prior year.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N

ez

e qE]
2024 £ ESE

20244F - RIREBEEMZEN R PREF
BARIT - (ERKEBERRNARES N T
EHBETETRETEHYg S EANES
HETRHESRE - HITEERTDE « 155
RAERRA T BE(GenANRR IR » I
AFTABRREMREYBESITSENE
EMEMEERN - BE—F - 2HEBER
FT GenAIft A B RS ER B M £ EE AR FEF Y
BREMEIR - TEHE (LA D TFIIN

REBERELHNTEHSLBRART ERY
B E2024FHITEM BEBELE—
FTHEATERLDRBEMAFR  EBE
A Dmall OSIR1E RS FAlOT f R 77 R K i
DEBIRIE - AEBEBBIMNZBIFTIRA K
Ih#E T Dmall Solution 3.0 * ZH XS T
ATEEERM - SIATRHER - AEE K
GenAlE RZ O BB ML - REEF BRI
WEREH FAIFT - W ZHEIRZGenAl R
HBAGEETEISSNEREN  TE%
REEHEHEA AgentRIESR - #HEHZ
EEBAIFH - BE2024%F - NEBD RIE
SUMBEF - BEEEERFELM - AEER
BEEFRBZEERZ114% @ HERES
FR100% B 7K o 72N 52 B sk E Ap B % BB
M5 - ERPRIEFNERSER - A&
BEEEHEPETERBLEERBEBRANETE
EAE  TEHEGRE - FRAEHFET
BITEMAIT B MEEE - 2022F £2024
F - RBEUNEBERAKINSHNEEE
15 BRREAEBMBFSE - KEITER

EAMERERP (TRIEREE ) ERNEFEE
EHRERIAMERES (TRIEHEE)EL—
FEELANKGEAE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group has been achieving breakthroughs via strategic
partnerships with leading Chinese retail enterprises and
global retail giants. Pangdonglai is an innovator and leader
in China’s retail industry. From 2022 to 2024, from the
initial trial of the e-commerce module to the comprehensive
cooperation, Pangdonglai and the Group have been joining
hands to co-create a scientific and advanced digital and
intelligent solution that is suitable for the retail industry and
will jointly move towards the era of quality retailing for a
better life and a better society. In the international market,
the Group established a strong foundation for international
expansion through business collaborations with renowned
international retail customers, such as DFI Retail Group,
SM Group and Metro Group. Guided by its mission to lead
technological innovation and redefine retail globally, the
Group actively expands its worldwide footprint, deepens
its international presence to enhance its brand visibility and
influence and advances Al-driven digital transformation in

EEER WD

ETETENRE - LENHS(LBAR
X ARBRAREZTERA  BEETEX
T B EEERN | EREETWS L - AEE
BB EADF| Retail Group ~ SMEE AN K=
EEENEBRTERFPFAREBEGE B
R TS IERETEEM « B8 2R
BIFTRTEF N En  AEERRARE
i - FMMEBIRG R - IRAREAEER
FEN  WiHERHRTEETENRE (L

o

S~

retail globally.
2024 2023
20245 20234
Number of customers® ZEEgHO
Retail core service cloud TERUREE 557 527
— Operating system —IRIERG 370 324
— AloT solutions —AloTHER T 5 260 281
E-commerce service cloud BFREREE * 29
Others Hitb 41 4
Total number of customers R 591 533
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmKD

Notes:

The e-commerce service cloud solutions has been immaterial
in 2024. By the end of 2023, all our customers had
transitioned to in-house online-to-offline (“020") operation,
where they manage their own day-to-day 020 operations.
The remaining services provided by the Group under the
e-commerce service cloud solutions did not generate material
revenue in 2024. In April 2024, the Group completed the
restructuring (the “Restructuring”) to divest all of its equity
interests in Dmall Fresh (Beijing) E-commerce Co., Ltd.* (%
AL ) EF RS EMR A F]) (“Dmall Fresh (Beijing)”),
its former consolidated affiliated entity, which led to the
divestment of the Dmall APP. After the Restructuring, we
do not operate any business under the e-commerce service
cloud.

Number of customers that have contributed revenue to us
in a given year. The number of customers does not include
those from our tax invoice management system services,
which was launched in 2023 and generated immaterial
revenue. However, the number of customers from tax invoice
management system services exceeded 1,000 in 2024.

Benefiting from the above strategic layout and business

progress, the business operation of the Group maintained a

steady and high-quality growth. In 2024, the Group’s total

revenue reached RMB1,859.0 million, representing a year-

on-year growth of 17.3%, among which the revenue for

retail

core service cloud grew by 39.3% from RMB1,298.7

million in 2023 to RMB1,809.5 million in 2024. Our adjusted
profit from continuing operations for the year (non-IFRS

measure) reached RMB29.8 million. The cash flow has been

continuously improving, and the financial position remains

strong. The net assets turned to positive as of December 31,

2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Progress for 2024

Continuous system iteration, Dmall Solution
3.0 successful deployment of Al products and
collaboration with robots, leading the industry
innovation

The Group’s retail core service cloud solution provides
rich service modules covering supply chain management,
warehouse and transportation management, store
operations, e-commerce and membership management. It
helps retailers achieve full-process digitalization and provides
retailers with comprehensive data insights to help them
achieve efficient transformation in the digitalization wave
and seize market opportunities. Retailers can flexibly select,
set, and integrate different modules according to their needs
to meet their operational demands.

In 2024, the Group made significant strides in product
iteration with Dmall OS system and AloT solutions
distinguishing themselves through comprehensive coverage
and integration of cutting-edge retail practices. These
innovations enabled retailers to streamline operations, boost
revenue, reduce costs, and elevate efficiency. The retail
core service cloud solution, through continuous upgrades,
entered the 3.0 stage in 2024.

- Al agent products

A number of Al agent products, such as Al Clearance,
Al Customer Service, Al Service Quality Inspection,
Al Patrol Inspection, Al Shopping Guide and Al
Replenishment have been launched. Among them, Al
Replenishment System won the Annual Al Scenario
Application Innovation Award at the 7th DingGe
Award Ceremony in 2024. From 2022, the Group
started to explore the application of GenAl in retail
scenarios. Up to now, the Group’s Al products have
been connected to DeepSeek and completed localized
deployment, accelerating the widespread promotion
and application of Al in the retail sector. With access
to DeepSeek, Al products will be further enhanced in
terms of intelligence and decision-making capabilities.
Especially on the cost side, with the reduction of
computing power and inference costs, the cost of using
the products is expected to be significantly reduced.
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In 2024, Al Clearance was gradually deployed
across over 200 stores under the brand Wumart
(#3) that are operated and owned by Wumei
Technology Group, Inc. (ERIFEESR
~A]) and its subsidiaries (“Wumei Group”),
launching a dynamic discount clearance
program for meat and leafy vegetable products.
Leveraging intelligent analytics, the solution
generates real-time and individualized discount
recommendations to the individual store and
integrates seamlessly with the replenishment
system, delivering annual profit growth
exceeding RMB1 million for Wumei Group. It
will be further rolled out to other short-shelf-life
categories.

Al Customer Service can respond to customer
inquiries in a real-time manner and adjust
marketing strategies based on customer
feedback. After its launch, it not only reduced
the labor cost of our customer, but also
maintained a high level of user satisfaction,
with an online resolution rate of 80%. When
encountering complex problems, the model
automatically transfers the call to human
customer service representative to ensure service
quality.

Al Service Quality Inspection has expanded
from the initial quality inspection of customer
service to the quality inspection of voice content
during the communication with consumers
in the delivery scenario. Al has achieved full-
volume inspection, replacing the original manual
sampling inspection rate of 2% to 5%, and the
accuracy rate of sampling inspection exceeds
99%, greatly improving the efficiency and
accuracy of quality inspection.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Al Patrol Inspection is a deep integration of
Al models with the store security monitoring
equipment, enables intelligent visual monitoring
of key areas of the store. Combined with Al
capabilities, intelligent applications such as out-
of-stock shelves, unoccupied service counters,
queues in the cashier area, occupied fire exit,
and staff on duty in the monitoring room
leaving or falling asleep are identified. Once
identified, the alarm mechanism is triggered and
the issues are handed over to manual processing
to ensure that problems are responded to and
rectified quickly. In some scenarios, the cost
of manual inspection is reduced by 70%, and
the task rectification rate exceeds 98%, which
improves customer satisfaction and the shopping
experience, reduces potential risks and safety
hazards in the store.

Al Shopping Guide provides real-time natural
language Q&A support within consumer APP to
recommend products and guide users to add
items to their carts, effectively enhancing the
user’s shopping experience.

Al Replenishment allows retailers to automatically
place orders with suppliers as it can realize
accurate prediction of commodity sales trends
based on Al data algorithms. It significantly
improves the replenishment accuracy and the
efficiency for the entire supply chain.

EEER WD

Al - AR R B PT 5 2B B
ERERRERSE - HPIEERE
B ETEEREET - &6
ABENFERERRE - RBAE
A~ BREBERK - EB B
A Er=ERASHNEE
ZI55H5 - BAEBEIREK
BT A TEIE - HREAER
RIS EREERY - BDIHRE
HWANTHKIRRLAT0% » (EHEDR
KFBI8%  RABE MEEHE
eSS - BREPIEBTERKER

2RE-

ASEEZRBEABEEEZNA
= - TEHBEE AR APPIRE A
FPREBETRE  HLHEEY
RSB AEYE - BBIRF
TRPEYER -

Al B BT B RS IRIBAIBUR
BREEENRMEERE - )t
MEHTEHB B EHEER TF]
B BEERSTRBEHRERENE
BARMERMYE -

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W& D

N

Robotic Solutions

Warehouse robotic solution. The Group
cooperated with a leading robotics company
in the logistics industry to jointly create a
warehouse management solution. Through
seamless backend integration, the Group’s
warehouse management system controlling
panel sends task instructions to robots, which
autonomously execute operations such as
inbound logistics, high-rise storage, order
picking, and outbound deliveries, achieving full
automation. The application in the warehouse
greatly improved work efficiency while saving
space and costs.

Intelligent robotic cleaning solution. The
Group has independently developed the Dmall
Cleaning System (the "DCS system”), which
controls robots to play their maximum role in
intelligent cleaning tasks. The DCS system, as a
human-robot collaborative intelligent cleaning
management system, schedules, monitors,
and optimizes the cleaning tasks in the sales
area in real-time at the backend. Compared
to standalone robotic solutions, DCS system’s
human-robot collaborative framework offers
unparalleled flexibility in dynamic demand
response and robust capability in managing
complex retail cleaning scenarios. Currently,
the major customers of the intelligent robotic
cleaning solution include Dalian Wanda
Commercial Management Group Co., Ltd. (K
HEEREEREERMARAT) and its
subsidiaries, Longfor Group Holdings Limited
(BRI EIERR B R A A]) (stock code: 960.HK)
and its subsidiaries, RT-Mart, etc., among which
the first RT-Mart store enjoyed the service in
November 2024, achieving a cost reduction of
5% for the customer.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Dmall OS system updates under Dmall
Solution 3.0

Light Catering Platform is a new fast-food store
model, focusing on on-site production of fresh
food. The system highly integrates the whole
process seamlessly, optimizes the process,
and improves operation efficiency. It provides
consumers with a more convenient and efficient
dining experience, fully explores the spatial value
of stores, effectively improves store revenue per
square meter, and opens up a new growth path
for the physical retail industry.

Public Domain Linkage deeply connects with
public domain platforms such as Douyin and
Kuaishou, solving problems such as coupon
management, verification, and reconciliation,
helping merchants accurately grasp the traffic
conversion path, efficiently use public domain
traffic, and improve sales performance.

Integrated Business-Finance Hub, Dmall Solution
3.0 launched an integrated business and finance
platform covering contract management,
expense management, accounts receivable and
payable management, and accounting electronic
file management, promoting the transformation
of finance to a shared model.

Human Resources Management Upgrade, Dmall
Solution 3.0 adopts a piece-rate management
method, relying on the system’s powerful data
collection and analysis capabilities to accurately
calculate employee wages based on actual work
results and performance, stimulating employee
enthusiasm and creativity. At the same time,
the intelligent equipment management system
is used to optimize and analyze the utilization
rate of equipment such as cash registers,
increase the number of orders processed and
reduce unnecessary equipment and manpower
investment through reasonable allocation
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of equipment resources. In addition, Dmall
Solution 3.0 also includes a Job Management
Dashboard, where all tasks to be executed and
daily operations are displayed on the dashboard.
Employees can decide whether to perform a task
based on the tasks shown on the dashboard
and their actual workload. This approach not
only enables “more work, more reward” but
also helps enterprises achieve quantitative
management.

AloT Solutions under Dmall Solution 3.0

Another core business of the Group is AloT solutions
that integrate Al technologies with the Internet
of Things infrastructure to address practical and
immediate application scenarios for retailers, thereby
comprehensively improving in-store management
efficiency and creating personalized shopping
experiences for consumers. The Group offers AloT
solutions mainly for “People, Goods, and Site”. They
include intelligent efficiency improvement solutions to
optimize labor structure, such as intelligent cashier,
intelligent merchandise replenishment solutions,
intelligent package sorting solutions, and intelligent
delivery; intelligent security solutions to ensure
safe production, such as intelligent loss prevention,
intelligent security, intelligent inspection, self-
service night collection, and remote monitoring; and
intelligent energy efficiency and equipment solutions
to promote energy conservation and emission
reduction, such as intelligent energy efficiency,
intelligent cleaning, and intelligent equipment, etc.

As a business area that the Group has been vigorously
exploring in recent years, AloT solutions have achieved
phased results. This business is characterized by flexible
cooperation models and convenient implementation,
making it easy to establish cooperative relationships
with customers. In 2024, the Group signed new
contracts with several AloT customers, including
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Laolinju Convenience Store* (& #F /= & 7 /&) owned
and operated by Sichuan Laolinju Commercial and
Trade Chain Co., Ltd.* (I0)|| & EMEEEEHBRA
&), Shoukang Yongle Commercial Group* (F5EE K4
I Z @) (“Shoukang Yongle"), Sichuan Hongyuan
Shangcheng Supermarket Co., Ltd.* (P4 Il = ix £ %
™ A R A A) (“Sichuan Hongyuan”), Jialeyuan
Group (REE % E) and Lawson, etc.

Intelligent Loss Prevention Solutions: It consists of
Al anti-theft and loss prevention, intelligent security,
and remote monitoring. Among them, the Al anti-
theft and loss prevention system utilizes advanced
identification and analysis technologies to accurately
screen abnormal behaviors, and then issues real-
time warnings to cut the loss in a timely manner,
so as to reduce the loss of retail goods, and achieve
closed-loop management of the commodity loss
control business. Leveraging on modules such as
remote monitoring, intelligent inspection, and self-
service night collection, the intelligent security
system relies on Internet of Things technology to
drive the transformation of retail security towards
intellectualization, improving the security efficiency
and reducing operating costs. The remote monitoring
system realizes the remote management of 24/7
unattended retail through the cloud monitoring
system, self-service cashier, intelligent access control
and remote monitoring, helping merchants increase
sales revenue and reduce operating costs. In 2024,
the Group cooperated with a large commercial
group. Leveraging on digital intelligent monitoring
technology, the Group helped it to strengthen safety
management, achieving real-time Al warnings with
high level of precision around the clock, and ensuring
a rapid response to emergency security situations.
Meanwhile, the Group signed a strategic contract with
Laolinju Convenience Store. Through the application
of remote monitoring technology, the Group
optimized its chain management system and improved
its operational efficiency, thus helping customers to
control costs effectively and enhance their corporate
competitiveness.

For identification purpose only
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Intelligent Merchandise Replenishment Solutions:
Through employing advanced Al data algorithms and
integrating sales data, product display information
and inventory data, it can automatically trigger out-of-
stock alerts and precisely instruct workers to replenish
and sort out goods in the form of tasks, effectively
avoiding delays and errors caused by manual
operations. The system also supports product location
management, ensuring the efficient circulation and
traceability of products in the store. In the application
scenarios of stores, the system facilitates the Al-driven
digital transformation of the replenishment operation.
Through standardizing the staff’s operation processes
and ensuring timeliness, the project upgrades the
traditional offline management model to a digital and
guantitative management model. With the piecework
system, employees are paid according to their work,
significantly enhancing their work enthusiasm and
efficiency. In addition, by leveraging the digital
intelligent data of in-store replenishment, the solution
can conduct a reverse verification of the efficiency
of product logistics and the accuracy of goods
distribution, greatly improving the overall operational
efficiency of supermarkets.

Intelligent Cashier Solutions: This solution deeply
integrates cashier modules by connecting the back
ends of hardware devices such as point of sale (POS),
self-checkout machines and Al scales, and links them
with users to analyze the usage data for piecework
purpose, effectively enhancing the work efficiency
of employees. This solution has successfully helped
merchants such as Wumei Group, Metro Group,
Shoukang Yongle, and Sichuan Hongyuan to achieve
visual monitoring of the efficiency of their cashiers.
Through piecework management, employees’ work
enthusiasm was fully motivated, and their work
efficiency and service awareness were enhanced, thus
optimizing the overall performance of the cashier
process.
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Intelligent Distribution Solutions: By integrating
market distribution service providers, this solution
helps retailers to reduce the cost of system integration
and offers highly flexible capacity allocation plans that
are suitable for different business scenarios. In terms
of distribution capacity, it has changed the previous
fluctuations. Whether in the peak or low seasons of
orders, it can ensure a stable supply of capacity. For
the weak bargaining power of retailers as compared to
distribution service providers due to low order volumes,
the solution significantly enhanced the bargaining
power of retailers through resource integration and
centralized allocation. Moreover, it effectively solved
a dilemma of having idle full-time staff during low
order periods and the urgent need to allocate store
staff during peak order periods. This achieved efficient
utilization of human resources and comprehensively
improves the efficiency and quality of order fulfillment.
The Group's integrated distribution has an average
daily order volume of over 150,000, covering more
than 400 cities across the country. The number of
riders dispatched daily is over 10,000. The business
includes personalized solutions for distances of 1-3
kilometers, 3-5 kilometers, and 5-15 kilometers. In
the project of helping Metro Group achieve city-wide
distribution and direct delivery for fresh food, the
project of direct delivery for fresh food and city-wide
distribution accounted for 18.39% of the total C-end
online orders by the end of 2024, due to market
cultivation and a good distribution experience. The
Group helped merchants to reduce distribution costs
year by year through annual nationwide centralized
bidding. Taking Chongbai Supermarket* (& &) as
an example, based on order calculation for 2024, the
Group can help the merchant to reduce annual costs
by more than RMB500,000.
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Intelligent Package Sorting Solutions: Leveraging
on advanced big data algorithms and modeling
technologies, this solution identifies and locates
products based on order priorities and inventory status.
It abandons the traditional paper-based operation
mode, uses electronic devices to sort goods, and
streamlines the workflow from product identification
to final packaging to optimize the route of sorters
from the shelves to the packaging station, thus
improving the overall efficiency of product sorting.
This solution enables retailers to meet the needs of
online sales while enhancing operational efficiency
and operational accuracy, which helps retailers to
achieve the digitalization and productization of picking
operations and management, thereby improving
the picking efficiency of omnichannel orders, and
gradually reducing picking costs.

Intelligent Energy Efficiency Solutions: It integrates
functions such as photovoltaic management, energy
consumption management, intelligent control
of equipment, Al analysis, and carbon emission
management. By applying intelligent sensing,
Internet of Things, big data, and Al technologies,
this solution builds a comprehensive digital energy
management platform for enterprises. Through real-
time monitoring, intelligent analysis, and optimized
control, the Intelligent Energy & Efficiency System (the
“IES") product can effectively help enterprises reduce
energy costs and improve management efficiency,
thus assisting enterprises in practicing environmental,
social and governance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Dual-engine customer exploration strategy
driven by both Chinese and international
markets and both existing customers and
new customers.

Jointly Spread the goodness with Pangdonglai

Pangdonglai is renowned as an innovator and leader
in China’s retail industry, and it is also a practitioner
of advanced cultural concepts and quality retailing,
representing the future of the retail industry. Pangdonglai
adheres to rigorous supplier selection criteria, and the
Group's digital solutions have earned its highest praise.
From 2022 to 2024, starting from the initial trial of
the e-commerce module to the current comprehensive
cooperation, it not only reflects Pangdonglai’s recognition
of the Group but also demonstrates its determination to
embrace digitalization and intellectualization. The launch
of the Dmall digital and intelligent system has helped
Pangdonglai achieve comprehensive digitalization and
intellectualization, covering aspects such as membership,
products, supply chain, store operations, and headquarters
management. It has also assisted Pangdonglai in establishing
an online business system, enabling consumers across the
country to purchase products of Pangdonglai more easily.
Consumers can also purchase them online and pick them up
offline, making the shopping process more orderly.

In December 2024, the “DMALL Annual Clients Conference”
was successfully held in Xuchang. Mr. YU Donglai, the
founder of Pangdonglai, personally attended the conference
and shared his insights. He affirmed the co-creation of
digitalization and intellectualization between the Group and
Pangdonglai, making retail management more scientific.
The Group joined hands with Pangdonglai to co-create a
scientific and advanced digital and intelligent solution that
is truly suitable for the retail industry. By combining digital
and intelligent technologies with the best practices of
retail business, it inherits Pangdonglai’s cultural concepts,
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and summarizes and refines its scientific management
methodology for product quality and service quality. With
the assistance of the Group’s digitalization solution, retail
enterprises that hope to learn from Pangdonglai can improve
its work efficiency, making employees’ work easier, and
enhance its product and service quality, providing consumers
with a better experience. The Group and Pangdonglai will
help the retail industry transform and upgrade, and jointly
move towards the era of quality retailing for a better life and
a better society!

International business continues to gain
momentum and becomes an important growth
pillar

The Group firmly pursues a coordinated development
strategy for both its Chinese and international markets.
Its business covers 10 countries and regions, including
the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong, Macau, Cambodia,
Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, the Philippines, Brunei,
and Poland. In 2024, the international business grew
significantly, serving as an critical growth pillar for
the Group’s development. In 2024, the revenue from
international business accounted for 8.5% of the total
revenue, representing a year-on-year growth of 27.9%. In
the process of expanding into the international market, the
Group established a strong foundation for international
expansion through business collaborations with renowned
international retail customers, such as DFl Retail Group,
SM Group and Metro Group. DFI Retail Group, a leading
pan-Asian retailer, manages renowned brands including
Wellcome, Mannings, Giant, and Guardian, while holding
7-Eleven franchises in selected Asian markets. The Group
is in collaboration with DFI Retail Group across multiple
business lines, assisting them in achieving successful
digitalization in Asia market and inject a strong impetus
to its sustainable development in this region. In 2024, the
Group successfully deployed comprehensive cashier solutions
systems, store management, and warehouse management
systems for 7-Eleven and Mannings in Hong Kong, providing
it with efficient and stable retail management solutions and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

further deepening the Group’s business layout in the Hong
Kong market. Simultaneously, the Group expanded into
emerging Southeast Asian markets, leveraging its technical
expertise and service excellence to establish operations in
Indonesia, Brunei, and Malaysia, providing comprehensive
system support for the Guardian brand, which is one of the
market leading health and beauty retailers in the Southeast
Asia. This cooperation has effectively improved the
operational efficiency of Guardian, optimized the customer
shopping experience, and helped it further enhance its
significant position in the Southeast Asian retail markets.

In 2024, the Group also yielded significant outcomes from
its collaboration with SM Group in the Philippines. Since the
partnership commenced in 2023, the business scope of its
cooperation with SM Group has covered several well-known
Southeast Asian retail brands, including SM Hypermarket,
SM Supermarket, and Savemore. By the end of 2024, SM
Group successfully launched its cashier solutions system and
store management systems. The excellent implementation
results won high praise and recognition from customers, and
both parties reached a consensus to continue deepening
cooperation in more fields.

Through continuous engagement with global retail
customers, the Group has absorbed industry best practices,
honed its technical expertise, and strengthened its
leadership position among global provider of Al-driven retail
digitalization solutions. This has enabled us to spearhead
industry-wide digitalization transformation.
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Deeply cultivate existing customers, expand the
customer base and broaden the spectrum of
customer types

With a proactive attitude and steady steps, the Group
deepened cooperation with existing customers, spared no
effort to broaden the spectrum of customer types, fully
immersed itself into diverse retail sectors, and continuously
won the recognition of star benchmark customers in the
retail industry.

The Group always firmly adheres to the strategic concept
of “strengthening relationship and cooperation with
existing customers”, and creates more considerable
value for customers through continuous optimization of
services and expansion of cooperation fields, realizing
win-win cooperation and common development. Based
on the initial cooperation, it continuously expanded from
different dimensions such as adding modules, increasing
services, adding brands, and increasing the number of
stores, achieving remarkable results. As of 2024, the
Group’s dollar-based net retention rate reached 114%,
calculated by regular customer revenue divided by total
customer revenue (excluding consumers) over the same
period. This figure demonstrates the Group’s outstanding
ability in customer retention and repeat purchases, and
fully demonstrates the high recognition and deep loyalty
of existing customers towards the Group, as well as their
willingness to continuously place orders for the Group's
products. At the same time, the Group actively explored
and established in-depth cooperative relationships with
various retail enterprises of multiple types to fully expand its
customer base.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2024, the Group achieved

Strategic upgrade of cooperation with Pangdonglai, an
innovative benchmark in China’s physical retail industry
advocating harmonious retail: Pangdonglai, continues to
maintain its leading position in the regional market with
its unique business philosophy and refined operation
system, and its business model provides a referential
innovation paradigm for the retail industry. Through
the integration of digitalization capabilities and business
philosophy, the organic integration of “technology with
human value” and “retail with humanistic elements” is
realized. Pangdonglai successfully launched the Dmall
OS system in October 2024.

Strategic cooperation with Better Life Commercial
Chain Share Co., Ltd. (FFmEEEHRNHERA
A]) (002251.5Z) (“Better Life Group”), a leading
retail enterprise: In the face of the digitalization
transformation trend of the retail industry and
the continuous upgrading of consumer demand,
Better Life Group actively promotes the strategic
transformation of “new retail”. The Group and Better
Life Group have joined hands to jointly promote the
general digitalization upgrade of China’s listed retail
leader. This cooperation marks an important step for
Better Life Group’s strategic transformation from self-
research to open cooperation. The Group will provide
Better Life Group with comprehensive digitalization
solutions to help it reconstruct its digitalization
system and platform, optimize business processes,
and jointly create a new benchmark for digitalization
transformation in the retail industry.

Continued deepening the cooperation with
Pangdonglai, entered into a comprehensive
strategic cooperation on Dmall OS system with
Lishui Wanjiahui* (BB/KEZX ), a trainee company
of Pangdonglai, injecting strong impetus into
Lishui Wanjiahui's path of digital and intelligent
transformation. In the future, the Group will
explore cooperation with more trainee enterprises
of Pangdonglai and co-create a better life with
Pangdonglai with advanced concepts and methods;
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EEEN W& D

*

Pioneering the new business format of “light catering”
with Guangdong Sai Yi Convenience Stores* (FEE
ES{FFIE), the operating entity of 7-Eleven (one
of the largest convenience store chains in the world)
in South China, to innovate and fully create the new
fast-food store model based on the good cooperation
relationship between us. To further improve the
experience, the connection function between the
Group and Douyin also takes advantage of third-party
platforms to move from passive to active promotion.

Strategic cooperation with Henan Shuanghui
Development, a leading enterprise in global food
industry: Shuanghui Development, as a benchmark
enterprise in China’s meat industry, has built a global
food industry group spanning agriculture, husbandry,
slaughtering and processing, cold chain logistics, and
terminal retail through 30 years of in-depth cultivation
of the entire industry chain. The Group and Shuanghui
Development have established a strategic alliance for
full-scenario retail operating systems to jointly create
a "lighthouse project for digitalization transformation
of global food industry” for intelligent supply chain
upgrades and agile organizational restructuring.

Strategic cooperation with Harbin Churin Leaderfoods,
a centennial food industry group of intangible cultural
heritage: Harbin Churin Leaderfoods, founded in
1900, as one of the first batch of enterprises selected
as “China Time-honored Brand” for the inheritance
of intangible cultural heritage skills, continues to lead
the standard innovation of China’s traditional meat
products industry. Through such cooperation, it will
jointly build a “demonstration project for direct-to-
consumer digitalization transformation of traditional
food industry” with the Group to promote the
innovative development and brand upgrade of the
traditional food industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expanding cooperation scope with Sichuan
Hongyuan, a regional leading enterprise in Meishan
City, Sichuan Province: On the basis of the stable
original cooperation, the Group and Sichuan
Hongyuan started cooperation on the transportation
management system. This system integrates advanced
functions such as waybill management, proper delivery
behavior control, and timely delivery assessment,
and is equipped with convenient and efficient line
arrangement tools to improve the efficiency of logistics
resource allocation. Drivers receive transportation
tasks and scan codes to load vehicles through the
APP, with transportation tasks received more timely
and loading efficiency increased by 10%. The APP
itinerary provides fast navigation functions, effectively
improving the delivery rate and timeliness. Drivers can
automatically obtain tasks and complete check-in and
entry when they are within the scope of the electronic
fence, fully supporting paperless operations, and the
handover efficiency is increased by 10%.

Adding cooperation modules with Shoukang Yongle,
a leading enterprise in Shiyan City, Hubei Province:
Shoukang Yongle has added the application of
Dmall store dashboard product, which allows the
direct and efficient information transmission for
business goals set by the headquarters and quick
access to key information by managers of each store.
The performance dashboard clearly presents core
indicators such as online and offline sales, transaction
times, average transaction value, member sales ratio,
the number of transaction members, gross profit, and
top 8 abnormalities for commodity status, allowing
managers to quickly understand operating data,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W& D

accurately locate problems, and adjust strategies
in a timely manner to efficiently implement the
headquarters’ operating policies. Store operation is
fully migrated to the mobile terminal workbench.
Functions such as commodity inquiry, price tag,
picking, and price adjustment can be quickly operated
through the mobile terminal, the data inquiry portal
is centralized, and core indicators can be followed in
real time, providing timely and accurate data support
for business decision-making, and strongly supporting
supermarket sales and management work. Those
stores that have launched this product have achieved
significant results, with a cumulative annual saving
of RMB439,000 in store manager working hours and
effective reduction of human resource costs.

Provide a comprehensive retail digitalization solution
in line with industry development for the campus
chain supermarkets and the e-commerce business
of Huazhong University of Science and Technology
(HUST). As one of the state key comprehensive
universities directly under the Ministry of Education
located in Wuhan, HUST was established on May 26,
2000, through the merger of the former Huazhong
University of Technology, Tongji Medical University,
and Wuhan Urban Construction Institute. It is a
prestigious university under the “211 Project” and
the "985 Project”. It is also among the first batch
of universities selected for the “Double First-Class”
initiative. This collaboration lays a solid foundation for
the Group's future expansion into the campus retail
market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E-commerce Service Cloud and Others

The Group once provided e-commerce service cloud
solutions and online marketing services. By the end of 2023,
as customers transformed their 020 operations into internal
operations, they carried out daily online store management
on their own to gradually phase out most categories of
e-commerce service cloud products. In April 2024, the
Group completed the Restructuring to divest all of its equity
interests in Dmall Fresh (Beijing), its former consolidated
affiliated entity. For details, please refer to the section
headed “"RECENT DEVELOPMENTS — Product Optimization
and Restructuring” of the prospectus of the Company dated
November 28, 2024 (the “Prospectus”). As a result of the
Restructuring, the Group ceased the operation of the Dmall
APP and mini-program, which mainly led to the termination
of the online advertising services under the previously
operated marketing and advertising service cloud and the
payment processing services under the retail core service
cloud. The financial results of the online marketing services
were classified as discontinued operations in the historical
financial information. After the Restructuring, the Group
focused on providing retail core service cloud solutions.
Other services such as offline marketing no longer generate
significant revenues.

Business Outlook

It is widely recognized that Al agents will emerge in an
explosive manner. In the retail industry, it is expected that
a large number of Al-native system services will emerge,
evolving from large language models to multimodal
services, which will inject strong impetus into the business
development of retailers from multiple dimensions, so as
to help them achieve all-round business improvement.
Looking ahead, the Group will unswervingly focus on the
Al retail field, continuously carry out in-depth and extensive
innovative practices, fully promote the innovative application
of data, Al, robotics and the newly emerging cutting-
edge technologies throughout the entire retail process,
and explore and train industry models with generalization
capabilities to effectively assist retail enterprises in achieving
precise operation, cost control and revenue growth.
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The Group will concentrate on strengthening the leadership
position in the Chinese market and further promoting the
globalization strategy. By joining hands with the industry
leaders such as Pangdonglai, DFI Retail Group and SM
Group, the Group will promote the transformation and
upgrading of the retail industry and spread the concept of
better retail, better life and better society.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue by Operating Segment

During the Reporting Year, we derived our revenue primarily
from the provision of our services of retail core service
cloud. The Group’s revenue increased by 17.3% from
RMB1,585.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to RMB1,859.0 million for the Reporting Year. This increase
in our revenue was mainly driven by increases in revenue
from retail core service cloud solutions as a result of our
continuous business expansion of our operating system and
AloT solutions described below.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue
by operating segment both in absolute amount and as a
percentage of our revenue for the years presented:
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Year ended December 31,

HE12A3MALEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands % thousands %
AR¥T T % ARETT %
Retail core service cloud TEZORBE 1,809,508 97.3 1,298,730 81.9
— Operating system RIERA 786,290 423 680,043 42.9
— AloT solutions —AloTEE R T 5 1,023,218 55.0 618,687 39.0
E-commerce service cloud B FEFREE 4,279 0.2 300,006 18.9
Others H 45,215 2.5 (13,379) (0.8)
Revenue Wz 1,859,002 100.0 1,585,357 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Retail Core Service Cloud

During the Reporting Year, we primarily provided Dmall
OS system and AloT solutions under our retail core service
cloud business segment. For Dmall OS system, we offer the
option to either charge a percentage of the customers’ gross
merchandise volume (the total value of merchandise sold in
a given period, regardless of whether the goods are settled
or returned) (“GMV") processed by our system or provide a
subscription fee tailored to suit customers’ individual needs
or financial situation. In addition, for customers requiring
customization, implementation, software development,
and maintenance services, we offer tailored solutions. For
AloT solutions, other than the Scan-and-Go solutions using
take rate model, we charge either a one-time payment or
a subscription fee. We continuously develop our products,
expand our service offerings to existing customers, and
acquire new customers. The Group’s revenue from retail
core service cloud solutions increased by 39.3% from
RMB1,298.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to RMB1,809.5 million for the Reporting Year, primarily due
o (i) the increase in AloT revenue from intelligent delivery
solutions, intelligent cleaning solutions, intelligent cashier
solutions, intelligent package sorting solutions, intelligent
merchandise replenishment solutions and intelligent
customer services and (i) the increase in operating system
revenue, primarily due to (a) revenue increase from our
distributed e-commerce system services, and (b) expansion
of our overseas operation.
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The following table sets forth our revenues from our retail
core service cloud by pricing model in absolute amount and
as a percentage of our revenues from our retail core service
cloud for the years indicated:

Year ended December 31,

v
<X

HE12A31MALEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands % thousands %
AR¥T % AREBTT %

Operating system BRIERG 786,290 43.4 680,043 52.3
— Take rate — 1 351,164 19.4 431,769 33.2

Related Entities B ERE 225,824 12.5 326,080 25.1

Independent Customers BUERF 125,340 6.9 105,689 8.1
— Subscription” — & 241,805 13.3 89,812 6.9

Related Entities B ERE 186,628 10.3 54,730 4.2

Independent Customers BUER 55,177 3.0 35,082 2.7
— Customization, —E#l - Bxt - Bl

implementation, software P& K HEE L

development and Hp?

maintenance and others® 193,321 10.6 158,462 12.2

Related Entities B ERE 22,890 1.3 23,280 1.8

Independent Customers BUEF 170,431 9.3 135,182 10.4
AloT Solutions AloTHRIR 7 2 1,023,218 56.6 618,687 47.7
— Take rate® — e 46,320 2.6 66,056 5.1

Related Entities Lt 45,286 2.5 60,392 4.7

Independent Customers BUES 1,034 0.1 5,664 0.4
— Subscription —ETE% 964,751 53.3 516,472 39.7

Related Entities B ERE 920,751 50.9 512,098 394

Independent Customers BUEPS 44,000 2.4 4,374 0.3
— Product sales® —EmigEe 12,147 0.7 36,159 2.9

Related Entities Lt 1,938 0.1 8,801 0.7

Independent Customers BUERS 10,209 0.6 27,358 2.2
Total revenue for retail ZEZOLBRBE

core service cloud FEl g 1,809,508 100.0 1,298,730 100.0
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Notes:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The increase in subscription fee in 2024, as compared to
2023, was primarily due to the charging model has shifted
from take rate to subscription of certain customers, and the
text messaging services we provided to meet the business
demands of our customers.

Our customization, implementation, software development
and maintenance and others revenue increased from
RMB158.5 million in 2023 to RMB193.3 million in 2024,
mainly attributable to new customization revenue from
existing customers who demanded additional customized
functionalities on our operating system due to respective
business needs, and expansion in implementation business
we acquired from independent domestic and overseas retail
groups, including SM Group, Lawson, etc.

The decrease in our take rate revenue under AloT solutions
from RMB66.1 million in 2023 to RMB46.3 million in 2024,
was mainly attributable to the fact that we do not charge
payment processing cost due to the divestment of Dmall APP.

The increase in the subscription fees under our AloT solutions
in 2024, as compared to 2023, was mainly attributable
to a greater adoption of such solutions by customers as
we expanded our AloT service during the Reporting Year,
including intelligent delivery solutions, intelligent cleaning
solutions, intelligent cashier solutions, intelligent package
sorting solutions, intelligent merchandise replenishment
solutions and intelligent customer services.

The decrease in our product sales under AloT solutions from
RMB36.2 million in 2023 to RMB12.1 million in 2024 was
mainly due to the majority of our retailer customers’ stores
having completed their digitalized smart tags adoption by
2023.

E-commerce Service Cloud

Durin

g the Reporting Year, we have historically primarily

provided 020 platform service and logistics services under

the e-commerce service cloud business segment. The

Group's revenue from e-commerce service cloud business
segment decreased by 98.6% from RMB300.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB4.3 million
for the Reporting Year, as all of our customers shifted to

operating their e-commerce business in-house by the end of

2023.
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Others

During the Reporting Year, the services we provided under
our other business segment primarily included offline
marketing services and offline marketing products. The
Group’s revenue from other business segment increased
from negative RMB13.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to RMB45.2 million for the Reporting
Year, primarily due to the surplus value of marketing
resources we gathered to Chongging Department Store Co.,
Ltd. (EE B B KIERRMH AR A F]) pursuant to a marketing
resource collaboration agreement and new revenue stream
pertaining to offline marketing products and services.

Revenue by Geographic Location

Apart from the Chinese mainland, the Group has successfully
expanded its businesses into markets outside the Chinese
Mainland, namely Hong Kong, Cambodia, Singapore,
Malaysia, Poland, Macau, Indonesia, the Philippines and
Brunei. The Group is also in the initial stage venturing into
the European market through our collaboration with Metro
Group, a leading wholesaler headquartered in Germany.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue
by geographic region, expressed as an absolute amount and
as a percentage of our revenue, for the years presented:

The Chinese Mainland

In 2023 and 2024, revenue generated from the Chinese
mainland were RMB1,462.1 million and RMB1,701.4 million,
respectively, representing 92.2% and 91.5% of our revenue
in the same year. Our revenue growth in the Chinese
mainland from 2023 to 2024 was mainly attributable to
a greater adoption of such solutions by customers as we
expanded our AloT solutions, including intelligent delivery
solutions, intelligent cleaning solutions, intelligent cashier
solutions, intelligent package sorting solutions, intelligent
merchandise replenishment solutions and intelligent
customer services, as well as business expansion of operating
system we offered to more independent retailer customers.
In addition, with the expansion of new customers and the
overseas expansion of the Dmall OS system, its revenue has
continued to increase.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overseas

In 2023 and 2024, revenue generated from overseas
markets were RMB123.3 million and RMB157.6 million,
respectively, representing 7.8% and 8.5% of our revenue
from continued operations in the same year. Our revenue
growth in overseas markets was primarily due to an increase
in the adoption of our Dmall OS system in Hong Kong,
Singapore, the Philippines, Malaysia, Poland, Indonesia,
Macau and Brunei. As we enter into long-term cooperation

EEER WD

=2

20234 [ 20245 - 2K B8N 5 B I &
DRABARKI2ZZZEELTEARK 1576
BET  ERFRMREBIFELEEB WS
#]7.8% £ 8.5% ° B/ GG &
FERREFIBIDmall OSEFZNES « ¥l
W JEEE - BRED R HERA
T ORPIR R ERAIE N - R PIESE
EWEICETERITLRBEERE

Dmall OS ZSMMELERIEE L LLF - Bl
BEMOBRIERGEERE I TERTS
WM 2 BREIG  ZIEMBEERE LF
BEREHEETEIG -

agreements with leading overseas enterprise retailers,
more modules of the Dmall OS system are gradually being
launched, and the increase in GMV processed through our
operating system from overseas retailer customers which is
attributed to the growing number of stores that have gone
live.

Year ended December 31,

BZ1283181LtEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands % thousands %
ARET T % AREBETT %
The Chinese Mainland R A it 1,701,376 91.5 1,462,096 92.2
Overseas BN 157,626 8.5 123,261 7.8
— Asia (excluding the — M ER
Chinese mainland) A1) 154,845 8.4 122,594 7.7
— Europe —BUM 2,781 0.1 667
Total st 1,859,002 100.0 1,585,357 100.0
Note: BiaE -
* Less than 0.1%. * DIR0.1% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cost of Revenue EERA

During the Reporting Year, the three largest components of RBEFREA - BPIEEREE = RAERED
our cost of revenue were outsourcing and other labor costs, DRIMIREMEB KA - & ERHIF A
employee benefit expenses and text messaging cost. MRS ©

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of TREVNRARFEEMIRMEES NS E
revenue by nature in amounts and as percentages of our AN (ARBE 58 R B PIW =R B 5 5
revenue for the years presented: )

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands % thousands %
AR%T T % ARBTT %

Outsourcing and other labor M K E 45 T

costs DEN 856,477 46.1 465,496 29.4
Employee benefit expenses & E&FIF X 95,978 5.2 132,288 8.3
Text messaging cost ISR EIDIN 41,409 2.2 33,333 2.1
Cloud service, bandwidth — ZEfRIE « &R

and server custody fees fRIGEEFEE R 29,455 1.6 40,355 2.5
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKA 24,389 1.3 31,725 2.0
Payment processing costs A ERIERCAN 12,322 0.7 41,709 2.6
Customer service fees BPRGE 13 * 11,696 0.7
Logistics costs VDN - = 233,454 14.7
Others HAtb 52,583 2.8 40,600 2.7
Total @st 1,112,626 59.9 1,030,656 65.0
Note: Mfat -
* Less than 0.1%. * DFR0.1% ©

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s cost of revenue increased by 8.0% from
RMB1,030.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to RMB1,112.6 million for the Reporting Year. This increase
in our cost of revenue was primarily driven by an increase
in our outsourcing and other labor costs from RMB465.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB856.5
million in the Reporting Year, primarily due to the expansion
of our AloT solutions, including intelligent delivery solutions,
intelligent cleaning solutions, intelligent cashier solutions,
intelligent package sorting solutions, intelligent merchandise
replenishment solutions and intelligent customer services.
This was partially offset by (i) a decrease in logistics costs
from RMB233.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to nil in the Reporting Year, primarily due to the
cessation of the e-commerce service cloud solutions due
to product optimization, and (ii) a decrease in employee
benefit expenses along with our structure optimization
progress which enabled us to strengthen cross-functional
synergy. Moreover, the Group positioned GenAl at the core
of its strategic priorities and utilized Al tools to enhance
employees’ work efficiency and reduce labor costs.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit
increased by 34.6% from RMB554.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB746.4 million for the
Reporting Year, and the gross profit margin increased from
35.0% for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 40.1% for
the Reporting Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmKD

TREINARFERFNERN - A8
BRARED RS B D L REMNRIR

The following table sets forth our gross profit in absolute
amounts and as percentages of relevant segment revenue,
or gross margin, for the years indicated:

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
Gross Gross
Profit/ Gross Profit/ Gross
(Loss) Margin (Loss) Margin
EF, (1) EFE  EF(B) ESVAIES
RMB in RMB in
thousands % thousands %
AR®TT % ARETFT %
Retail core service cloud TEZLRIEE 728,879 40.3 541,721 417
— Operating system —IRIEZA 608,601 77.4 478,330 70.3
— AloT solutions —AloTHEHR 77 5 120,278 11.8 63,391 10.2
E-commerce service cloud  EFREEREE 1,708 39.9 30,858 10.3
Others Hith 15,789 34.9 (17,878) -
Total st 746,376 40.1 554,701 35.0

HE2023F 12831 HILFEMBEFE T
EROREESERAAEDHNEMRH B A

The retail core service cloud solutions segment had a gross
profit margin of 41.7% and 40.3% for the year ended

December 31, 2023 and the Reporting Year, respectively.
Both the operating system and AloT solutions under this
segment saw an increase in gross profit margin in 2024 as
compared to 2023, reflecting the Company’s continuous
improvement in business operations. However, despite the
increase in gross profit margins for both business lines, the
overall gross profit margin under the retail core service cloud
declined. The decrease was primarily driven by the expansion
of our AloT solutions which have relatively lower gross
margins in comparison to other components of our retail
core service cloud solutions. Our AloT solutions initially incur
higher costs due to outsourcing and labor needs, which led
to relatively lower gross margin. As these solutions mature,
the need for outsourcing decreases, leading to a gradual
reduction in costs until they stabilize at a lower level.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N

41.7%H40.3% ° FA20245F - ZEBHE T
BIIR1E R 5T R AloT AR 77 R M) EF R 832023
FHBMEF » REBAQDRFERSERE
o AT - BEEMEEBRBRNENEHE
Frigm  BEEZRLRBENBEERET
& o ZTRFEZHRRBEMERZTEZ LIRS
TR EMEMAKE D EFEREL
AloTHRA T REIERFTEE - B FIMAIOTHR
RARSVIEIINEMG THERMELER K
N BHEFEBERRE - BEEZSBRRT
REMEE - INEFFRRD - BB RE
FREEZRBEEBREAKF



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The e-commerce service cloud solutions segment had a
gross profit margin of 10.3% and 39.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the Reporting Year, respectively,
due to the cessation of e-commerce service cloud solutions
by the end of 2023. We discontinued providing the cost-
intensive logistics services when customers transitioned
their 020 operations in-house, which also contributed to
an increase in the gross margin of our e-commerce service
cloud.

Others had a gross loss of RMB17.9 million and a gross
profit of RMB15.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 and the Reporting Year, respectively.

Other Net (Loss)/Income

The Group's other net (loss)/income primarily consists of, (i)
fair value change in financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL"), (ii) government grants and
tax preference relating to financial assistance from local
authorities in China and additional deductible input value-
added tax, (iii) dividends income, (iv) investment income
from wealth management products, and (v) others. There
were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating
to the government grants income recorded during the
Reporting Year. The Group recorded other net income of
RMB115.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
and other net loss of RMB102.6 million for the Reporting
Year. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in
fair value change in financial assets measured at FVPL from
RMB43.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to negative RMB143.9 million for the Reporting Year,
as a result of the decreased valuation of Guoquan Food
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (MBI R f(L/8)BFR AR E]) (stock code:
2517 HK) (“Guoquan™”).
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Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses primarily
consist of (i) employee benefit expenses for our selling
and marketing personnel, (ii) promotion and marketing
expenses, which primarily represent marketing incentives
and advertising expenses we incur when marketing our
cloud solutions, and (iii) others, which primarily represent
travel and entertainment expenses and depreciation and
amortization. The Group's selling and marketing expenses
decreased by 38.8% from RMB150.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB92.4 million for
the Reporting Year. The decrease was primarily due to a
decrease in expenses of promotion and marketing activities
from RMB48.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 to RMB13.0 million for the Reporting Year,
attributable to a decrease in promotional incentives to
retail consumers as customers transitioned to operate their
e-commerce business in-house, and a decrease in employee
benefit expenses from RMB80.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to RMB55.5 million for the Reporting
Year as a result of our efforts to control costs and optimize
our operational efficiency.

General and Administration Expenses

The Group’s general and administration expenses
primarily consist of (i) employee benefit expenses for our
administrative personnel, (i) professional service fees, which
primarily represent fees paid to third parties for professional
services they provided, (iii) outsourcing and other labor
costs, (iv) depreciation and amortization, (v) expenses
relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets,
incurred primarily for office leases with lease terms no more
than 12 months, property management services fees, and
leases for low-value assets representing leases of printers for
general office use and (vi) others, which primarily represent
travel and entertainment expenses as well as general office
expenses. The Group’s general and administration expenses
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

increased by 18.7% from RMB259.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB308.0 million for the
Reporting Year. The increase was primarily due to increases
in outsourcing and other labor costs driven by the addition
of outsourced personnel for management of intelligent
package sorting solutions, intelligent cashier solutions and
intelligent cleaning solutions, and an increase in professional
service fees pertaining to our initial public offering.

Research and Development Expenses

The Group's research and development expenses primarily
consist of (i) employee benefit expenses for our research
and development personnel, (ii) cloud service, bandwidth
and server custody fees, which are internally allocated
cost, incurred when we purchase cloud and bandwidth
services and rent service from third party service suppliers
for the purpose of ramping up and maintaining sufficient
technological capacity for our research and development
efforts, (iii) depreciation and amortization, (iv) expenses
relating to short-term leases and leases of low-value assets,
incurred primarily for office leases with lease terms no more
than 12 months, property management services fees, and
leases for low-value assets representing leases of printers
for general office use by our research and development
function, among which leases for low-value assets account
for less than 4% of the total short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets, (v) outsourcing and other labor costs,
and (vi) other expenses, which include travel expenses for
research and development activities. The Group’s research
and development expenses decreased by 20.8% from
RMB520.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB412.8 million for the Reporting Year. The decrease was
primarily due to (i) a decrease in employee benefit expenses
from RMB473.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 to RMB375.8 million for the Reporting Year driven by
our cost control measures, the use of Al tools to enhance
employees’ work efficiency and reduce labor costs, and the
accumulation of technological capabilities, which enabled
us to replicate and upgrade our product offerings without
significant further investments and (ii) a decrease in cloud
service costs as a result of cooperating with more cost-
competitive cloud server product vendors.
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Net Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs and income primarily consist
of (i) interest on bank loans and other borrowings, (ii)
accrued financial charges of convertible bond, (iii) changes
in fair value on the derivative components of convertible
bond, (iv) interest on lease liabilities, (v) interest income
from bank deposits, (vi) net foreign currency exchange
gain and (vii) gains on derecognition of convertible bond.
The Group's net finance costs decreased by 66.5% from
RMB13.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
to RMB4.5 million for the Reporting Year, primarily due to
(i) the decrease in changes in fair value on the derivative
components of convertible bond of RMB4.0 million, and (i)
a gain recognized on derecognition of convertible bond of
RMB12.7 million, partially offset by (i) the increase in interest
on bank loans and other borrowings of RMB5.1 million,
and (i) the decrease in foreign currency exchange gains of
RMB2.7 million.

Fair Value Change of Convertible
Redeemable Preferred Shares

The Group's fair value changes of convertible redeemable
preferred shares represent changes in fair value of the
preferred shares issued by us. The Group designated
the preferred shares as financial liabilities at FVPL.
They are initially recognized at fair value. Any directly
attributable transaction costs are recognized as general and
administration expense. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the preferred shares are carried at fair value with changes in
fair value recognized through profit or loss. The Group's fair
value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares
was negative RMB2,275.7 million in the Reporting Year, as
compared to negative RMB476.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, as a result of changes in the valuation
of the Company. Upon the completion of the initial public
offering, all of such redeemable convertible preferred
shares have been automatically converted to our ordinary
shares, and we will no longer recognize change in fair value
liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss for the Year from Continuing
Operations

As a result of foregoing, the Group recorded loss for the
year from continuing operations in the Reporting Year of
RMB2,453.4 million, as compared to loss for the year from
continuing operations of RMB749.0 million in the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Profit for the Year from Discontinued
Operations

In April 2024, we conducted a series of restructuring
transactions to divest all of our equity interests in Dmall
Fresh (Beijing), our former consolidated affiliated entity,
to minimize the underlying legal and regulatory risks. The
Restructuring led to the divestment of online advertising
services and the cessation of the operation of the Dmall APP
and mini programs. At the time of the Restructuring, Dmall
APP was primarily associated with the provision of online
advertising services under the marketing and advertising
service cloud we previously operated and payment
processing services under the retail core service cloud.
For details, please refer to the section headed “RECENT
DEVELOPMENTS - Product Optimization and Restructuring”
of the Prospectus. Revenue from such payment processing
services was RMB36.1 million and RMB14.7 million in the
year ended December 31, 2023 and the Reporting Year,
respectively. Gross profit from such payment processing
services was negative RMB4.7 million and RMB2.9 million in
the year ended December 31, 2023 and the Reporting Year,
respectively. The financial results of our online advertising
services were classified as discontinued operations in
the historical financial information. Please also refer to
the following table which sets forth the results of the
discontinued operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWmKD

Year ended December 31,

BZ12831BLLEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB in RMB in

thousands thousands

AR¥T AREFIT

Revenue Yz 41,781 164,334

Cost of revenue BERR (2,510) (6,552)

Gross profit EF 39,271 157,782

Profit for the year from discontinued RECKRIEREELN

operations FRFE 233,134 93,548

Income Tax Benefit i as

The Group’s income tax benefit is comprised primarily of
deferred tax benefit and current tax expense attributable to
withholding income tax pertaining to our income generated
from overseas. We recorded tax benefits of RMB3.3 million
and RMB1.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2023
and the Reporting Year, respectively. In the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the Reporting Year, our tax benefits
were primarily due to reversal of deferred tax liabilities
through amortization of acquired customer relationship and
technological know-how from Shenzhen Enjoy Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (&I S HEE B MG AR A F).

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s loss for the year
increased by 238.7% from RMB655.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB2,220.3 million for the
Reporting Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement our consolidated financial statements,
which are presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards, we also use adjusted loss from continuing
operations (non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net margin
from continuing operations (non-IFRS measure) as additional
financial measures, which are not required by, or presented
in accordance with, the IFRS Accounting Standards.

The Group believes adjusted loss from continuing operations
(non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net margin from continuing
operations (non-IFRS measure) provide useful information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating
our consolidated results of operations in the same manner
as they help our management. However, our presentation
of adjusted loss from continuing operations (non-IFRS
measure) may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
presented by other companies. The use of adjusted loss from
continuing operations (non-IFRS measure) has limitations as
an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation
from, or as a substitute for an analysis of, our results of
operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS
Accounting Standards.

The Group defines adjusted loss from continuing operations
(non-IFRS measure) as loss for the year from continuing
operations adjusted by adding back equity-settled share-
based payment expenses, fair value change of convertible
redeemable preferred shares, fair value change of an equity
investment and listing expenses. The Group excludes equity-
settled share-based payment expenses because they are
non-cash in nature, and do not result in cash outflow. Fair
value change of convertible redeemable preferred shares
represents fair value changes of the convertible redeemable
preferred shares issued by the Group and relate to the
changes in the valuation of the Group. Fair value change of
an equity investment represents fair value changes of our
investment in Guoquan. The Group has gradually reduced
its investment in Guoquan since January 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W& D

The following table reconciles adjusted loss from continuing
operations (non-IFRS measure) for the years presented in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, which is loss

for the years from continuing operations:

TREJIREERMHREER S L2
S ERR B ELE X RHEERE
BRI EEAGFE) (BIREFELEE X
BHEF MER ) ROk -

Year ended December 31,

BE12A31BLLEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands
AR¥T T ARBFT
Loss from continuing operations RESECSEERN
for the year FRER (2,453,410) (748,987)
Add: ho -
Equity-settled share-based PARE RS S E A DARR (9
payment expenses BERMSHAZ 19,257 13,620
Fair value change of convertible A SRR B REME S IR
redeemable preferred shares RAEEBEES) 2,275,701 476,160
Fair value change of an equity investment ~ JRAERE A (EBEE 143,915 (43,356)
Listing expenses X 44,332 25,859
Adjusted profit/(loss) from FRREFELEEEN
continuing operations ERETE,(&8)
(non-IFRS measure) for the year (FEIR B ISR EEAGTE) 29,795 (276,704)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties FTERBRTEERE

Details of the main risks and uncertainties of the Group as
of the end of the Reporting Year are set out in the “Report
of the Board of Directors” in this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Risk

The functional currency of the Company is United States
Dollars (“USD” or “US$"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB as the majority of the
Group’s operations are conducted by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC and the functional
currency of which is RMB. Fluctuations in exchange rates
between other currencies in which the Group conducts
its business may affect the Group’s financial position and
operation results and the Group’s foreign currency risk is
mainly due to exchange rate fluctuations between USD
and RMB. As at the date of this report, the Group has not
entered into any hedging transactions in an effort to reduce
our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. However,
the Group’s management will manage foreign currency
exchange risk through regular reviews and consider to enter
into hedging transactions in the future.

Capital Structure

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products
and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
Shareholders’ returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position and makes adjustments
to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions. There was no significant change in the capital
management objectives, policies or procedures in 2024 and
2023.
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The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
adjusted liability-to-asset ratio. For this purpose, adjusted
liabilities are defined as total liabilities less convertible
redeemable preferred shares and convertible bond. The
adjusted liability-to-asset ratio of the Group as of December
31, 2024 was approximately 61.4% (as of December 31,
2023: approximately 70.3%).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintains an excellent financial position and
sufficient liquidity for the Reporting Year. The Group’s
current assets amounted to RMB1,283.5 million as of
December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: RMB844.2
million), representing an increase of approximately 52.0%
as compared to the previous year, primarily due to (i) an
increase of RMB267.8 million in cash and cash equivalents,
(i) an increase of RMB83.1 million in trade receivables, (iii)
an increase of RMB52.2 million in other financial assets,
and (iv) an increase of RMB35.7 million in restricted bank
deposits. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had cash
and cash equivalents of RMB801.0 million (as of December
31, 2023: RMB533.2 million), representing an increase
of approximately 50.2% as compared to previous year,
primarily due to proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares
relating to the Group's initial public offering and proceeds
from bank loans, partially offset by repayment of bank loans,
repayment of convertible bond and cash paid for acquisition
of non-controlling interests. Cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in USD, HK$, Singapore Dollars, RMB,
Hungarian Forints and Philippine Pesos. The Group had a
gearing ratio of 61.4% as of December 31, 2024 (as of
December 31, 2023: 70.3%). The gearing ratio is equal
to total liabilities minus convertible redeemable preferred
shares and convertible bond, divided by total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Convertible Bonds

On May 27, 2022, Dmall Life (China) Network Technology
Co., Ltd.* (ZEAEE(TE)BBEEHR AR A F) (“Dmall Life
Network"”) and Beijing Heyin Investment Fund (”Beijing
Heyin”, or the “"Convertible Bond Investor”) entered into
a convertible bond investment agreement and on the same
day, the Company, Beijing Heyin and Dmall Life Network
entered into a convertible bond investment tripartite
agreement (together, the “Convertible Bond Investment
Agreements”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to
issue, and Beijing Heyin agreed to subscribe for a convertible
bond in the principal amount of RMB190 million (the
“Convertible Bond").

The Company issued such Convertible Bond to Beijing Heyin
on June 15, 2022. On March 22, 2024, the Company,
Beijing Heyin and Dmall Life Network entered into a
tripartite amendment to the Convertible Bond Investment
Agreements, pursuant to which the Company repaid
RMB50.0 million of the principal amount, as well as interests
accrued since June 15, 2023 to Beijing Heyin by June 15,
2024. Following the early repayment of this partial principal
amount, the principal amount of the Convertible Bond
subscribed for by Beijing Heyin is amended and reduced to
RMB140.0 million.

The interest rate is 5.8% per annum payable on June 14
of each year, commencing on June 14, 2023. The cash
interest shall accrue on a daily basis on the principal amount
outstanding starting from the issuance date based on the
actual number of days elapsed over a base of 360 days. The
maturity date is June 14, 2027 and the initial conversion
price upon issuance of the Convertible Bond shall be
US$3.93 per share, subject to anti-dilution adjustments.
For details, please refer to the section headed “History,
Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Issuance of
Convertible Bond” of the Prospectus.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
December 31, 2024, on December 31, 2024, the Group
has repaid RMB140 million of the principal amount of
the Convertible Bond and the relevant interests accrued,
following which the Convertible Bond has been repaid
in full and no balance of the Convertible Bond remains
outstanding.

As such, no shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
remained issuable to the Convertible Bond Investor under
the Convertible Bond as at December 31, 2024.

Capital Expenditures

The Group's capital expenditures during the Reporting
Year are primarily incurred for purchase of property and
equipment and intangible assets. For the Reporting Year,
the Group’s capital expenditures amounted to RMB8.8
million (for the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB6.5
million), including the payment for the purchase of property
and equipment which amounted to RMB8.3 million (for
the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB3.6 million) and
the payment for the purchase of intangible assets which
amounted to RMBO.5 million (for the year ended December
31, 2023: RMB3.0 million).

The Group intends to fund future capital expenditures
with the existing cash balance, cash generated from the
operating activities and proceeds from the global offering.
The Group may reallocate the fund to be utilized on capital
expenditure and long-term investments based on the
ongoing business needs.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Group’s total outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings increased from RMB314.2 million as at
December 31, 2023 to RMB529.6 million as at December
31, 2024, primarily due to reserving sufficient cash flow to
meet operating and capital expenditure requirements at the
prevailing cost-competitive market interest rates. The bank
loans and other borrowings were mainly denominated in
USD and RMB.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had interest-bearing
borrowings of RMB529.6 million, with effective interest
rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.45% per annum, RMB445.3
million of bank loans and other borrowings are repayable
within one year or on demand; RMB63.4 million of bank
loans and other borrowings are repayable after 1 year but
within 2 years; RMB21.0 million of bank loans and other
borrowings are repayable after 2 year but within 5 years;
and no bank loans and other borrowings are repayable
after 5 years. The Group’s bank borrowing agreements
contain standard terms, conditions and covenants that are
customary for commercial bank loans.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities or guarantees.

The Group did not have any material mortgages, charges,
debentures, loan capital, debt securities, loans, bank
overdrafts or other similar indebtedness, finance lease or
hire purchase commitments, liabilities under acceptances
(other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits, which are
either guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured or unsecured, or
guarantees as of December 31, 2024.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, the Group pledged term deposits
of RMB56.6 million for the issuance of letters of guarantee.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of
the Group’s assets were pledged.

Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any
material capital commitments.

Significant Investments

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investments.
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Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

The Group had no other plans for material investments or
capital assets as at December 31, 2024.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

Property and Equipment

The Group's property and equipment during the Reporting
Year primarily consist of (i) buildings, (ii) electronic
equipment, (iii) right-of-use assets associated with properties
leased for own use, (iv) office equipment and furniture
and (v) leasehold improvement. The Group’s property and
equipment decreased from RMB76.8 million as of December
31, 2023 to RMB69.8 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily due to (i) the overall depreciation provided for
property and equipment, and (i) a decrease in the right-
of-use assets resulting from the early termination of the
contracts for advertising resource slots and the office
building. The decrease was partially offset by (i) the transfer
of buildings held by Shandong Orange Bay Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (ILEEE{EFZEFRFAR R 7))
(“Shandong Orange Bay”) from prepayments, deposits
and other receivables to property and equipment for the
Reporting Year, and (ii) the addition of new right-of-use
assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Inventories and Other Contract Costs

The Group’s inventories and other contract costs during
the Reporting Year primarily consist of finished goods, raw
materials, goods in transit and other contract costs. Other
contract costs relate to costs and expenses incurred to fulfill
a contract if the costs and expenses relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract and are expected to be recovered. Other contract
costs are recognized as cost of revenue or research and
development expenses in the period in which revenue from
the related sales is recognized. The Group's inventories and
other contract costs decreased from RMB11.3 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB4.7 million as of December 31,
2024, primarily due to the labor costs associated with our
research and development efforts for Dmall OS system in
connection with our overseas business recognized in profit
or loss.

Trade Receivables

The Group's trade receivables during the Reporting Year
primarily represent outstanding service fees associated
with our operating system business, product and service
fees associated with our AloT solutions, and marketing
and advertising fees due from our customers. The Group
recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on
trade receivables measured at amortized cost. The Group's
trade receivables increased from RMB165.1 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB248.2 million as of December
31, 2024, primarily due to (i) additional revenue generated
from system development for Dmall Fresh (Beijing) in
demand of customized digitalized solutions, and (ii)
additional revenue generated from intelligent delivery
services and intelligent cleaning services due to business
expansion.
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Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

The Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables
during the Reporting Year primarily consist of receivable
from a supplier, receivable for transferring software
copyright, deductible input value-added tax, receivable from
third party payment platform, receivables from retailers and
advertisers, lease and security deposits, and others. The
Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
partially offset by a loss allowance. The Group’s prepayments,
deposits and other receivables decreased from RMB95.6
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB88.3 million as
of December 31, 2024, primarily due to (i) derecognition
of receivables from third-party payment platform due
to disposal of Dmall Fresh (Beijing), (ii) buildings held by
Shandong Orange Bay were transferred from prepayments,
deposits and other receivables to property and equipment in
the current year, (iii) decrease in deductible input tax due to
the utilization of the preferential policy on input tax credit
in the current year, partially offset by increase in receivables
from Dmall Fresh (Beijing) for the purchase of software
copyrights from us.

Trade Payables

The Group's trade payables during the Reporting Year
primarily consist of AloT product and service fees, third-party
customer service fees, logistics cost and other procurement
cost. The Group’s trade payables increased from RMB86.6
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB98.5 million as
of December 31, 2024, primarily due to the increase in
AloT product and additional outsourcing for the intelligent
cleaning solutions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 1,453
employees, most of them are located in Chinese Mainland. The
following table sets forth the number of the Group’s employees
categorized by function as of December 31, 2024:

EEER WD

=]
HZE2024%F128318 - AXEEHKAF1,453%EE -
Hoh KREA N EAREMER o TREIANEEE
F2024F 12 A31 HizBac Bl D EB AR

Number of
Employees Percentage
EEA" BaLE
Function Hiae
Sales and marketing SHE & & 8 81 5.5%
Research and development e 800 55.1%
Operation B 362 24.9%
General and administrative —RRRATIR 210 14.5%
Total st 1,453 100%

The Group's staff costs decreased from RMB871.6 million in
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB729.6 million in the
Reporting year. The remuneration packages of our employees
mainly include salaries, allowances, retirement scheme
contributions and share-based payment expense, the amount
of which is generally determined by their qualifications, industry
experience, position and performance. The Group believes it
offers its employees competitive remuneration packages and an
environment that encourages self-development and creativity. The
Group provides training programs for its employees in order to
enhance their professional and technical skills and understanding
of the industry. The Group designs and offers different training
programs for employees at different positions and departments
based on their differing needs. As a result, the Group has
generally been able to attract and retain qualified personnel. The
employees are not currently represented by any labor union. The
Group believes that it maintains a good working relationship
with its employees, and the Group has not experienced any work
stoppages due to labor disputes in the past.

REEMNBETITRNABREE2023F12A31HILEFE
MARKESTEBTRLEREFEMNARE
7296BEBTLc BZMEEMNFTNEBEIEZRIES
© - REE - IRNETEIH R R AR B ERE A 3R
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B REEEREERBEFEAENIRE - A%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W& D

As required by regulations in China, the Group participates in
various employee social insurance plans that are organized by
applicable municipal and provincial governments for its PRC-
based employees, including pension, unemployment insurance,
childbirth insurance, work-related injury insurance, medical
insurance and housing insurance. The Group is required under
PRC law to make contributions from time to time to employee
benefit plans for its PRC-based employees at specified percentages
of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of such employees,
up to a maximum amount specified by the local governments in
China. Bonuses are generally discretionary and based in part on
employee performance and in part on the overall performance
of our business. The Group has granted, and plans to continue
to grant, share-based incentive awards to its employees in the
future to incentivize their contributions to the Group’s growth
and development. Moreover, the Group also provides insurance
coverage for its international employees in compliance with local
statutory requirements in overseas jurisdictions.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

During the Reporting Year, the Group has received recognition for
the quality and popularity of our products and services. Some of
the significant awards and recognition are set forth below:

2024 Top 100 Enterprises in Software
and Information Technology Service
Competitiveness

The Group claimed the title of Software and Information
Technology Service Competitiveness Index Report/Top 100
Enterprises in October 2024, awarded by the China Federation
of Electronics and Information Industry. The “China Top 100
Software Enterprises” selection, supervised by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology (MIIT) and sponsored by
the CFEIl, stands as one of the industry’s most authoritative and
influential rankings. Excelling in corporate scale, technological
innovation, and market influence, Dmall was included in both the
“Famous Brand Enterprises” and “Top 100 Competitiveness Index
Enterprises” lists.

FAPRA 2024 Most Innovative Retail
Concept Award

The Group was awarded the FAPRA 2024 Most Innovative Retail
Concept Award in September 2024, presented by the Asia-
Pacific Retail Association. The award was determined through
a comprehensive scoring system where convention organizers
and retail industry experts conducted separate evaluations of the
foresight, distinctiveness, applicability, and sustainability of the
corporate business model and technological capabilities. Dmall
secured the National Award — Best Innovation Award by virtue of
its remarkable innovative performance. This honor came as a high
recognition of Dmall’s retail innovation capabilities, but also stands
as a significant representation of the Chinese retail industry’s
continuous exploration and innovation.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS
RENRBA

2024 World Unicorn

The Group was recognized as a 2024 World Unicorn in July 2024,
an accolade conferred by Greatwall Strategy Consultants. In 2023,
the global unicorn landscape comprised 1,201 enterprises, with
over 70% concentrated in the United States (530) and China
(375). Dmall was listed by virtue of its outstanding performance in
international markets over recent years, entering the list as China’s
top-ranked enterprise in the enterprise digital operation market
and ranking 229th in the overall list.

2023 Top 100 New Entity Enterprises

In May 2024, the Group was included in the 2023 Top 100
New Entity Enterprises, an award presented by the China
Enterprise Evaluation Association. The list pools the outstanding
representatives in China’s digital-real economy integration sector
and showcases the latest development dynamics and trend in the
sector. Dmall, joined by Huawei, JD.com, Xiaomi, and CATL, was
included in the list.

China Top 50 Overseas Enterprise Service
Institutions

The Group was listed among the China Top 50 Overseas Enterprise
Service Institutions in May 2024, an honor conferred by the China
Overseas Development Association. The 14th China Overseas
Investment Fair premiered the China Top 50 Overseas Enterprise
Service Institutions list, aiming to recognize the institutions making
exceptional contributions to the field of overseas investment
services. Thanks to its outstanding performance in global retail
digitalization, Dmall secured its position in this selection.

2023 Forbes China Top 50 New Retail
Leading Enterprises

The Group was recognized in February 2024 as one of the 2023
Forbes China Top 50 New Retail Leading Enterprises issued by
Forbes. This selection methodology, based on the core dimensions
of operational growth capacity, market competitiveness, brand
influence, digital innovation capabilities, and capital market
appeal, aims to identify high-potential enterprises that drive
sustainable industry development under the “New Retail” model
while creating more value for consumers.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSRBEEBNRERRS

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of
the Company as at the date of this report are set out as follows:

DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Feng (5RI£) (“Mr. Zhang"), aged 42, is the co-
founder, and has served as the Director and president since
August 2018 and December 2018, respectively. Mr. Zhang is
responsible for the overall strategic planning, business operation
and overall management of the Group.

Mr. Zhang co-founded the Company in 2015. Since co-founding
the Company, Mr. Zhang has been committed to helping retailers
to thrive in the digital era by leading the implementation of the
integrated digital retail concept that combines online and offline
channels for solving long-standing inefficiencies in the industry.
This approach has been instrumental in helping retailers increase
operational efficiency in the digital marketplace. Mr. Zhang has
also served as executive director and general manager of several
of our major subsidiaries, including Dmall Life (China) Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* (ZEEIE(FBR)BEEEHE B R A F]) since
October 2017 and Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital Technology Co., Ltd*
(FERINBFRRBRAR).

Mr. Zhang graduated from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology (ZEAREHEAEE) in China majored in computer science
and technology in June 2004. He received his executive master
of business administration from Marshall Business School of
University of Southern California in the United States of America
(the “United States”) in August 2014.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson (“Mr. Ferguson”), aged 67, has
served as the Chairman and Director since November 28, 2022.
Mr. Ferguson provides professional advice, opinion, and guidance
to the Board.

*  For identification purpose only

RERERE  AAREER
BT -

=
HITES
Bk - 4250 ABOEIBA - H2018F8A K

2018F 12 AN RIETE LAY, - RALEAE
REBREHERE  ERELRERENE -

=R EE BN EEE

RAEER2015F LB B ARAR] - BHRAIZA
DNEAR - REE—EBR IR BT EEmEERTE
REDEE  RAEEEREEREMETREDN
—BIHFTEEES  BAMTERPREET M
B BRI T ERES R TN ENEE
Rk o SR AETMETERMZHE EM B A FRIEATT
BENAKE  EE2017F10BETSZEE
E(PED BB AR A RN TES RELE -
N REFZECFRINE TR BRATNRITES

SRICER2004F6 A RENFEZERRHE RS
1ERTEMBI BT - ER2014F8 AES %ﬂﬂ
AZRE(ZE ) EINAEETBERER AT
BTImEREL -

FHTES

Curtis Alan FergusonEER) 4 ([BXE])
675% ° B2022F 11 A28 I TFERESE - 5
EERNESTRESERZS BRNEE -

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




b

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGREERNEERE

Mr. Ferguson is a thought-leader in the consumer space. Mr.
Ferguson has served as a managing partner of Ventech China
Ltd., a venture capital firm based in China, since February 2021.
At Ventech China, Mr. Ferguson is responsible for investments in
the consumer market, financial technology and big data sectors,
with a focus on China’s rapidly growing consumer market. Mr.
Ferguson has also served as a director of Graduate Management
Admission Council, which is a global, mission-driven association
of leading graduate business schools, since 2023. Prior to that,
Mr. Ferguson served multiple roles at The Coca-Cola Company
(@ company listed on The New York Stock Exchange, NYSE: KO)
for more than 38 years, including as the president of The Coca-
Cola Greater China and Korea and as the president of The Coca-
Cola Middle East and North Africa. Mr. Ferguson has served as
a director of The American Chamber of Commerce in Shanghai
since 2020, and he served as its vice chairman in 2020 and 2022.
Mr. Ferguson has served as a director of the board of the Indiana
University Foundation since 2016.

Mr. Ferguson received his bachelor’s degree in science from the
Indiana University Kelley School in the United States in 1980.

Mr. Chen Zhiyu (BREF) (“Mr. Chen"), aged 41, has served as
the Director since November 2020. Mr. Chen provides professional
advice, opinion, and guidance to the Board.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in the retail and merchandise
industry and has over 17 years of management experience both in
China and overseas. He has served as a board consultant of Metro
Commerce Group Co., Ltd. since June 2024 and the deputy chief
executive officer of Metro Commerce Group Co., Ltd., a leading
wholesaler and retailer in China, from March 2021 to June 2024,
where he has been responsible for overseeing the company’s
business operations, including the management of the product
management team, supply chain team, information technology
department and marketing and membership department. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chen served as a senior vice president of
Wal-Mart (China) Investment Co., Ltd. from June 2017 to August
2020. Prior to that, Mr. Chen served as the chief commercial and
product officer of AliExpress, an Alibaba Group company, from
November 2015 to June 2017. Prior to that, Mr. Chen served as
a senior product specialist for financial products of Alipay, from
May 2014 to November 2015. Prior to that, Mr. Chen worked
at Barclays Bank, a British multinational universal bank, from
September 2008 to April 2014 with last position as vice president.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree in engineering from
Zhejiang University (/L AZ2) in China in June 2006. He received
his master’s degree in biomedical engineering from the University
of Oxford in the United Kingdom in November 2007.

Mr. Wang Zhenghao (EIE) ("Mr. Wang"), aged 41, has
served as the Director since November 2020. Mr. Wang provides
professional advice, opinion, and guidance to the Board.

Mr. Wang has served as general manager at Xingtou (Beijing)
Capital Management Co., Ltd. (B&ILR)EABIEHR AR,
a professional investment company, since August 2018. Prior to
that, Mr. Wang worked in Industrial Bank ($2%£3877) from 2013
to 2018 and in China Metallurgical Group Corporation (FEl)A &
BT 5@ 7)) from 2010 to 2012.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor’s degree in management from
Beijing Normal University (3b B #EA22) in China in July 2006. He
received his master’s degree in economics from Peking University
(At AE) in China in June 2010.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Hou Yang (&R%) (“Dr. Hou"), aged 42, has served as
an independent non-executive Director since the listing of the
Company on the Stock Exchange on December 6, 2024. Dr. Hou
supervises and provides independent judgment to the Board.

Dr. Hou has served as the chairman and chief executive officer of
Greater China region of Microsoft Corporation (a company listed
on The Nasdaq Stock Market, NASDAQ: MSFT), an American
multinational technology corporation, since March 2021,
responsible for strategic leadership of sales, marketing, services
and operations across the three subsidiaries that make up one of
Microsoft’s most dynamic and innovative growth regions. He has
also served as director of Shenzhou Netcom Technology Co., Ltd.,
a China-based software development company, since May 2021.
Dr. Hou worked at Qualcomm (a company listed on The Nasdaq
Stock Market, NASDAQ: QCOM), an American multinational
semiconductor and telecommunications corporation, for more
than 8 years with the last position of global senior vice president.
Prior to that, Dr. Hou worked at McKinsey, a global management
consulting firm, for about 5 years.
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Dr. Hou obtained his bachelor’s degree in physics from Peking
University (3t 5 K£2) in China in June 2004 and received his Ph.D.
in electrical engineering from the University of Michigan in the
United States in April 2008.

Ms. Cai Lin (£3) (“Ms. Cai”), aged 53, has served as an
independent non-executive Director since the listing of the
Company on the Stock Exchange on December 6, 2024. Ms. Cai
supervises and provides independent judgment to the Board.

Ms. Cai has served as an independent director at Huatai Insurance
Group since June 2022 and her current positions include the
chairperson of the audit committee, risk management committee
and related party transaction control committee of the board of
directors. Prior to that, she served as a partner at China Consumer
Capital Partners from July 2014 to June 2018. She served in
multiple capacities at Ernst & Young's Strategy and Transactions
department in Hong Kong, Beijing and Shanghai from August
2003 to May 2014 with her last position as a partner. Prior to that,
Ms. Cai worked in Ernst & Young Huaming CPA LLP’s Shanghai
office from July 1994 through August 2001 with her last position
as a manager of the Assurance department, during which she
was seconded to Ernst & Young's Chicago office from September
1998 through March 2000.

Ms. Cai obtained her bachelor's degree in economics from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics ()& B 48 K E2)
in China in July 1994 and received her MBA degree from Ivey
Business School at Western University (formerly known as Richard
Ivey School at the University of Western Ontario) in Canada in
April 2003.
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Dr. Mao Jiye (EEZ) (former name as Mao Jiye (E#E))
(“Dr. Mao"), aged 61, has served as an independent non-
executive Director since the listing of the Company on the Stock
Exchange on December 6, 2024. Dr. Mao supervises and provides
independent judgment to the Board.

Dr. Mao is the Dean of the School of Entrepreneurship
and Management at ShanghaiTech University (/&R K
&), Previously, he was a professor in the business school at
Renmin University of China (FEBI AR KXE) in China from
June 2004 to October 2023. His research primarily focuses on
digital transformation of traditional firms, digital innovation
and entrepreneurship, management of IT outsourcing and
management of information technology projects. He was the
Dean of the business school at Renmin University of China (1B
ANEKE) from October 2015 to September 2021, and previously
taught at University of Waterloo in Canada from January 1995 to
August 2022. He also served as the chairman of China Association
for Information Systems (B RF e H 5 ) from October
2013 to October 2021. Dr. Mao has served as a director of Hubei
Forbon Technology Co., Ltd.* (BILEHERHBRAE) (a
company listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange, SZSE: 300387),
a China-based high-tech chemical enterprise, since November
2019. Dr. Mao has also served as an independent director of
Dalian Wanda Commercial Management Group Co., Ltd. (KiE&
EREETEEBRMARAT), a China-based commercial real
estate company that was previously listed on the Stock Exchange,
since July 2022 and an independent director of Hengmingda
Electronic Technology Co., Ltd.* (H$REE FRIERHERA
Al) (@ company listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange, SZSE:
002947), a China-based electronic technology company, since
August 2022.

Dr. Mao received his bachelor’s degree in economic information
management from Renmin University of China (FEI A RKE2)
in China in July 1985. He received his MBA degree from McGill
University in Canada in June 1989, and Ph.D. in management
information systems from University of British Columbia in Canada
in November 1995.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Li Wei (Z#) (“Mr. Li"), aged 47, has served as an
independent non-executive Director since the listing of the
Company on the Stock Exchange on December 6, 2024. Mr. Li
supervises and provides independent judgment to the Board.

Mr. Li has more than 24 years of experience in finance, operations
and management. He has served as the chief financial officer of
Smartmore Technology (BEREHY), an intelligent manufacturing
and digital innovation company, since August 2024. He has also
served as independent non-executive director of ANE (Cayman)
Inc. (ZEEMRE@AMR A F)) (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, HKEX: 9956), a leading express freight
network in China’s less-than truckload market, since October
2021. From September 2020 to August 2024, Mr. Li served as
the chief financial officer of Spark Education Ltd. (XTEE#E), a
China-based online education platform. From September 2018
to June 2020, Mr. Li served as the chief financial officer of OYO
Hotels (OYOJEJE). From April 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Li served
as the chief operating officer and chief financial officer of CAR
Inc. (#MNFEEHFR A7) (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, HKEX: 0699), a car rental service provider in
China, and served as the executive vice president and the chief
financial officer in the same company from May 2014 to April
2016. From July 2010 to April 2014, Mr. Li served as the chief
financial officer of Uni Trust Finance & Leasing Corporation (|8
=& R E AR A a]). From January 2007 to July 2010, Mr. Li
served as the chief financial officer for Global Supply Chain Asia
Group in GE Healthcare of General Electric Company (a company
listed on The New York Stock Exchange, NYSE: GE), an American
multinational company. From January 2004 to January 2007, Mr.
Li served as part of the General Electric corporate audit staff based
in the United States and Asia. From August 2002 to January 2004,
Mr. Li served as the head of risk and credit management at GE
Healthcare China. From July 2000 to July 2002, Mr. Li worked as
a management trainee of the Financial Management Program at
General Electric Company.

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in finance from Fudan
University (fE B X&) in China in July 2000.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Kai (#%8l) ("Mr. Yang”), aged 41, has joined
the Group since June 2015. Mr. Yang has served as the chief
technology officer since February 2017 and the chief executive
officer of international business since March 2022. Mr. Yang is
responsible for overall strategy, the development of Dmall OS
system and international market and management of research
and development of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yang served as a director of the
Chengdu Research Institute at JD.com, Inc. (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, HKEX: 9618; and a
company listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, NASDAQ: JD), an
online direct sales company in China, from March 2010 to June
2015.

Mr. Yang graduated from North China University of Science and
Technology (=432 T K& major in in computer science and
technology in China in June 2006.

Mr. Ren Zhongwei ({fE#1&) (“Mr. Ren”), aged 46, has joined
the Group since November 2018 and has served as the chief
strategy officer since November 2018. Mr. Ren is responsible for
overall strategy, the development and marketing of Dmall OS
system of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ren served multiple roles at
Lenovo Group Limited (B8 £EE B R /AF]) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, HKEX: 0992), a Chinese
multinational technology company, including as a general
manager of China Smart TV department from April 2012 to
January 2015, a general manager of China accessories election
department from April 2011 to March 2012, a general manager
of Russia from April 2010 to March 2011, a general manager of
Northern China from April 2009 to March 2010 and a general
Manager of Northwest China from April 2007 to March 2009.

Mr. Ren obtained his bachelor’s degree in applied mathematics
from Sichuan University (F9)II’K2) in China in July 2001. He
graduated from EMBA program from China Europe International
Business School (A EXEIER T E2F) in China in September 2012.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGREERNEERE

Mr. Liu Guihai (2/#8) (“Mr. Liu”), aged 43, has joined
the Group since December 2015 and has served as the chief
marketing officer since February 2017. Mr. Liu is responsible for
overall strategy, brand building and marketing activities of the
Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as a vice president and
executive director of Three’s Company Media Group Co., Ltd.* (=
ATT{EIEEE) (SSE: 605168), a Chinese media company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from July 2014 to December 2015.
Prior to that, Mr. Liu first served as an account manager and then
a senior account manager and subsequently as an account director
in Phoenix New Media Limited (BlE¥TEEE) (a company listed on
The New York Stock Exchange, NYSE: FENG), a media company in
China, from December 2007 to July 2014.

Mr. Liu obtained his bachelor’s degree in public service
management from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunication (3L S #E KX EZ2) in China in June 2006.

Mr. Marcus Spurrell (“Mr. Spurrell”), aged 62, has joined
the Group since August 2023 and has served as the co-chief
executive officer of international business since then. Mr. Spurrell
is responsible for overall strategy and development of our
international market.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Spurrell served multiple roles at
The Dairy Farm Company, Limited, including as a board member
from October 2018 to June 2023, as a chief technology officer
from August 2021 to June 2023 and as a chief digital officer from
October 2018 to July 2021. Prior to that, Mr. Spurrell served at
Ahold Delhaize Group from September 2012 to September 2018,
including as a senior vice president of digital personalization,
loyalty and analytics.

Mr. Spurrell obtained his bachelor’s degree in economics and
Japanese from SOAS, London University in August 1994.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

Mr. Tang Yifan (B3 ) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 42, has joined
the Group since June 2021 and has served as the vice president
and chief financial officer since June 2021 and September 2021,
respectively. Mr. Tang is responsible for overall strategy, the
finance, legal, internal controls functions, and the capital markets
activities of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tang served as general manager in
the industrial financing department division of Kaiyuan Securities
Co., Ltd.* (ARZBEHFB M AERRAF]), a China-based securities
company, from July 2016 to June 2021. Prior to that, Mr.
Tang served as an executive director in the investment banking
department of China Great Wall Securities Co., Ltd.* (Rl &5/
AR A]) (a company listed on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
SZSE: 002939), a China-based securities company, from October
2015 to May 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Tang worked in Western
Securities Co., Ltd.* (FAZBEHMH B F]) (a company listed
on The Shenzhen Stock Exchange, SZSE: 002673), a China-based
securities company, from April 2013 to July 2015. In addition, Mr.
Tang served as a senior auditor in the Wuhan office of Ernst &
Young Hua Ming LLP (& k ZERBEETRIE 5 FT) from January 2007
to December 2009.

Mr. Tang obtained his bachelor’s degree in computer science and
technology and master’s degree in computer system architecture
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology GEFREHE A
£ in China in June 2004 and March 2007, respectively.

Ms. Wang Yi (£18) ("Ms. Wang”), aged 43, has joined the
Group since August 2022 and has served as the vice president,
deputy chief financial officer and board secretary. Ms. Wang
is responsible for overall strategy, information disclosure and
investor relations of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGREERNEERE

Ms. Wang has over 19 years of experience in corporate
governance, finance, merger and acquisition and investor
relations. Ms. Wang has served as a non-executive director of
MDL Wholesale Limited, a food and fast-moving consumer goods
distribution solution provider in China, since June 2024. Prior to
that, Ms. Wang served as a board secretary, deputy chief financial
officer and company secretary of WM Tech Corporation Limited
(currently known as MDL Wholesale Limited) from September
2020 to June 2024. Prior to that, Ms. Wang served as board
secretary and investment director of the Wumei Technology from
January 2016 to September 2020, and company secretary, board
secretary and deputy director of finance department of Wumart
Stores, Inc. JtRYEEEEBERMHER LA, a Chinese retail
company, from June 2013 to January 2016. Ms. Wang also served
as the Director from October 2017 to August 2018.

Ms. Wang obtained her bachelor’'s degree and master’s degree
in economics from Nankai University (I A£2) in China in June
2004 and June 2006, respectively.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Wang, has been appointed as the joint company secretary
with effect from December 5, 2022. Please see “— SENIOR

MANAGEMENT" in this section for her biography.

Ms. Au Wing Sze (Eik&) ("Ms. Au”), has been appointed
as the joint company secretary with effect from December 6,
2024 (the "Listing Date”). Ms. Au is a manager of the listing
services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited and has been
providing corporate secretarial and compliance services to Hong
Kong listed companies. She has over 10 years of professional
experience in the corporate secretarial field. Ms. Au is an associate
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Au
holds a master degree in corporate governance from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University in Hong Kong in August 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company is committed to fostering a culture of inclusivity
and robust decision-making. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises four independent non-executive Directors and
one of them is a female Director with multifaceted backgrounds.
This includes Directors with substantial experience in running
businesses in multinational corporations across diverse sectors,
as well as individuals with a technical and finance background,
enriching the Board’s expertise and insights. Recognizing the
pivotal role of a diverse board in enhancing internal governance,
the Company is steadfast in the commitment to prioritizing
diversity within the Board. This commitment underscores our
belief in the value of varied perspectives and experiences in
driving effective decision-making processes and fostering strategic
guidance.

The Board is collectively responsible for promoting sound
corporate governance, the core of which is embedded in the
Company'’s corporate culture and has the following characteristics:

° Transparency

The Directors and management of the Company shall be
shaped into making decisions and conducting the business
of the Company on the basis of the best information
available to them and shared among them.

o Integrity and objectivity

The Directors and management of the Company shall
undertake to make decisions and conduct business with
integrity and objectivity in the best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders.

o Accountability
The management of the Company shall be rewarded

appropriately based on the performance of the Company for
their decisions and actions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Based on the review of a series of culture-related factors, such as
compliance history, employee turnover rate, number of complaints
from stakeholders, and the Company’s performance, the Board is
confident that the Company’s corporate culture is well promoted
and maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance and believes that good corporate
governance is essential to the Company’s sustainable development
and healthy business growth. We safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and enhance corporate value through robust
corporate governance.

“Board
Committees”) have established a clear governance structure

The Board, and each of the Board committees (the

under the relevant laws, the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”), and their respective terms of reference. To date,
the Board and the four Board Committees perform their respective
duties and works in collaboration and under adequate supervision
to continuously improve the Company's corporate governance and
form an excellent corporate governance structure. The Company
ensures the regular operations under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) through this governance structure.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own corporate governance
code. During the period from the Listing Date to December
31, 2024, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions of the CG Code. As the Shares were not listed on the
Stock Exchange until the Listing Date, the CG Code has only been
applicable to the Company since the Listing Date.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices on a regular basis to ensure compliance with
the CG Code and to maintain the Company’s high standard of
corporate governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Senior Management

The Company has clearly defined the responsibilities of the Board
and our senior management (the “Senior Management”).

The Board reserves the right to make decisions on all major
matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors, other significant financial
and operational matter, and exercising other powers, functions
and duties conferred by the Articles.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.
The Company also encourages the Directors to consult with its
Senior Management independently.

The Board has delegated to the Senior Management the authority
and responsibility for the day-to-day management, administration
and operations of the Company. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.

For the purpose of overseeing specific aspects of the Company’s
affairs, the Board has established three Board Committees,
including the audit committee (the ”“Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of
the Company. The Board has assigned a number of responsibilities
to the Board Committees, which are set out in their respective
terms of reference.

The Board has further established the environment, social and
governance committee of the Company (the “ESG Committee”)
on March 18, 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

All Directors shall ensure that they fulfill their duties in good
faith, comply with applicable laws and regulations and act in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Composition of the Board

As at December 31, 2024, the Board consisted of nine members,
including one executive Director, four non-executive Directors and
four independent non-executive Directors, as detailed below:

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Feng (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Zhiyu
Ms. Sun Yuhan
(resigned with effect from January 2, 2025)
Mr. Wang Zhenghao

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Hou Yang
Ms. Cai Lin
Dr. Mao Jiye
Mr. Li Wei

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

For the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, the
Board has complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board, as well as Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N

FIEEFERAREEBNETERE @ ETHERAE
BER - WIRREEA R R REBROME o

EEEMAER

R2024F 128318 - EF 2R NEKEARK - &
F—R2RTESE WBIENTEE RUEZIE T IEH
TE%  FBOT :

HITES
RIS A (#E2)

FHUITES

Curtis Alan Ferguson OB B R ) St £ (£ /E)
PREFEE
BFEEL+
(62025152 HEEE)
TIEELLE

BYFHITES
&EE L

FE i+
EEXBT

RARERY  EENERFBINAREES
EERERBNBREFE 6 -

B EmHEE2024F 128318 IR - EF e
BT ETRBIEII0AKBERZETEESZERESR
V=07 MBI IERITESTRTE C AR ETR
AIE3 10N E3N0EEBEZEAZE L =2B V3
WITEE BEPEL R EAEHESEERK
S AEV SR ENBNRTE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Each of the Directors confirms that he or she (i) has obtained the
legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on,
in the case of Dr. Hou Yang, March 3, 2023, in the case of Ms. Cai
Lin, April 24, 2024, and in the case of other Directors, December 1,
2022; and (ii) understands his or her obligations as a director of a
listed issuer on the Stock Exchange under the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have brought to the Board a diverse range of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to enable it to operate
efficiently and effectively. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Zhang Feng, an executive Director and the president of the
Company, is a nephew of Dr. Zhang Wenzhong, who is the
founder, senior advisor and a controlling shareholder of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has
any personal relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) with any other Directors and
substantial shareholders of the Company.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary
induction training and information to ensure that they have
a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
businesses as well as their responsibilities under relevant statutes,
laws, rules, and regulations. The Company would also arrange
regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors
are also provided with updates on the Company’s performance,
position, and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their monthly duties.

In accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should engage in continuing professional development
to develop and update their knowledge and skills to ensure that
they can continue to contribute to the Board in a fully informed
and appropriate manner. The Company will also engage external
legal counsel to provide training to the Directors on the latest
changes to the Listing Rules and related rules and regulations.
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TEERHRE

According to the records maintained by the Company, during the

Reporting Year, all Directors received the following training and

updates as follows:

Name of Directors

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Feng
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson

Mr. Chen Zhiyu

Ms. Sun Yuhan®

Mr. Wang Zhenghao

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Hou Yang

Ms. Cai Lin

Dr. Mao Jiye

Mr. Li Wei

Note:

EEnE

BITES
SRIE A
FHTES
Curtis Alan Ferguson
UBER)TE
REFEE
BRyarto
FTIEAERESE
BYFHITES
RS
Fhic+
EEXBL
FHESTE

(1) Ms. Sun Yuhan resigned as a non-executive Director with effect
from January 2, 2025. Please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated January 2, 2025 for details.
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Reading materials
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Chairman and President

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
supports the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
president to ensure a balance of power and responsibility and
maintain a balanced view of judgment. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the chairman of the Company is Mr. Curtis
Alan Ferguson and the president of the Company is Mr. Zhang
Feng. The chairman is responsible for providing professional
advice, opinion, and guidance to the Board. The president is
responsible for overall strategic planning, business operations and
overall management of the Group.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The executive Director entered into a service contract for an
initial term of three years from the Listing Date. Each of the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial term of three years from the Listing Date.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Articles.

At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have power to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company
after his/her appointment, and such Director shall then be eligible
for re-election at the relevant meeting.

Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of
the meeting at which he/she retires and shall be eligible for re-
election thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at
which any Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a
like number of persons to be Directors.

EEERHRE

EEARSTHSTAIEXC2IRT  EFSTFHE
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EE2024F12A31H IEFE - RRFEFE BCurtis
Alan Ferguson U5 E &) 504 + N ARIBH ARIE
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Independence of the Board
Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Opinions

The Company believes that the independence of the Board is
essential to good corporate governance and the effectiveness of
the Board. The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that
independent views of any Director can be communicated to the
Board to enhance the objectivity and effectiveness of decision-
making. The Board has reviewed the following key features or
mechanisms under the Company’s governance structure and
considers that they are effective in ensuring the provision of
independent views and advice to the Board, which include,
but not limited to, all Directors having the right to engage
independent professional advisers as and when required, all
Directors being encouraged to express their views openly and
honestly at meetings of the Board or Board Committees, and the
number of independent non-executive Directors complying with
the requirement of at least one-third of the Board as required
by the Listing Rules for independent non-executive Directors,
the Nomination Committee is mandated to annually assess the
independence of all independent non-executive Directors with
reference to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules, ensuring that they can continually exercise independent
judgement, no equity-base remuneration (e.g. share options or
grants) with performance related elements will be granted to
the independent non-executive Directors as this may lead to bias
in their decision-making and compromise their objectivity and
independence etc. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms on an annual
basis. For the Reporting Year, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of these mechanisms and
considered them effective and adequate.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence during the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2024 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and considers each of them to be independent. Following annual
review, the Board and the Nomination Committee were satisfied
with the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors with reference to the criteria laid down in the Listing
Rules.
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Structure of the Board and Board Committees

The Company has been led by a Board whose members are mostly
2024, the Board
consists of one executive Director, four non-executive Directors

non-executive Directors. As of December 31,

and four independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Sun Yuhan has
resigned as the non-executive Director with effect from January 2,
2025.

All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors, and the majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

Management of Conflict of Interest

The Articles and the corporate governance measures of the
Company provide guidance to Directors on the avoidance
of potential conflicts of interest between the Group and the
controlling shareholders of the Company and the appropriate
action to be taken by Directors involved in conflicts of interest
between the Group and the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Professional Opinions

To assist Directors in the proper discharge of their duties, all
Directors may seek advice from the joint company secretaries of
the Company or the in-house legal team, or from independent
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

Board Review

The quality and efficiency of Board discussions are reviewed each
year in the annual review of Board performance.

The Company has reviewed the implementation of the
mechanisms relating to the independence of the Board and
considers them to be effective during the Reporting Year.
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Board, Board Committee and General Meetings

The Company has adopted the practice of holding regular Board
meetings, that is, the Board shall hold at least four regular
meetings each year, roughly once a quarter, which shall be
convened by the chairman and notified to all the Directors prior to
the meeting in writing.

In respect of meetings of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, unless otherwise
agreed by all the members of the Board Committee, notice of at
least seven days shall be given for a regular meeting of the Board
Committee. For all other meetings of the Board Committee,
reasonable notice shall be given. The chairperson shall determine
whether or not a meeting of the Board Committee is a regular
meeting. The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice annually
and each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee shall meet at least once annually.

The minutes of the Board and Board Committee meetings shall
record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or
dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.

The Company shall hold a general meeting as its annual general
meeting for each financial year, and such annual general meeting
shall be held within six months after the end of the Company’s
financial year (or such longer period as the Stock Exchange may
authorize). The annual general meeting shall be specified as such
in the notices calling it. All general meetings of the Company
other than annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary
general meetings (the “"EGM").

An annual general meeting shall be called by not less than 21
days’ notice in writing and any EGM shall be called by not less
than 14 days' notice in writing. Subject to the requirements under
the Listing Rules, the notice shall be exclusive of the day on which
it is served or deemed to be served and of the day for which it is
given, and shall specify the time, place, agenda of the meeting,
particulars of the resolutions and the general nature of the
business to be considered at the meeting.
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Since the Company was listed on December 6, 2024, which is
less than one month away from December 31, 2024, the Board
had no matters that needed to be discussed from the Listing Date
to December 31, 2024, and the Company did not hold board
meetings or general meetings during the said period. For the same
reason, the chairman of the Board did not hold a meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024. The
Company will comply with code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code
to hold at least four Board meetings each year, about once every
quarter, and code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code for chairman of
the Board to hold at least one meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors each
year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”) as its own code of
conduct regarding the Directors’ dealings in the securities of the
Company. Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors
and they have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code during the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
2024.

The Company has also adopted written guidelines on terms no
less exacting than the Model Code for those relevant employees
(including employees of the Company or directors or employees
of its subsidiaries who, because of such office or employment,
is likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities) in respect of their dealings in the
securities of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board recognizes that corporate governance is a collective
responsibility of the Directors as set out in the code provision A.2.1
of the CG Code, and the corporate governance responsibilities
include:

(@)  To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the Senior
Management;
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(c)  To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
in complying with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) To develop, review, and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

(e)  To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and the disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent process
for setting the remuneration policy of the Directors and the Senior
Management. The remuneration of Directors and the Senior
Management is determined by the Board taking into account
their respective responsibilities, duties, experience, personal
performance and time devoted to the Company, and may be
adjusted according to the suggestions of the Remuneration
Committee. The Directors and the Senior Management are
eligible participants of certain share incentive plans disclosed in
the section headed “Share Incentive Plans” of this report. Details
of the remuneration of each Director for the Reporting Year are
set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

No Directors have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the Reporting Year.

The biographical details of the Senior Management as at the date
of this report are set out in section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in this report. For the
Reporting Year, the remuneration paid to the Senior Management
(other than Directors) falls within the following ranges:

Remuneration level (HK$)

#HEKF(BT)
1,000,001-2,000,000

3,000,001-4,000,000
8,000,001-9,000,000
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Director Liability Insurance

The Company has made appropriate insurance arrangements
against any legal proceedings that its Directors may face.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Dr. Hou Yang, Ms. Cai Lin and Mr. Li Wei. Ms.
Cai Lin is the chairperson of the Audit Committee and both Ms.
Cai Lin and Mr. Li Wei are the Directors appropriately qualified as
required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in compliance
with paragraph D.3.3 of the CG Code. The principal responsibilities
and duties of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to,
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (i) to monitor the
integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual reports,
accounts, half-yearly reports and, if prepared for publication, quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them before submission to the Board; (iii) reviewing
the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems; (iv) reviewing the Group’ financial and accounting
policies and practices; (v) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
environmental, social responsibility and corporate governance (“"ESG")
policies and practices to ensure compliance with the relevant legal
and regulatory requirements; and (vi) performing such other duties
and responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board. Those duties
and responsibilities related to ESG have been transferred to the ESG
Committee since its establishment on March 18, 2024.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As the Company was listed on December 6, 2024, which was less
than one month to December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee did
not hold any meetings between December 6, 2024 and December
31, 2024. The Audit Committee will fully comply with its terms of
reference.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Mao Jiye and Dr. Hou Yang, and
one executive Director, namely Mr. Zhang Feng. Dr. Mao lJiye is
the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with paragraph E.1.2 of the CG Code. The principal
responsibilities and duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
but are not limited to, (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors’ and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (ii)
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management; (iii) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors); and (iv)
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including any grants of options or
awards to directors and senior management, and to make disclosure
and give explanation on the appropriateness to such material matters
(if any) being approved in the corporate governance report.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

As the Company was listed on December 6, 2024, which was
less than one month to December 31, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee did not hold any meetings between December 6, 2024
and December 31, 2024. The Remuneration Committee will fully
comply with its terms of reference.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprised one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Mao Jiye and Ms. Cai Lin.
Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson is the chairperson of the Nomination
Committee.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but are not
limited to, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board; (i) identifying, selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the nomination of
persons to become Directors; (iii) assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and succession planning for Directors, in particular
the chairperson of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As the Company was listed on December 6, 2024, which was
less than one month to December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee did not hold any meetings between December 6,
2024 and December 31, 2024. The Nomination Committee will
fully comply with its terms of reference.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy in
accordance with the CG Code. The director nomination policy
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board’s
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company'’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall identify, consider and
recommend to the Board appropriate candidates to serve as
Directors and to make recommendations to the Shareholders. The
ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors
rests with the entire Board.
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The nomination procedures and the process set out in the policy is

as follows:

(a

The Nomination Committee shall nominate candidates for
the consideration of the Board. The Nomination Committee
may propose candidates who were not nominated by the
Board. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
in relation to its nomination of any candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting of the Company.

A candidate nominated by the Board to stand for election at
a general meeting (the “Board Candidate”) will submit the
necessary personal information, together with their written
consent to be elected as a Director and to the publication of
their personal information for the purpose of or in relation
to their standing for election as a Director. The Nomination
Committee may request the Board Candidate to provide
additional information and documents if they consider
necessary.

A circular will be available to the Shareholders (the
“Shareholder Circular”) to provide information of the
Board Candidate. The Shareholder Circular will include the
personal information of the Board Candidate as required by
the applicable laws, rules and regulations, inter alia, their
name, brief biography (including qualifications and relevant
experience), independence and proposed remuneration.

The Board Candidate shall not assume that they have been
nominated by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting prior to the despatch/publication of the Shareholder
Circular.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board

should make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of

the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
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The selection criteria that the Nomination Committee will use as
reference to assess the suitability of the nominated candidates
include: character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience relevant to the Company’s
business and strategy, potential contribution to board diversity
(including but not limited to age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience), the candidate’s time
commitment to the Company, the candidate’s service to other
boards of the Company or other companies (whether listed or
not) and any other factors which the Nomination Committee
may deem to be in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders. The above selection criteria are not exhaustive
or decisive. The Nomination Committee will consider any other
factors that it may deem to be in the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders.

The director nomination policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings. The Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should review the overall contribution and service to
the Company of the retiring Director and determine whether the
retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out above.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Directors at the general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the director nomination
policy, from time to time and as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

Board Diversity and Employee Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level, including gender
diversity, as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage and enhancing its ability to attract,
retain and motivate employees from the widest possible pool
of available talent. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, in
reviewing and assessing suitable candidates to serve as a Director,
the Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects,
including, but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, and
industry and regional experience.
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The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, and
the Company have four independent non-executive Directors
with different industry backgrounds, more than one-third of the
members of the Board. Taking into account the existing business
model and specific needs as well as the different background of
the directors, the composition of the Board satisfies the board
diversity policy. The Company has also taken and will continue
to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the
Company, including but not limited to the Board and the senior
management levels. During the period from the Listing Date to
December 31, 2024, the Board has two female Directors. The
Group will invest more resources in training female staff who
have long and relevant experience in our business, with the aim of
promoting them to senior management or directorship positions
within the Group. While we recognize that the gender diversity
at the Board level can be improved given the majority of the
Directors are male, the Group will continue to apply the principle
of appointments based on merits with reference to the diversity
policy as a whole. The Board would also ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to investors’
expectation, and international and local recommended best
practices.

Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Nomination Committee
will discuss periodically and when necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity, including gender
diversity, on the Board and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

As at December 31, 2024, approximately 75% of the Group's
employees (including its Senior Management) were male and
approximately 25% were female. The Company considers the
current gender ratio in the workforce to be appropriate and
will continue to ensure that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered and gender diversity across the
workforce is maintained.
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The Group has also established talent management and
training programs, providing career development guidance and
advancement opportunities, aimed at building a team with diverse
skills and rich experience. The Company considers that the gender
diversity across overall workforce (including Senior Management
of the Company) stands at a reasonable level in the retail
digitalization solution industry and the Company is not aware of
mitigating factors or circumstances that make achieving gender
diversity more challenging. The Company will continue to review
the gender diversity from time to time and take necessary steps to
promote diversity.

For the Reporting Year, the Board, through the Nomination
Committee, has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board Diversity Policy and has confirmed that the Board
possesses an appropriate mix of skills and experience to execute
the Company's strategy.

ESG Committee

The Board has established the ESG Committee for the purposes
of, among others, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s ESG
policies and practices to ensure compliance with the relevant
legal and regulatory requirements, monitoring and responding to
emerging ESG issues and making recommendations to the Board
where appropriate to improve the ESG performance of the Group,
with effect from March 18, 2025.

The ESG Committee comprised one executive Director, namely Mr.
Zhang Feng, one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Curtis Alan
Ferguson, and one independent non-executive Director, namely
Ms. Cai Lin. Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson is the chairperson of the
ESG Committee.

The terms of reference of the ESG Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INTERNAL
CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting
in Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2024 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Group and of the Group's results and cash flows.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditors’ Responsibility and Remuneration

The Company appointed KPMG as the external auditor for the
year ended December 31, 2024. A statement by KPMG about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this
annual report.

Details of the fees paid/payable in respect of the audit services,
IPO related services and non-audit services provided by KPMG for
the Reporting Year are set out in the table below:
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Amount

-t

(RMB'000)

Service provided R IR (AREFT)
Audit services ENZRTE 3,220
IPO related services BHRAREESEBRS 2,920
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 45
— Tax services — BT ARTE 45
Total et 6,185
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Group has devoted itself to establishing
and maintaining risk management and internal control systems
consisting of policies and procedures that the Group consider
to be appropriate for its business operations, and the Group is
dedicated to continuously improving these systems. The Group
has adopted and implemented comprehensive risk management
policies in various aspects of its business operations, such as
financial reporting, information system, internal control, human
resources and investment management. The management has
also reported to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control measures are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. During
the Reporting Year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
of the Group and considered the system effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and internal
audit function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

The Company has established a risk management framework
consisting of the Board, the Audit Committee, management, and
relevant internal compliance departments. This framework is built
to ensure the continuous supervision of the implementation of
internal control and risk management policies and that they and
their implementation are effective and sufficient.
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The Company has established its own internal control system in
accordance with The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). This system consists of five
interdependent components that work in coordination to ensure
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control functions.
The five components are environment control, risk assessment,
activity control, information and communication, and supervision.
The Company has introduced a top-down risk management
organizational framework. The Board formulates risk management
and internal control decisions, the Audit Committee and internal
compliance department supervise their implementation, and the
management and departments ensure and are responsible for the
effective execution of control decisions.

Risk Management

The Group has in place a set of accounting policies in connection
with its financial reporting risk management, such as financial
reporting management policies, budget management policies,
treasury management policies, financial statements preparation
policies and finance department and staff management policies.
The Group has various procedures and information technology
systems in place to implement its accounting policies, and the
finance department reviews its management accounts based on
such procedures.

In order to manage the Group’s compliance and legal risk
exposures effectively, the Group has designed and adopted strict
internal procedures to ensure the compliance of its business
operations with the relevant rules and regulations. The Group
maintains internal procedures to ensure that it has obtained all
material requisite licenses, permits and approvals for its business
operation, and the legal team conduct regular reviews to monitor
the status and effectiveness of those licenses and approvals.
The Group’s in-house legal department works with relevant
business departments to obtain requisite governmental approvals
or consents, including preparing and submitting all necessary
documents for filing with relevant government authorities within
the prescribed regulatory timelines.

The Group continually review the implementation of its risk
management policies and measures to ensure our policies and
implementation are effective and sufficient.
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Internal Control

The Group has designed and adopted strict internal procedures to
ensure the compliance of our business operations with the relevant
rules and regulations. The legal, finance and other departments
work closely together to: (a) perform risk assessments and give
advice on risk management strategies; (b) improve business
process efficiency and monitor internal control effectiveness; and
(c) promote risk awareness throughout our company.

In accordance with the internal procedures, the Group's in-house
legal and finance departments review due diligence materials
and contracts of suppliers and customers, and work with relevant
business units to obtain and maintain requisite governmental
approvals or consents, including preparing and submitting
all necessary documents for filing with relevant government
authorities within the prescribed regulatory timelines.

The Group also maintains an internal audit department which is
responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls and
reporting to the audit committee and senior management on any
issues identified. The internal audit department members hold
regular meetings with management to discuss any internal control
issues it faced and the corresponding measures to implement
toward resolving such issues. The internal audit department
reports to the audit committee to ensure that any major issues
identified are channelled to the committee on a timely basis. The
Audit Committee then discusses the issues and reports to the
Board, if necessary.

EEERHRE

AR

AR EE SIS R RIS N EZ T + DRBREM
PERSBE G AIRRA KA K B RE
fEPIBEAE - A @UETRRFELRERE
BERREEN  ORSEHRRAELELRN
AR | RORBALT EFTHRRNR
o

REANEF - AEERIRAELMBGHIERSE
EHEHLEFHERBESMHNAR - WEEHE
XIGBEFIAE - NERRER S ENBF AR
B BREMTEERRAEBRERMAELEX
- AR IR B B RS -

AEEIEBNBEZAPT - AR AEPEIER
Rk - AR EREHNRERERZ S SR
EIEEESR - NRFZAFINEERREEERT
B A I R ) R 1RT PR BB AR ) T RE DA S IR R X
F @ m REREREIE - AREZAFIRERE
wE - AEREFAEARBEGREMSHEETER

&
=
g ERZESHTWABRE  LELERR

L2
=

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Information system risk management

The Company has implemented various measures to ensure
compliance with the laws and regulations of China on data
privacy and security.

The Company has formulated a series of regulations related
to the data security of information systems to secure the
Company’s data assets. The Company’s data assets are
encrypted and stored on firewall-protected cloud servers.
Daily backups are performed while regular data recovery
tests are conducted to verify the integrity of the backup
systems. We strictly restrict employees’ access to specific
data scopes based on their qualifications and functions and
regularly check whether their access is consistent with their
functions. We retain the access logs and regularly audit
them.

In addition to data security, we also take multiple
management measures against information system risks to
ensure the reliability and security of the system. First, we
require employees to regularly update their system account
passwords in accordance with established password setting
rules, eliminating the risk of unauthorized access through
password breaches. We have implemented strict access
controls over the Company’s documents to safeguard the
data assets of the Company from unauthorized external
disclosure. Second, we conduct regular proactive software
health checks to prevent infections from computer viruses.
Leveraging the built-in anti-virus software of the operating
system, we provide comprehensive, continuous, and
real-time protection for our information systems against
software-based threats, including computer viruses,
malicious software, and more.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N

ERASRARERE

RABERIMZ ARG - BRETTEERH
BRI ZEHERER

ARREHIE—RINEAEERABIELZ M
BHRE  WHERAQFRBBEENLKE -
ARRINBIEREELBNELFRERHN
mRENE MRS £ o AT RETH
0 - R EHETEERRENR - URER
DRBHTTEN - RPIRBEENER B
REEERIRBI RS EBIREE R E - AE
HimE R Rh M ERE S EERERT -
PIREE an ] A 6 BT T % -

BT 8EZE  RATRRSEERERR
R EERGNRAR  AERKRRGA] S
HRZ2ME - B RAIBRKEBRERE
MEZBREMRATEHRENEZRIRE T
VATH B R 22 500 B8 T S BUR SRR AR
@ o WPEARRR N EE T B H
2] AREADBBIBREERERERE
HSNER I EE - HR - RFIEMESHmEEF
BTN - T st B SRR - FIBIRIE
EZmRNENIRSEMN - RAREERERRE
HEW - 58 BERORE  BREREM
MEE  BRERRS  BEERNS -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e Intellectual property risk management

The Company’s self-developed systems and their hosted
data constitute our most critical corporate assets. To
safeguard the Company’s intellectual property (IP) from
misappropriation, we have secured copyrights, patents,
and trademarks for key technological achievements derived
from our self-developed systems. We have formulated a
comprehensive IP management framework, establishing
risk management measures across the entire IP lifecycle
from IP application and daily archiving management to
confidentiality and protection for secure IP use.

e Procurement risk management

The Company has established a series of management
systems for the procurement cycle to ensure the proper
management and control of the whole procurement
process. The Company has formulated the processes for
the management of suppliers, bidding, procurement, and
overseas procurement to ensure documented compliance
throughout business operations and taken measures to
control the risks related to the procurement cycle, including
authorization mechanisms, segregation of duties, pre-risk
reviews, and post-event regular reviews.

The Audit Committee, internal audit department and senior
management together monitor the implementation of its risk
management policies on an ongoing basis to ensure its policies
and implementation are effective and sufficient.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has a whistleblowing policy in place for employees
of the Group and others who deal with the Group to raise their
concerns, covertly and anonymously, with the Audit Committee
about any possible improprieties regarding the Group. The policy
allows for anonymous reporting of such matters within the Group,
and assures whistle-blowers that the Group will provide them with
protection to prevent unfair dismissal or harm due to any genuine
reports made under the whistleblowing Policy.
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Anti-corruption Policy

The Group also has an anti-corruption policy in place to prevent
fraud and bribery within the Group. The Group has an internal
whistleblowing channel which is open to the Group’s employees
to report any suspected fraud and bribery. Employees may also
make anonymous reports as set forth in the whistleblowing policy.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not find any material
violations of laws and regulations relating to the bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering, nor did it have any corruption cases
concluded.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

To enhance the Group’s system for handling and dissemination
of inside information and ensure the authenticity, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosure, the Group
has adopted and implemented inside information policies and
procedures. The Group has from time to time taken a number
of reasonable steps to ensure that it is in possession of potential
inside information and to maintain the confidentiality of such
information, with a view to preventing breaches of the disclosure
requirements relating to the Group, including:

o access to the information is limited to a small number
of employees on a “need-to-know” basis. Employees in
possession of inside information are fully aware of their duty
of confidentiality.

o confidentiality agreements will be entered into when the
Group engages in significant negotiations.

o different operating units have reporting channels to report
potential inside information to the designated departments.

o the executive Director is the designated person who
speaks on behalf of the Group when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors and
responding to external inquiries.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Wang Vi, the vice president, deputy chief financial officer
and board secretary of the Company, and Ms. Au Wing Sze
("Ms. Au”) have been appointed as the joint company secretaries
of the Company with effect from December 5, 2022 and the
Listing Date, respectively. Please refer to the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management —
Senior Management” for Ms. Wang's biography, and the section
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management —
Joint company secretaries” for Ms. Au’s biography. Ms. Au assists
Ms. Wang Yi in fulfilling her duties as the Company’s company
secretary, and her main contact person at the Company is Ms.
Wang.

As the Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
December 6, 2024, which was less than one month to December
31, 2024, Ms. Wang Yi had taken less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Reporting Year and will be
obliged to comply with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in the
forthcoming year. During the Reporting Year, Ms. Au Wing Sze
had undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The decision to pay
dividends will be made at the discretion of the Board, subject
to compliance with the Articles of Association, Listing Rules,
and all applicable laws and regulations, and will depend on
factors including financial results, cash flow situation, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of shareholder, any
restrictions on payments of dividends, and any other factors that
the Board may consider relevant. The Company does not have a
pre-determined dividend payout ratio and will review the dividend
policy as appropriate from time to time with reference to financial
conditions and the prevailing economic environment.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATIONS

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, the Company
will propose a separate resolution for each issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at General Meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
in a timely manner after each General Meeting.

Convening of EGM by Shareholders and Putting
Forward Proposals at General Meetings

According to Article 10.3 of the Articles, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings shall
also be convened and resolutions shall be added to the agenda
of a meeting on the written requisition of any member(s) of
the Company deposited at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal place of business, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that one or more such requisitionist(s)
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition in aggregate not
less than one-tenth (1/10) of the voting rights (on a one vote per
share basis) attached to the shares of the Company which carry
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half (1/2) of the total voting rights
of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Board, provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three (3) months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may achieve this by means of convening an EGM
following the procedures set out in paragraph above.
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For the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a candidate
for election as a Director, please see the Company’s website at
https://ir-tc.dmall.com.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact
Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Principal Place of 31/F., Tower Two, Times Square,
Business in Hong 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Kong: Hong Kong
Floor 8, Block B,

Haidian Culture and Art Building,

Headquarters and
registered office in

the PRC: No. 28, Zhongguancun Street,
Haidian District, Beijing, China
Email: investors@dmall.com

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relationship

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing
dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet the
Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at https://ir-tc.dmall.com, where information and updates
on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.
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The Company has established a number of channels for

maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a)

(b)

(0

Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by
the Company for the information or action of holders
of any of its securities, including but not limited to the
following documents of the Company: (i) the annual
report (with Directors’ report, annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditor’s report) and, where applicable,
its summary financial report; (ii) the interim report and,
where applicable, its summary interim report; (iii) the
quarterly results; (iv) a notice of meeting; (v) a circular; and
(vi) a proxy form. The Corporate Communication of the
Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be available
to the Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company'’s securities in both English and Chinese versions
or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner
as required by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities shall have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese)
or means of receipt of the Corporate Communication (in
printed form or through electronic means).

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant
to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and
other documents (e.g. the M&A) on the Stock Exchange’s
website in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted
on the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on
the Company’s website (https://ir-tc.dmall.com/). Other
corporate information about the Company’s business
developments, goals and strategies and corporate
governance will also be available on the Company’s website.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N

RRREBRIIATEZERE -

AT BB SR AR H 15 4R

i -

(a)

(b)

(0

NGIEGES
FHRBFTARAESAREMIRERARA A
HEFMESSTE AMBRRDITE M
G PR AR - BIEETRAARA A
BTASH  (VFERS(EFERE - FEF
R B R EAN RS B AR ) LA R A B S E R
H(ER) ¢ (NP EBRE REFARERSE
(@A) : (NEEEE  (vaads VR
B RVVREREEERRE - NARHRRIBH
1 4% T AR B A AR T 28 55 ) 38 A Bk 22 BT 4
(www.hkex.com.hk) © R RIEAGIZR F
AR AR T S B AR SR AR RVIE T
NE—BERRERANARESFNIEELEF
BARM - WEEARARFEELDESFFHEA
BREEZEEQTIBMMBERA (RSP
g = (EDRIAR S E FhR) ©

e ETRAN D SR

AR B FEAR 18 0 3 B T B E R A2 B4R
BHEAE(NBEES  ATTBRISE)R
E A (Bl SRR AR ©

DA HIA

AN R TE B X P A B MO (E (AT {5 B sk X
I AR B8 (https:/ir-tc.dmall.com/)
FEfm c BAALRRIEBKER - BIF - R
REEEANEMAREE - A EARA]
CEpEE I



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE
(d) Shareholders’ Meetings (d) BREREXE
The annual general meeting and other general meetings RRBIREBAFRG REMBRAGEAR
of the Company are the primary forum for communication RIERFBRANEERE - ARFEERR
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company EHRAMNATE  EERREREEERR
shall provide its Shareholders with relevant information RARE LIREORBENRBER - Frigft
on the resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a HERIESE RV EREHRRRIRZRR
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The BRELHBFIRE - RMIKERR L ERR
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable RE - SRR ARELEFEER - DAUERER
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed ZRELESZIASLERE - EHEEXE
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in Zi - ESSXFLAHMESESKE  ES
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote ZEEFRHARE - ARINEZ SR E K
at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable BARARRRARG ABZRFREM(E) -
to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or required, BUEEZES(WE)MERITELFEEE
the chairman of the Board and other Board members, the AR E R 5 sl E (] E A ZB A8 7 AR SR B
chairmen of Board committees or their delegates, and the MR ZHRRARG AN S O ERME -
external auditors should attend general meetings of the
Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if any). The
chairman of the independent Board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.
(e) Shareholders and Investors Enquiries (e) BRRREEEH

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous AARBETEREBEOBENELREH - KK
enquiries. Shareholders and investors may send any enquiries 35 & % v] 3B E T E {Finvestors@dmall.com
to the Investor Relations by email: investors@dmall.com. MR E E BRI R B ] BER o

(f) Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms  (f) HMEREEBEIRFEES

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic and BEE/DWAEHRE - BKE(EARE
international), media interviews, marketing activities for BR) - IRESEKGL  IREEEHEE  1TTEER
investors and specialist industry forums etc. will be launched WEE - BREFEZME -

on a required basis.
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The Company annually reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the above shareholders’ communication policy
(with communication channels). For the Reporting Year, the
Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
its shareholder’s communication policy and has concluded that
the above policy is effective and adequate as it provides sufficient
opportunity and avenues for ongoing communication between
the Company (including the Board and management) and the
Shareholders.

Change of Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted the Articles on November 27, 2024 which
became effective on December 3, 2024. The Company has not
made any changes to its Articles on or after the Listing Date. The
Articles are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange, respectively.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of Directors together
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Year.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability on February 5, 2015. The Shares have been listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since December 6,
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is one of the leading retail digitalization solution
providers in China and Asia, which offers a range of principal
products and services designed to digitalize and optimize
operations of the local retailers. The principal activities of the
Company are the provision of retail core service cloud, e-commerce
service cloud and other services to customers. In April 2024, the
Group completed the Restructuring, which led to the divestment
of the Dmall APP and mini-program. After the Restructuring, the
Group did not operate any business under the e-commerce service
cloud.

An analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the
Reporting Year is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 6 to 9 and in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 58 of this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s financial performance,
an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
and the Group's key relationships with its stakeholders who have
a significant impact on the Group and on which the Group’s
success depend, is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report. These discussions form
part of this “Report of Directors”. Significant events affecting the
Company that have occurred since the end of the Reporting Year
is set out in the section headed “SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
END OF THE REPORTING YEAR" in this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Reporting Year.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “2024 AGM"), which contains the date, time and
place of the 2024 AGM, as well as details of the period during
which the register of members and the registration of share
transfers is closed, will be published on the respective websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company and dispatched to the
Shareholders who requested for a printed copy in due course.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last four financial years is set out in the section
headed “Financial Highlights” of this report. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company’s financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties related directly or indirectly to the Company’s
business. Below sets out the main risks and uncertainties of which
the Company is aware, some of which are beyond our control.
In addition to those listed below, there may be other risks and
uncertainties not known to the Company or which may not be
material at present but may become material in the future.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that profitability will be impaired or the
ability to meet business objectives will be affected by changes in
market prices. The management of the Company manages and
monitors these risks to ensure that appropriate measures can be
taken in a timely and effective manner.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
missing internal processes, personnel or systems, or from external
events. Responsibility for the management of operational risk rests
primarily with the functional divisions and departments. The key
functions of the Company are guided by its own standard operating
procedures, authorities and reporting framework. The management
of the Company will regularly identify and assess key operational
risks in order to take appropriate risk response measures.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N

BRRBEKRE
ARAEERRBFAS([2024F RRBF KX
BRE(FEB2024FRRBFASHEH - KHE
Rt ) A B & B (R sz S E = i R AR R A 11
B0 8P B R ) A B A OB S P A Uk e AN X B A8 Uk
B WERTETREBENFORER -

MBRHRE

AEEBREMEMREENGAEE BERAE
MEBHNAREN M HRHE | —E - AR TIBK
A MR —#D

TERRRE I EEMRE

ARRABNE BN - EEREREBRRAEXE
BN A% B i Sk R AR R O RT 2 EL e B T A EA
BHENTE o AT RAR AN T ZREM NH
BARER - ELrh — Ll SEFRAPIFTREFE I © BR T 3XPRFI
I HEFEAR AL ARMESL BRI AR TER
BRERATEEGEZNEMER L THBARE -

™ 35 ELR

mZRARIETSEREE MERNENRIELF
BEREBRENENNAR - ARBEEELHZ
FREBEITER RERE - AR XA BEREE

A 4t
&= et ©

“ERR

2ERRIERRRIEF - ABXHETRABRK
SAIMBEHER 2 BRAR - BREERRZE
EEAR LA ENEZDBEAFBE - ARFZ
TR AAG ZFELER - R MERE
RIEHIES| - ARRIEIRERS S E BRI MaT b
ZEERR - WERIVEE RREEEE -



Investment Risk

Investment risk is defined as the possibility that any particular
investment will suffer a loss relative to its expected return. The key
consideration of the investment framework is to balance the risks
and returns of various types of investments, and risk assessment
is therefore an important part of the investment decision-making
process. The Company has an appropriate authorization system
in place and will conduct a detailed analysis before approving
an investment. The progress of the Company’s investments is
updated regularly and will be presented to the Board.

Risks to Manpower Supply and Retention

The Company may be exposed to the risk of not being able to
attract and retain key personnel and talent with the appropriate
and required skills, experience and aptitude, which are necessary
to achieve the Company’s business objectives. The Company will
offer attractive remuneration packages to suitable candidates and
personnel.

Financial Risk

The Company is also exposed to financial risks such as credit risk,
liquidity risk, currency risk and interest rate risk. Details of these
financial risks are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

In response to the above risks, which are significant and
potentially impactful to the Company’s business, the Company
has a number of risk management processes in place to minimize
such risks and to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives. For the policies on the Company’s
risk management system, please refer to the section headed “Risk
Management and Internal Controls” in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Customers and Suppliers

The Company maintains good relationships with its customers
and has established a customer complaint handling mechanism
to receive, analyze and study complaints and to recommend
remedial measures with a view to enhancing the quality of its
products and services. For the Reporting Year, revenues generated
from the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 88.7% of
the Group’s total revenue in the same year, with revenue from
the largest customer accounting for 71.9% of the Group’s total
revenue in the same year.

The Company maintains good relationships with its suppliers
and conducts fair and rigorous evaluations of its suppliers on an
annual basis. For the Reporting Year, amounts paid to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 36.3% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations in the same year, with the
amounts paid to the Group’s largest suppliers accounting for
20.3% of the Group’s total purchases from continuing operations
in the same year.

For the purpose of this section, entities controlled by the same
controller or controlling entity are considered as one customer
or one supplier. Specifically, the entities controlled by Dr. Zhang
Wenzhong, which include Wumei Technology Group, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (such as MDL Wholesale Limited, Yinchuan Xinhua
Commercial (Group) Co., Ltd., and Shanghai Baianju Commercial
Operation Management Co., Ltd.), are considered a single
customer.

So far as the Directors are aware, for the Reporting Year, other
than Dr. Zhang Wenzhong, who had interest in the top five
customers of the Group via (i) entities controlled by Dr. Zhang
Wenzhong and (ii) Chongging Department Store Co.,Ltd. (EE R
E RN AB R QR and its subsidiaries, which were indirectly
owned as to 24.89% by Dr. Zhang Wenzhong, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates or the Shareholders
who, to the best knowledge of the Directors, are interested in
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company had
any interest in the top five customers and suppliers of the Group.
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Employee

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had 1,453 employees
(December 31, 2023: 1,813 employees), most of whom were
based in China. For the Reporting Year, the total staff costs of
the Group were approximately RMB729.6 million (December 31,
2023: approximately RMB871.6 million).

The Group believes it offers its employees competitive
remuneration packages and an environment that encourages
self-development and creativity. The Group provides training
programs for its employees in order to enhance their professional
and technical skills and understanding of the industry. The Group
designs and offers different training programs for employees
at different positions and departments based on their differing
needs. As a result, the Group has generally been able to attract
and retain qualified personnel. The employees are not currently
represented by any labor union. The Group believes that it
maintains a good working relationship with its employees, and
the Group has not experienced any work stoppages due to labor
disputes in the past.

As required by regulations in China, the Group participates in
various employee social insurance plans that are organized by
applicable municipal and provincial governments for its PRC-
based employees, including pension, unemployment insurance,
childbirth insurance, work-related injury insurance, medical
insurance and housing insurance. The Group is required under
PRC law to make contributions from time to time to employee
benefit plans for its PRC-based employees at specified percentages
of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of such employees,
up to a maximum amount specified by the local governments in
China. Bonuses are generally discretionary and based in part on
employee performance and in part on the overall performance
of our business. The Group has granted, and plans to continue
to grant, share-based incentive awards to its employees in the
future to incentivize their contributions to the Group’s growth and
development.

Remuneration of Directors and Five Individuals with
Highest Emoluments

Details of the remuneration of Directors and five individuals with
highest emoluments of the Group are set out in note 9 and
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements in this report
respectively.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group’s property and equipment
during the Reporting Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has one class of shares with a nominal or par
value of US$0.0001 each. Details of the movements in the share
capital of the Company, and details of the Shares issued, during
the Reporting Year are set out in note 29(c) to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2024, the Company's total reserves available
for distribution to equity Shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB336.0 million. Details of the movements in the Company’s
reserves during the Reporting Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 177 and in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Company’s bank loans and other borrowings
as at December 31, 2024 are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the
Reporting Year.

USE OF PROCEEDS
Use of proceeds from the Global Offering

The Shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on December 6, 2024. The
net proceeds raised from the global offering, after deduction
of the underwriting fees and other related listing expenses
paid or payable by the Group in connection with the global
offering, amounted to approximately HK$630.4 million (the “Net
Proceeds”).
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As of the date of this report, there was no change in the intended
use of the Net Proceeds and the expected timeline as previously
disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds
— Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The following table
illustrates the planned use and utilisation of the Net Proceeds:
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Net Proceeds (HK$ million)
FEREFR(EEAT)

Actual amount
of Net Proceeds
utilized during

Net Proceeds the period from Unutilized  Expected timeline

Percentage  incurred from the Listing Date  amountas of  for full utilization

to total Net the global ~ to December December 31,  of the remaining

Planned use of the Net Proceeds Proceeds offering 31, 2024 2024 Net Proceeds
tHRBEE
2024%12A31H

LHEEEA Bz0ufE REBAHT

LREHE ERBE  AERERE 12A31R FEREREN
FrEREFENG EIRR BEENELL  FERERE WEREE HRBANEE RARER
1. To develop new applications and new service modules 42.1% 2655 6.3 259.2  December 31, 2027
1. REFERER KRR 2007%12A318
2. For talent acquisition associated with the expansion of 30.0% 189.1 0.1 189.0  December 31,2027
our operations
2. ERMNEHEREENAT BE 20274124318
3. To selectively pursue strategic cooperation, investments 10.0% 63.0 0 63.0  December 31,2027
and acquisitions that are complementary to our
organic growth strategies, particularly those that can
complement our product offerings, strengthen our
technology capabilities, and solidify our market position
3. AEEMSRARANEAEREREROERA 20274124318
{F RELWE  LAREWHABFANERAS -
SRR MR ) RERRANTSHUNERS
- RERME
4. To expand our sales network and further strengthen our 7.9% 49.8 0 49.8  December 31, 2027
brand reputation
4. BREMMBEBKTE-FNBRMNREEER 2027128318
5. For working capital and general corporate purposes 10.0% 63.0 18.0 450  December 31, 2027
5. AREEASR-—REERE 2027%12A318

Total #5t 100.0%

630.4 244 606.0
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As of December 31, 2024, we had not utilised approximately
HK$606.0 million of the Net Proceeds, all of which are currently
held as short-term bank deposits. The Company expects to utilise
the remaining Net Proceeds in the next 36 months.

Use of proceeds from the Convertible Bond

The Company issued the Convertible Bond in the principal amount
of RMB190 million to Beijing Heyin on June 15, 2022, and on
December 31, 2024, the Group has repaid all the remaining
balance of the principal amount of the Convertible Bond and the
relevant interests accrued, following which the Convertible Bond
has been repaid in full and no balance of the Convertible Bond
remains outstanding.

For details of the Convertible Bond, please refer to the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Convertible
Bond” in this report and the section headed “History,
Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Issuance of Convertible
Bond” of the Prospectus.

As of the date of this report, there was no change in the intended
use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the section headed
“History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Issuance of
Convertible Bond” of the Prospectus, and the announcement of
the Company dated December 31, 2024.

The use of net proceeds from the Convertible Bond as of
December 31, 2024 was as follows:
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RE#1606.0B BB T - FTE TS HURFRE B A191E
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TRREFFEREAR

AATR2022F6 A15HMAEREZTET T AeS
HAARB100B BT 8EIRES « 702024512
A318  X"&EECEEUERELFNESHNME %
R RRERT AR - bR ERESD REER -
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iw R — PR E S | B R R ERTESL -
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B2024F 12 A3 BN A SRR ENFERIEFE
M E R A E) o

HZE2024F12A31H © AR ESFHPTERIEF
HABOT

Approximate

Approximate utilization of
amountof  netproceeds Approximate
Approximate unutilized net from the amount of
percentage  Approximate proceeds as Listing Date to unutilized net
to total net distribution of  at the Listing December 31, proceeds as at
proceeds  net proceeds Date 2024 December 31,
tHEHER
REWRE  2024F12831 120245124
HABAN BHEEEHAYN 31BERBA
EREREAE FMERRFEN  FERUERE FENEFEN  WAEREE
Intended use of proceeds  FriSIBMEETE A MENEI  BOSESHE MBS H BreE HENBNeE
(HKS$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BEAT) (BEBT) (BE%ET) (BBET)
Asset purchases EERE 0.7% 1.44 - - -
For general working capital RiE—REEES
purposes 99.3% 203.74 54.87 54.87 -
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DIRECTORS

Directors for the Reporting Year and up to the date of this report
include:

Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Feng (President)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Zhiyu

Ms. Sun Yuhan (Resigned on January 2, 2025)
Mr. Wang Zhenghao

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Hou Yang
Ms. Cai Lin
Dr. Mao Jiye
Mr. Li Wei

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and the Senior Management
as at the date of this report are set out in the section headed
"Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” of
this report.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation in of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent since the Listing Date to the date of
this report.
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Directors’ Service Contracts and Appointment
Letters

Mr. Zhang Feng, the executive Director entered into a service
contract with the Company on November 26, 2024. Mr. Curtis
Alan Ferguson, the non-executive Director entered into an
appointment letter with the Company on October 24, 2023 and
Mr. Chen Zhiyu, Ms. Sun Yuhan (resigned on January 2, 2025),
and Mr. Wang Zhenghao, the non-executive Directors entered
into an appointment letter with the Company on November 26,
2024. Dr. Hou Yang, Ms. Cai Lin, Dr. Mao Jiye and Mr. Li Wei, the
independent non-executive Directors entered into an appointment
letter with the Company on 26 November 2024.

For each of the above-mentioned service contracts and
appointment letters, the term of appointment shall be for an initial
term of three years from the Listing Date or until the third annual
general meeting of the Company after the Listing Date, whichever
is sooner (subject to retirement as and when required under the
Articles). Either party may terminate the agreement by giving not
less than three months’ written notice.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM
has a service contract with members of the Group that is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions
and Continuing Connected Transactions”, none of the Directors
nor any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the Reporting Year.

Contract of Significance with Controlling
Shareholders

Save as otherwise disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance with
the controlling Shareholders or their subsidiaries, or any contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by the controlling Shareholders or their
subsidiaries, during the Reporting Year or subsisting at the end of
the Reporting Year.
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Management Contract

No contract, concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company,
was entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

Equity-linked Agreement

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Incentive Plans”,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing Shares during the Reporting
Year or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Year.

SHARE INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company has adopted four share incentive plans, which
includes (i) the share incentive plan approved and adopted by the
Shareholders on January 8, 2016 (the “2016 Share Incentive
Plan”), (i) the share incentive plan approved and adopted by
the Shareholders on April 2, 2021 (the “2020 Share Incentive
Plan”), (iii) the post-IPO share incentive plan adopted on
November 27, 2024 which took effect on the Listing Date (the
“2024 First Share Incentive Plan”), and (iv) the post-IPO share
incentive plan adopted on November 26, 2024 which took effect
on the Listing Date (the “2024 Second Share Incentive Plan”).

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Statutory
and General Information — D. Share Incentive Plans” in Appendix
IV of the Prospectus.

1. 2016 Share Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
2016 Share Incentive Plan. After the listing of the Company,
the 2016 Share Incentive Plan will not involve the grant of
any 2016 Awards (defined below) after Listing and will not
be subject to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Purpose

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan is to promote
the success and enhance the value of the Company by
linking the personal interests of the Directors, Senior
Management and employees to those of the Shareholders
and by providing these individuals with incentives for
outstanding performance.

Eligible participants

Those eligible to participate in the 2016 Share Incentive Plan
include technology personnel, business personnel, members
of middle-level management or Senior Management and
any persons agreed on by the Board.

Types of awards

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan permits the awards of options
(the "2016 Option(s)”) and restricted share units (the “2016
RSU(s)") (collectively, the “2016 Award(s)").

Scheme limit

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be
issued pursuant to all 2016 Awards under the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan (the “2016 Equity Incentive Pool”) is a
maximum of 99,850,000 Shares, of which 2016 Options
shall consist of 50,000,000 Shares and 2016 RSUs shall
consist of 49,850,000 Shares. There is no maximum
entitlement of each eligible participant under the 2016
Share Incentive Plan.

Outstanding awards granted under the 2016
Share Incentive Plan

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate number of
Shares which may be issued pursuant to the outstanding
2016 Options granted under the 2016 Share Incentive
Plan amounted to 29,755,750 Shares, representing
approximately 3.31% of the issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares) as at the date of this report. As of December
31, 2024, the aggregate number of Shares which may be
issued pursuant to the outstanding 2016 RSUs granted
under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan amounted to 500,000
Shares, representing approximately 0.06% of the issued
Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this
report.
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Exercise period and vesting period

The Shareholders can determine the exercise period and
vesting period for grantees of the 2016 Share Incentive
Plan. A 2016 RSU may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan at any time during
a period to be determined by each grantee, which period
may commence on the vesting date or the Listing Date,
whichever is later but shall end in any event not later than
10 years from the vesting date.

A 2016 Option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan at any time during a
period to be determined by each grantee, which period may
commence on the vesting date but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the vesting date. The exercise
of 2016 Options is subject to the completion of the listing
of the Company. Any 2016 Option which is not exercised
within the exercise period shall lapse and re-enter the 2016
Equity Incentive Pool. The grantee shall cease to have any
right in 2016 Options which have lapsed.

In general, the vesting period of the 2016 RSUs and the
2016 Options shall commence a year after the grant date.
Provided that the grantee shall continue to be a full-time
employee of the Company, 25% of each of the 2016 RSUs
and the 2016 Options granted in the 2016 Award shall vest
in the grantee upon the second anniversary of the grant
date and every anniversary of the same thereafter.

Exercise Price

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan shall be administered by
Shareholders’ meetings, or upon authorization by the
Shareholders’ resolution, by the Board or other units of
the Company so authorized. (the “Administrator of the
2016 Share Incentive Plan”). The Administrator of the
2016 Share Incentive Plan shall have the authority in its
sole discretion to, among others, determine the exercise
price of each 2016 Award. There is no amount payable on
application or acceptance of the 2016 Awards.
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Duration

The 2016 Share Incentive Plan shall continue in effect for
a term of five years from the relevant effective date, and
hence has expired in 2021. The Company will not grant
further 2016 Options or 2016 RSUs under the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan after the listing of the Company.

2020 Share Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
2020 Share Incentive Plan as approved and adopted by the
Board and the Shareholders in March 2021 and April 2021,
respectively. The 2020 Share Incentive Plan does not involve
the grant of any 2020 Awards (defined below) after Listing
and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purposes of the 2020 Share Incentive Plan are to attract
and retain the best available personnel for positions of
substantial responsibility, to provide additional incentives to
employees, and directors of the Group and to promote the
success of the Company’s business.

Eligible participants

Those eligible to participate in the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan include employees of the Group as well as any persons
agreed on by the Board or by any director or representative
authorized by the Board (the “Participants”).

Types of awards

The Administrator of the 2020 Share Incentive Plan (as
defined below) may, from time to time, select from among
all Participants to whom awards in the form of share options
(the “2020 Option(s)”) or a right to purchase restricted
share units (the “2020 RSU(s)"”) (collectively, the “2020
Award(s)”) will be granted, and will determine the nature
and amount of each 2020 Awards.
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Scheme Limit

The overall limit on the number of Shares which may be
issued pursuant to all 2020 Awards under the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan (the “2020 Equity Incentive Pool”) is the
sum of (i) a maximum of 60,000,000 Shares which may
be issued in the form of 2020 Options or 2020 RSUs, and
(i) other Shares as approved by the Board, including such
number of Shares equivalent to the unused portion of the
scheme limit of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan as at the
expiry of such plan. There is no maximum entitlement of
each eligible participant under the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan.

Outstanding awards granted under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan

As of December 31, 2024, the aggregate number of
Shares which may be issued pursuant to the outstanding
2020 Options granted under the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan amounted to 30,286,600 Shares, representing
approximately 3.37% of the issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares) as at the date of this report. As of December
31, 2024, the aggregate number of Shares which may be
issued pursuant to the outstanding 2020 RSUs granted
under the 2020 Share Incentive Plan amounted to 4,927,700
Shares, representing approximately 0.55% of the issued
Shares (excluding treasury shares) at the date of this report.

Exercise period and vesting period

The exercise period and vesting period for the grantees
under the Share Incentive Plan in 2020 shall be determined
by the Board of Directors.
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A 2020 Option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2020 Share Incentive Plan at any time during
a period to be determined by each grantee, which period
may commence on the vesting date but shall end in any
event not later than five years from the vesting date, unless
otherwise approved by the Board. To exercise a 2020
Option, a grantee shall pay an exercise price according to
this 2020 Share Incentive Plan as well as any relevant award
agreement. A grantee shall cease to have any right in a 2020
Option which has lapsed, either because the 2020 Option
is not exercised by the grantee or for which the grantee
has not paid the exercise price. Such 2020 Option shall re-
enter the Company’s Equity Incentive Pool. The exercise of
2020 Options is subject to the satisfaction of the condition
precedent that the restrictions on 2020 RSUs may only be
removed after the listing of the Company on any domestic
or international stock exchange.

In general, the vesting period of the 2020 RSUs and the
2020 Options shall commence a year after the grant date.
Provided that the grantee shall continue to be a full-time
employee of the Company, 25% of each of the 2020 RSUs
and the 2020 Options shall vest in the grantee upon the
second anniversary of the grant date and every anniversary
of the same thereafter.

Exercise Price

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan shall be administered by the
Board (the “Administrator of the 2020 Share Incentive
Plan”). In relation to the 2020 Share Incentive Plan, subject
to the provisions thereunder, the Administrator of the
2020 Share Incentive Plan shall have the authority in its sole
discretion to, among others, to determine exercise price of
2020 RSUs and 2020 Options. There is no amount payable
on application or acceptance of the 2020 Awards.

Duration

The 2020 Share Incentive Plan shall continue in effect for
a term of five years from the relevant effective date. As at
the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2020 Share
Incentive Plan is approximately 1 year. The Company will not
grant further 2020 Options or 2020 RSUs under the 2020
Share Incentive Plan after the listing of the Company.
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2016 Share Incentive Plans and 2020 Share
Incentive Plans

The table below shows the details of the outstanding 2016
Awards and 2020 Awards granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan:

Details of movements during the Reporting Year

RREEENRDRE
The weighted
average
closing price
Closing price~ of the Shares
of the Shares  immediately
immediately before the dates
before the dates on which
Vested/ on which the awards
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Outstanding the awards  were exercised
Name or Vesting period”  Exercise price asat  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat  were granted or vested ¥
category of  Position/ Types of Date of (from date perShare  January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December 31, (where the (where the
grantee Relationship awards grant Expiry date of grant) (U.S. dollar) 2024 Year Year Year Year 2024 shares are listed) shares are listed)
RRER
g SRERRY  EGRASE
R024E BN R0F ERARR  ERARAN
ERAZ R0 BRTRE 1818 RS £8E/ i & 128318 HEHE METSURRY
EENER  BAL/BE REgR REAH LT (BRLAHE) (¥n)  WAEAE  FECRY BEE  FECHE  FECHE  HREGR  (BROLE)  (MRHLE)
Mr. Zhang Feng - Co-founder, 2016 Options~ 2018/1/31 2033131 4 100 5,900,000 0 0 0 0 5,900,000 NA NA
(R Executive Director
and President
R# BagnA W16FHRE B i B 1
#TEEREH
Mr. Zhang Feng - Co-founder, 016RSUs 2015711 203071 4 000 1,000,000 0 1,000,000 0 0 - NA NA
(%8) Evecutive Director
and President
Rt BRgiA-  20165%Rs TR TR
aTEEREH  RREL
1 grantees Senvice Provider 2016 Options 2018119 20331119 4 100 10,000 0 0 0 0 10,000 NA NA
Participant
\RERA  BBHEEBZEE 06FBRE B i il
476 qrantess  Employee 2016 Options~ 2015/5/1- 203051 Immediately vested 05-15 24,061,500 0 0 0 215,750 23,845,750 NA NA
participants 2020330 2035330 tod years
A6EEEA  ERSEE WI6EERE UHBEEME B i )l
113 grantees  Employee 2016 RSUs 2015318~ 2030318~ Immediately vested 0.00 10,608,859 0 10,055,109 0 53,750 500,000 NA NA
participants 2020319 2035319 to4 years
13%FEA  [ERBEE WIEERRH R TR TR
B
844 grantees  Employee 2020 Options~ 2019/11/1- 2009M/1- 34 years 152716 32,821,300 2,779,500 0 0 5332200 30,268,600 NA NA
participants 2024/811 2034/8/1
BUERRRA RR2EE W0EERE 3B4E Eyli Eyli
9B grantees  Employee 2020RSUs  202021- 203021- 34 years 000 3,762,500 3,697,700 1,512,500 0 1,020,000 4,927,700 NA NA
participants 2041111 203411
BEERN  RR2EE W05 3545 Eyli Eyli
BGEDS
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Notes:

The vesting period begins one or two years after the date
of grant. The exercise period of the 2016 Options or 2020
Options shall commence from the date on which the relevant
Options become vested or upon the completion of the global
offering of the Company, whichever is later, and end on the
expiry date, subject to the terms of the 2016 Share Incentive
Plan or 2020 Share Incentive Plan (as the case may be) and
the share option award agreement signed by the grantee.

The 2016 RSUs and 2020 RSUs vested during the Reporting
Year were vested on or before the Listing Date. As such, the
weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the awards were exercised or
vested is not available.

Please refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements for the fair value of the 2016 Awards and 2020
Awards at the date of grant and the accounting standard
and policy adopted.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under all schemes of the
Company during the Reporting Year (i.e. 65,452,050 Shares)
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
for the Reporting Year is approximately 11.85%.

2024 First Share Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the

2024

First Share Incentive Plan conditionally adopted by

the Shareholders by way of a written resolution passed

on November 27, 2024 and took effect from the Listing

Date.

The terms of the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan will

be governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. For the

purpose of the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan, references to

Shares include treasury shares, and references to the issue

of or subscription for Shares include the transfer of treasury

shares.
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Purpose

The purpose of the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan is to
provide the Company with a flexible means of remunerating,
incentivizing, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/
or providing benefits to eligible participants; to align the
interests of eligible participants with those of the Company
and the Shareholders by providing such eligible participants
with the opportunity to acquire shareholding interests in
the Company; and to encourage eligible participants to
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of the
Company and to enhance the value of the Company and its
Shares for the benefit of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.

Eligible participants

Eligible participants include (A) any person who is an
employee (whether full-time or part-time), director or
officer of any member of the Group (the “Employee
Participant(s)”), (B) any person who is an employee
(whether full-time or part-time), director or officer of (i) a
holding company of the Company, (ii) subsidiaries of the
holding company other than members of the Group, or
(iii) any company which is an associate of the Company,
including those directly or indirectly controlling or
controlled by the Company or directly or indirectly under
common control with the Company (the “Related Entity
Participant(s)”), and (C) persons providing services to the
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary
and usual course of business which are in the interests of
the long term growth of the Group as determined by the
scheme administrator pursuant to the criteria set out in
the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan (the “Service Provider
Participant(s)”).

Service Provider Participants shall include the following
categories: (a) supplier of services, including suppliers,
advisors, consultants, agents or other professional firms
with expertise in (i) research and development, production
or marketing of technologies, technical services, hardware
and other related services, including in connection with
the retail industry, (ii) business expansion and development
strategy, advisory or execution, including in connection
with the local retail industry, and (iii) corporate governance
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strategy, advisory or execution; and (b) business partners
that collaborate with the Group in connection with, among
others, research and development, marketing or sales of
the systems, solutions, products or services provided by
our Group, whose work or expertise has contributed or
will contribute significantly to the growth of the Group's
financial or business performance. However, placing
agents or financial advisors providing advisory services for
fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, or professional service
providers such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance
or are required to perform their services with impartiality
and objectivity may not be Service Provider Participants for
the purposes of the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan.

The Board, including the independent non-executive
Directors, is of the view that the above types of eligible
participants are in line with the Company’s business needs
and have the potential to contribute to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Company and hence are in
line with the purpose of the plan.

Grant of awards

The Board or scheme administrator may, from time to time,
in their absolute discretion select any eligible participant to
be a grantee and, subject to the rules of the plan, grant an
award under the plan (the “2024 First Award(s)”) to such
grantee during the scheme period. The nature, amount,
terms and conditions of any such Award so granted shall be
determined by the Board or scheme administrator in their
sole and absolute discretion.

An 2024 First Award may be take the form of: (i) an
award which vests in the form of the right to subscribe for
and/or be issued such number of Shares as the scheme
administrator may determine at the issue price in accordance
with the terms of the plan (the “2024 First Share
Award(s)"); or (ii) an award which vests in the form of the
right to subscribe for such number of Shares as the scheme
administrator may determine during the exercise period at
the exercise price in accordance with the terms of the plan
(the “2024 First Share Option(s)”).
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Maximum number of Shares

The total number of 2024 First Award Shares which may
be issued pursuant to all 2024 First Awards to be granted
under the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan together with the
number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to any
awards to be granted under any other share schemes of the
Company is 44,334,506 Shares, being approximately 5%
of the Shares (excluding any treasury shares) in issue as at
the date of this report (the “2024 First Scheme Mandate
Limit”). For the avoidance of doubt, Shares issued or to
be issued pursuant to awards made under the 2016 Share
Incentive Plan and the 2020 Share Incentive Plan shall
not be subject to the 2024 First Scheme Mandate Limit.
Shares which would have been issued pursuant to 2024
First Awards which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the plan (or the terms of any other share schemes
of the Company) shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the 2024 First Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of 2024 First Award Shares which may
be issued pursuant to 2024 First Awards granted to Service
Provider Participants under the 2024 First Share Incentive
Plan is 8,866,901 Shares, being approximately 1% of the
Shares in issue (excluding any treasury shares) as at the date
of this report (the “Service Provider Sublimit”).

Maximum entitlement of a grantee

Unless approved by the Shareholders in the manner set out
in the plan, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of 2024 First Awards granted and to
be granted under the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan and
any other share schemes of the Company to each eligible
participant (including both exercised and outstanding 2024
First Share Options) in any 12 month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of Shares in issue (excluding any
treasury shares). Any further grant of 2024 First Awards to
an eligible participant which would exceed this limit shall be
subject to separate approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting with the relevant eligible participant and their
associates abstaining from voting.
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Any grant of 2024 First Awards to any Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates, shall be subject to
the prior approval of the remuneration committee of the
Board (excluding any proposed recipient of the grant) and
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
proposed recipient of the grant). Where any grant of Share
Awards (but not any grant of Share Options) to any Director
(other than an independent non-executive Director) or chief
executive of the Company or any of their associates would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all 2024 First Awards granted under the 2024 First Share
Incentive Plan together with awards granted under any
other share schemes of the Company (excluding any awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant scheme)
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the Shares in issue (excluding any treasury share)
at the date of such grant, or where any grant of Awards
to an independent non-executive director or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) would result in the number of Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all 2024 First Awards already
granted under the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan together
with awards granted under any other share schemes of the
Company (excluding any awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the relevant scheme) to such person in the 12
month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of Shares in issue
(excluding any treasury shares) at the date of such grant,
such further grant of 2024 First Awards must be approved
by shareholders of the Company in general meeting in the
manner required, and subject to the requirements set out, in
the Listing Rules.
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Exercise price and exercise period of 2024 First
Share Options

The exercise price for 2024 First Share Options shall be no
less than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange on the grant date; and (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the grant date.
The exercise period for 2024 First Share Options shall be not
later than 10 years from the grant date. A 2024 First Share
Option shall lapse automatically and shall not be exercisable
(to the extent not already exercised) on the expiry of the
tenth anniversary from the grant date. The foregoing
provisions relating to exercise price are in line with the
requirements of the Stock Exchange and the purpose of the
plan.

Issue price of 2024 First Share Awards

The issue price for 2024 First Share Awards shall be such
price determined by the scheme administrator and notified
to the grantee in the Award Letter. For the avoidance of
doubt, the scheme administrator may determine the issue
price to be nil. The foregoing provisions relating to exercise
price are in line with the requirements of the Stock Exchange
and the purpose of the plan.

Vesting period

The vesting date in respect of any 2024 First Award shall
be not less than 12 months from the grant date, provided
that for the Employee Participants the vesting date may
be less than 12 months from the grant date (including on
the grant date) in the following circumstances: (a) grants
of “make whole” awards to new Employee Participants
to replace share awards they forfeited when leaving their
previous employers; (b) grants to an Employee Participant
whose employment is terminated due to death or disability
or occurrence of any out of control event; (c) grants of
2024 First Awards which are subject to the fulfilment of
performance targets; (d) grants of 2024 First Awards that
are made in batches during a year for administrative and/
or compliance requirements, in which case the vesting date
may be adjusted to take account of the time from which
the 2024 First Award would have been granted if not for
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such administrative or compliance requirements; (e) grants
of 2024 First Awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting
schedule such that the Awards vest evenly over a period of
12 months; or (f) grants of 2024 First Awards with a total
vesting and holding period of more than 12 months.

Awards letter and terms of a 2024 First Award

The Company shall, in respect of each 2024 First Award,
issue a letter to each grantee setting out the terms and
conditions of the Award (the “2024 First Award Letter”),
which may include the number of Shares in respect of
which the Award relates, the purchase price or exercise
price (as applicable), the vesting criteria and conditions,
the vesting date, any minimum performance targets that
must be achieved and any such other details as the scheme
administrator may consider necessary, and requiring the
grantee to undertake to hold the 2024 First Award on the
terms of the 2024 First Award Letter and be bound by the
provisions of the rules of the plan.

The scheme administrator may determine the amount (if
any) payable on application or acceptance of a 2024 First
Award and the period within which any such payments
must be made, which amounts (if any) and periods shall be
set out in the 2024 First Award Letter.

Duration

The 2024 First Share Incentive Plan shall terminate on
the earlier of: (a) the expiry of the scheme period, being
the period of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date and ending on the 10th anniversary of the adoption
date of the plan; and (b) such date of early termination
as determined by the Board, following which no further
Awards will be offered or granted under the plan, provided
that notwithstanding such termination, the plan and the
rules thereof shall continue to be valid and effective to the
extent necessary to give effect to the vesting and exercise
of any Awards granted prior to the termination and such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights already
granted to any grantee. As at the date of this report, the
remaining life of the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan is
approximately 9 years and 9 months.
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Since the adoption of the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan up
till December 31, 2024, no 2024 First Awards have been
granted.

2024 Second Share Incentive Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
2024 Second Share Incentive Plan conditionally adopted
by the Board by way of a written resolution passed on
November 26, 2024 and took effect from the Listing Date.
The 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan is a share scheme
funded by existing Shares that is subject to, and complies
with, the applicable requirements in Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Purpose

The purpose of the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan is to
provide the Company with a flexible means of remunerating,
incentivizing, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/
or providing benefits to eligible participants; to align the
interests of eligible participants with those of the Company
and Shareholders by providing such eligible participants
with the opportunity to acquire shareholding interests in
the Company; and to encourage eligible participants to
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of the
Company and to enhance the value of the Company and its
Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as
a whole.

Eligible participants

Eligible participants include (A) any person who is an
employee (whether full-time or part-time), director or officer
of any member of the Group; (B) any person who is an
employee (whether full-time or part-time), director or officer
of (i) a holding company of the Company, (ii) subsidiaries
of the holding company other than members of the Group,
or (iii) any company which is an associate of the Company,
including those directly or indirectly controlling or controlled
by the Company or directly or indirectly under common
control with the Company, and (C) any consultant, advisor,
distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent, business
partner, joint venture business partner or service provider
of the Group or any related entity of the Company, who as
determined by the scheme administrator in its sole discretion
has contributed or will contribute to the growth of the
Group.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

B2024F 5 — RSBt S ERMEES
2024128310 © HERETM2024F5F
—H45E -

2024 FE - RO A BE T E

LNTAESESEBNR20245F11 A26HEA
HEMRZERB IGERMNN2024F E =KD
BEETENEZREIBE 8 LM RS
o 2024F B BB EI A—IHREAR
RO EHRGNETE - BETARFE WK
BIE17ERERMRE -

B

20245 % — IRy AEhET 8 5§ AR R AR
RN - BB - %8 - %ZE - WMERS
FAEERSEEREENNTN  EBRA
RERZ2AERHKEARARABRENKS
ﬁf&"#mﬂﬁﬁ?@$ Al MR B M2 — B
VEEEERSEE/ARANREERK
Eﬂ ENELER  UEARRA RN
ERMNERITARRRERD 2 BE -

aﬁ*@ 1E BIRA)AEBERKE QRN
BE(TwEREFRE) EFHSHABED
EﬁAi (B) ()RR RIHFE R A A OK
SEKE AR ASNIER AR EB A
k(i) /AR %Eﬁjmﬁﬂ'ﬂﬁﬁm
ZIN/N TE&&W&T%&EK A E A
EXHEEHNAF)NREE (THERBEsR
B EBFRHSMABENEIFAAL  ROX
SESARRTABERRENTAHEAA
B KiEE - ABn - TP #HER K
BA - ZEBEERH  AERREHAFER
MRS HER - B EIEEARBRER
REEENEREXGELTR -

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

Grant of awards

The Board or scheme administrator may, from time to time,
in their absolute discretion select any eligible participant
to be a grantee and, subject to the rules of the plan, grant
an award under the plan (the “2024 Second Award(s)")
to such grantee during the scheme period. The nature,
amount, terms and conditions of any such Award so granted
shall be determined by the Board or scheme administrator in
their sole and absolute discretion.

An 2024 Second Award may be take the form of: (i) an
award which vests in the form of the right to purchase
such number of Shares as the scheme administrator may
determine at the purchase price in accordance with the
terms of the plan (the “2024 Second Share Award(s)"); or
(ii) an award which vests in the form of the right to purchase
such number of Shares as the scheme administrator may
determine during the exercise period at the exercise price in
accordance with the terms of the plan (the “2024 Second
Share Option(s)”).

Maximum number of Shares

The total number of 2024 Second Award Shares which may
be granted under the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan is
46,789,006 Shares, being approximately 5.2% of the Shares
(excluding any treasury shares) in issue as at the date of this
report, which shall consist of existing Shares only. For the
avoidance of doubt, no new Shares shall be issued by the
Company (including transfer of treasury shares) pursuant to
the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan. There is no maximum
entitlement of each eligible participant under the 2024
Second Share Incentive Plan.
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Award Letter and terms of an Award

The Company shall, in respect of each 2024 Second
Award, issue a letter to each grantee setting out the terms
and conditions of the Award (the “2024 Second Award
Letter”), which may include the number of Shares in respect
of which the 2024 Second Award relates, the purchase
price or exercise price (as applicable), the vesting criteria and
conditions, the vesting date, any minimum performance
targets that must be achieved, the exercise period and any
such other details as the scheme administrator may consider
necessary, and requiring the grantee to undertake to hold
the 2024 Second Award on the terms of the 2024 Second
Award Letter and be bound by the provisions of the rules
of the plan. The exercise period of the 2024 Second Share
Options shall in any event be no longer than 10 years from
the date of grant.

The scheme administrator may determine the exercise price
(in respect of the 2024 Second Share Awards), the purchase
price (in respect of the 2024 Second Share Options), the
amount (if any) payable on application or acceptance of
a 2024 Second Award and the period within which any
such payments must be made, which amounts (if any) and
periods shall be set out in the 2024 Second Award Letter.

Exercise or vesting of 2024 Second Awards

After the applicable vesting date for any Award:

(i) 2024 Second Share Option may be exercised in whole
or in part by the grantee giving notice in writing to
the scheme administrator together with a remittance
for the required exercise price. Within 10 business
days after receipt of the notice and related remittance
in full, the scheme administrator shall transfer to the
grantee the relevant 2024 Second Award shares; and

(i)  for a 2024 Second Share Award, within 10 business
days following the vesting date, subject to receipt in
full of the aggregate purchase price payable (if any),
the scheme administrator shall transfer to the Grantee
the relevant number of 2024 Second Award shares.
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The scheme administrator shall determine the methods by
which the exercise price or the purchase price may be paid.

For the purposes of transferring Shares following the
exercise/vesting of a 2024 Second Award, to the extent that,
at the determination of the scheme administrator, it is not
practicable for the grantee to receive 2024 Second Award
shares due to applicable legal or regulatory restrictions,
the scheme administrator may sell on-market at prevailing
market prices the number of Shares the grantee is entitled
to and pay to the grantee the actual selling price of such
Shares.

Duration

The 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan shall terminate on
the earlier of: (a) the expiry of the scheme period, being the
period of 10 years commencing on the adoption date and
ending on the 10th anniversary of the adoption date of the
plan; and (b) such date of early termination as determined
by the Board, following which no further 2024 Second
Awards will be offered or granted under the plan, provided
that notwithstanding such termination, the plan and the
rules thereof shall continue to be valid and effective to the
extent necessary to give effect to the vesting and exercise of
any 2024 Second Awards granted prior to the termination
and such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights
already granted to any grantee. As at the date of this report,
the remaining life of the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan is
approximately 9 years and 9 months.

Since the adoption of the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan
up till December 31, 2024, no 2024 Second Awards have
been granted.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

From the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, save as disclosed
in the section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this report, there has not been any
change in information relating to any Directors that is required
to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that section,
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Name of Director Nature of interest
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Number of share capital as at
Shares held” December 31, 2024*
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EEns

Mr. Zhang Feng

REEME

Beneficial owner

SRS BEHEAA
Beneficiary of a trust
FrExmA

Mr. Chen Zhiyu Beneficiary of a trust

BREFRE BREX @A

Mr. Li Wei Beneficial owner

UL BHEEAA

EARQTE BITRA

Frs s E® HBAE D e
6,900,000 (L) 0.77%
5,000,000 (L)® 0.56%
3,698,734 (L) 0.41%

4,000 (L)
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(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Mr. Zhang Feng’s entitlement to receive up to 5,900,000 Shares
pursuant to the exercise of 2016 Options granted to him under the
2016 Share Incentive Plan, subject to the conditions of those 2016
Options, and 1,000,000 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the 2016
RSUs granted to him under the 2016 Share Incentive Plan, which
have already vested.

(3)  The Shares held by Vigorous Link Group Limited for Mr. Zhang Feng
and Mr. Chen Zhiyu, respectively. Vigorous Link Group Limited is a
limited liability company incorporated under the laws of the BVI and
is wholly owned by a trust which holds Shares for the benefit of
certain Directors, senior management and employees of the Group.
Pursuant to the relevant trust arrangement, the exercise of the
voting rights attached to all the Shares held by Vigorous Link Group
Limited is ultimately directed and controlled by the Board.

(4)  The percentage is calculated based on the total number of
899,257,733 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024.

(5)  Less than 0.01%.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (i) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Incentive Plans”, at
no time during the Reporting Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate; and
none of the Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the
age of 18, had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised
any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (excluding the Directors and chief executive
of the Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have, an
interest and/or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest

BRREE BB EENE

Dr. Zhang Wenzhong (“Dr. Zhang")? Interest in controlled

corporations
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720245128318

FEXHEL([REL D

Celestial Limited®

Odor Nice Limited®@

Retail Enterprise Corporation Limited?

Vigorous Link Group Limited®

Olive Spark Limited®

Lovely Tree Holdings Limited®

IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P.®

IDG-Accel China Capital Il Investors L.P.4

Handy Cloud Limited®

R AR
Beneficial owner
E=mAA
Beneficial owner
EREAA
Beneficial owner
BmEEA
Beneficial owner
E=mAA
Beneficial owner
EREAA
Beneficial owner
BE=mAA
Beneficial owner
EREAA
Beneficial owner
EmEEA
Beneficial owner

A A

s

\;

EAREEBRITRE

RO BED MR E D e
502,452,135 (L) 55.87%
423,470,475 (L) 47.09%
68,880,650 (L) 7.66%
10,101,010 (L) 1.12%
75,000,000 (L) 8.34%
13,179,525 (1) 1.47%
37,119,350 (L) 4.13%
3,651,067 (L) 0.41%
162,862 (L) 0.02%
1,196,429 (L) 0.13%
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The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Celestial Limited is wholly owned by D&W Inc., which is wholly
owned by Dr. Zhang. Odor Nice Limited is wholly owned by
Interface Holding Inc., which is owned by D&W Inc. and Retail
Enterprise Corporation Limited as to 66.44% and 33.56%,
respectively. Retail Enterprise Corporation Limited is wholly owned
by Wumei Southern Technology Company Limited* (¥)%/@ %5
BHEAREMEAQF), which is in turn wholly owned by Wumei
Technology Group, Inc. Wumei Technology Group, Inc. is owned by
Beijing Zhongsheng Huate Technology Company Limited* (3£ 37 5
FEHRB AR AF) and Beijing Jingxi Guigu Technology Company
Limited* (b R R AR A EHE AR A 7)) as to approximately 19.40%
and 77.61%, respectively; Beijing Zhongsheng Huate Technology
Company Limited is owned by Dr. Zhang and Beijing Jingxi Guigu
Technology Company Limited as to 99% and 1%, respectively; and
Beijing Jingxi Guigu Technology Company Limited is wholly owned
by Dr. Zhang. Accordingly, Dr. Zhang is deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by Celestial Limited, Odor Nice Limited and Retail
Enterprise Corporation Limited.

Vigorous Link Group Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI, is wholly owned by a trust
which holds Shares for the benefit of certain Directors, senior
management and employees of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant
trust arrangement, the exercise of the voting rights attached to
all the Shares held by Vigorous Link Group Limited is ultimately
directed and controlled by the Board.

Lovely Tree Holdings Limited and Olive Spark Limited, each a private
company incorporated in the BVI, are investment holding companies
of IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P., IDG-Accel China Capital Il
Investors L.P. and Hong Xing Capital Holdings I, Ltd., which are
ultimately controlled by Mr. HO Chi Sing and Mr. ZHOU Quan; IDG-
Accel China Capital Il L.P. holds more than 78% equity interests
in each of Lovely Tree Holdings Limited and Olive Spark Limited.
As confirmed by IDG Capital, IDG-Accel China Capital Il Investors
L.P. is the side fund of IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P. as the main
fund; IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P. and IDG-Accel China Capital Il
Investors L.P., each a limited partnership established in the Cayman
Islands, are ultimately controlled by Mr. HO Chi Sing and Mr. ZHOU
Quan. Handy Cloud Limited, a private company incorporated in the
BVI, is an investment holding company, the voting shares of which
are wholly owned by Direct Galore Limited, also a BVI company,
which is in turn ultimately owned and ultimately controlled by Mr.
HO Chi Sing. Mr. ZHOU Quan is a partner of IDG Capital and Mr.
HO Chi Sing is the chief financial officer of IDG Capital.

The percentage is calculated based on the total number of
899,257,733 Shares in issue as of December 31, 2024.

*  For identification purposes only
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any person (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or which are recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

From the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold and
redeemed any listed securities of the Company (including sale of
treasury shares (as defined in the Listing Rules)). The Company did
not hold any treasury shares as of December 31, 2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief available to the
Shareholders as a result of their holding of the Shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the BVI, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws and
regulations, the Directors, auditor or other officer of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him or her as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company
in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his or her favour, or in which he or she is
acquitted.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force over the
Reporting Year. The Company has taken out liability insurance to
provide appropriate coverage for the Directors.
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INTERESTS OF THE DIRECTORS IN
COMPETING BUSINESSES

The Directors confirm that for the Reporting Year, apart from the
business of the Group, none of the Directors has any interest in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business that is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the following transactions of
the Group constituted continuing connected transactions (the
“Continuing Connected Transactions”) of the Group for the
Reporting Year. All capitalized terms used in this section shall have
the same meaning defined in the Prospectus, unless otherwise
specified.

During the Reporting Year, the Group engaged in certain
transactions with the following persons that constituted
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

Name of connected person

BEALEE

Wumei Technology Group, Inc. (&R EBAR A7)
("Wumei Technology”, together with its subsidiaries and,
for this section only, excluding the MDL Wholesale Group,
B&T Entities and Yinchuan Xinhua Group
(all as defined below), the “Wumei Group”)

MERMBEEBERAF([PERE ] - EREMBLRBE
[YEEE] - BERLFEME - TEEEBERERBR
REIREMEAR BREERBRR)IHMEAEHEEE
BRHBRAARIREMBARIABEAER TX))

MDL Wholesale Limited (“MDL Wholesale”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “MDL Wholesale Group”)

EiERHEREERAR ([ FEmEMEE ] ERANELQR
i S EEEEEE )

Shanghai Baianju Commercial Operation Management Co.,
Ltd. (BB EZEEELEEIEFRAE) (“Shanghai
B&T"), which is the holding company of entities that
manage and operate stores bearing the brand of B&T
(B ZJE) in the PRC (collectively, “B&T Entities")
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Connected relationship

a company which is ultimately owned as to
approximately 97.02% of its equity interest by Dr.
Zhang, and hence an associate of Dr. Zhang

—REEARBEHAELIT.02%BHREN AT - 5
SRIBLAERA

subsidiary of Wumei Technology, and hence an
associate of Dr. Zhang

YEREHHB AT - BURKRELHBEA

subsidiary of Wumei Technology, and hence an
associate of Dr. Zhang



Name of connected person

BEALER

PEARERELEEEARAR(LEBERE]
HERZHRNPEEE LELE A LE mIEREZER AR
(R BEREER])

Dmall Zhilian (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.*
(ZEBBAER) B BR A F]) (“Dmall Zhilian”)

ZEREH QL FOBBAERAR([ZHEH )

Yinchuan Xinhua Commercial Group Co., Ltd. BRI ¥TEBHE
P S S B D AR A B)) (Shanghai Stock Exchange: 600785)
("Yinchuan Xinhua”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Yinchuan Xinhua Group”)

RIFFEEERESRERNERAR( LERHFR S
600785) ([ #RJIIFTEE | - =R HE D FSHE R
[R)IFTEEE))

Dmall Fresh (Beijing) E-commerce Co., Ltd.* (Z2i#FTEE(HLR)
BT REEAMR2AF) (“Dmall Fresh (Beijing)”,
together with its subsidiaries from time to time,
“Dmall Fresh Group”)
ZEHMEULR)EFEBER AR ([ SREE (LT |-
HERETRHONEAR  SiEBA SHEHER])

*  For identification purpose only
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Connected relationship

YEREHHB AT - SUARELHBEA

a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which
is indirectly held as to more than 10% by Wumei
Technology, and therefore a connected subsidiary of
the Company

—REMERREESFABB10%ERNARFET
FEEWBAR - HRARTNEEHE LR

subsidiary of Wumei Technology, and hence an
associate of Dr. Zhang

YERBOMB AR - BARELTHBEA

a company that is owned as to 51% by Mr. Zhang
Feng after the Restructuring (as defined in the
Prospectus), and hence an associate of
Mr. Zhang Feng

—FREE(EERBRERR)RARELEEES1%
RESHNA] - MUBRIEFERBEA
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The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements

prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to

these continuing connected transactions entered into by the

Group during the Reporting Year.

*

Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreement

On October 10, 2024, Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital Technology

Co, Ld* (ZE(ERIHHEF R ZH AR QX F) (“Dmall
(Shenzhen) Digital”) (for itself and on behalf of other
members of the Group) entered into a framework

agreement with Wumei Technology (for itself and on behalf

of the other group members of Wumei Group) (the “Wumei
Retail Core Service Cloud Framework Agreement”) to
regulate the provision of retail core service cloud solutions
and related services (the “Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions”) by the Group to Wumei Group.

The initial term of the Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing Date
and will end on December 31, 2043 (both days inclusive).
Separate underlying agreements will be entered into,
which will set out the precise scope of services, service fees
calculation, method of payment and other details of the
service arrangement in the manner provided in the Wumei
Retail Core Service Cloud Framework Agreement.

(i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions

Pursuant to the Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement, we shall provide Retail Core
Service Cloud Solutions to Wumei Group and, in
return, the Wumei Group shall pay us service fees in
accordance with the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms (as defined in the Prospectus.

For identification purpose only
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Reasons for and benefits of the transaction

Provision of Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions forms
our ordinary business. In particular, as a leading full-
spectrum omni-channel retail digitalization solution
provider in China, according to Frost & Sullivan, we
are the natural choice for our above listed connected
persons (being among the top retailers in their
respective markets) for acquiring retail digitalization
solutions. The connected persons discussed in this
section have found our service offerings beneficial
to their own operations and have been our valued
long-term customers. Our strategic partnership with
Wumei Group, in particular, is the bedrock of our
early success. We implemented our cloud solutions
in Wumei Group’s nationwide store network and
our functionalities through their complex operation.
Our experience with Wumei Group has inspired us to
deliver many popular modules that are applicable to
other retail formats in China and overseas markets.
We expect to continue to provide Retail Core Service
Cloud Solutions to them following the Listing.

Pricing policy

We will follow the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms (as defined in the Prospectus) when providing
Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to Wumei Group.
The pricing and other terms in a specific service
agreement under the Wumei Retail Core Service
Cloud Framework Agreement will be determined
based on arm'’s length negotiation, and we will only
enter into such a specific service agreement if (i) the
terms and conditions are fair and reasonable and
based on normal or no less favorable commercial
terms as compared to our provision of similar Retail
Core Service Cloud Solutions to other customers
who are independent third parties; and (ii) it is in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. Prior to any specific service agreement
is entered into, our legal department will review
the legal terms of the agreement and our finance
department will review the pricing terms of the
agreement, in order to ensure the terms of such
agreement are consistent with and no less favorable to
the Group than the terms on which we provide similar
Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to independent
customers.
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Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB1,235.1 million, RMB1,327.4
million and RMB1,435.2 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was approximately RMB1,033.5
million.

Wumei Framework Agreement (Regarding
lease of properties owned by Wumei Group
by the Group)

On October 10, 2024, Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital (for itself
and on behalf of other members of the Group) entered
into a framework agreement with Wumei Technology
(for itself and on behalf of the other group members of
Wumei Group) (the “Wumei Framework Agreement”) to
regulate the provision by Wumei Group of (i) property lease
and (i) lease of advertising space to the Group.

The initial term of the Wumei Framework Agreement
commenced on the Listing Date and will end on December
31, 2026 (both days inclusive). Separate underlying
agreements will be entered into, which will set out the
precise scope of services, service fees calculation, method of
payment and other details of the service arrangement in the
manner provided in the Wumei Framework Agreement.

(i) Lease of properties owned by Wumei Group
by the Group

We have been leasing and will continue to lease
various office space in buildings located in Beijing and
Shenzhen owned by Wumei Group as our offices.
In return, we pay Wumei Group rent and property
management fees. To avoid disruption to the continued
operations of the Group, we expect to, upon expiry of
existing leases, continue to rent the properties from
Wumei Group. The lease terms of the existing leases
and future leases to be entered hereunder are, and are
expected to remain, variable terms (in that they have
fixed initial terms with options for extension).
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Reasons for the transactions

The buildings owned by Wumei Group in Beijing
and Shenzhen are located in the prime business
districts where many technology companies set up
their headquarters and offices and are close to public
transport. As such buildings have the desired features
we required for our offices, we engaged in arm’s
length negotiations with Wumei Group and leased
certain office space located in its buildings.

Pricing terms and policy

The annual rent is calculated as a fixed per-day-per-
square-meter rate multiplied by the size of the rental
property and the number of days in a year subject to
the lease. The monthly management fee is calculated
as a fixed per month per square meter rate multiplied
by the size of the rental property.

Both the rates of the rent and the rates of the
management fee were determined based on the
parties’ arm’s length negotiations with reference to
the actual rents, management fees and other utilities
that apply to other tenants in the same building, and
the prevailing market rentals and management fees of
similar grade and sized properties in the same vicinity,
charged by landlords that are independent third
parties.

The pricing and other terms in a specific property lease
agreement under the Wumei Framework Agreement
will be determined based on arm’s length negotiation,
and we will only enter into such an agreement if (i)
the terms and conditions are fair and reasonable and
based on normal or no less favorable commercial
terms as compared to those made available from
landlords of comparable property in the vicinity who
are independent third parties; and (ii) it is in the best
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole. Our business department will annually survey
and review the prevailing market price and terms of
similar property rentals to ensure our foregoing pricing
policy can be effectively implemented.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

X5 HEH

YEREBEIL R EARYIFRERE T
RIZLERE - REPHRA RN
RERPAE - B AR - AR
BRETABRMANAEMFEAIZED
B BMEYEEBETATER X
HRLREETHETHAZR -

EEIRARBFE

FHERBREFIIANEEE TR
HEY RN EREE - FOHHERYG
8 -BREREREABYIANETE
BLRALEYENEEE -

HeNBXLERBNERGKL2ER
ARE—E2FEAEPNERES &
BERHEMKEE  UNHBIE=)
2 T P UCER AT SR ELAR 1| K A5 AR W) 2E £
BiomisHE MNERER A% TER
FHEBETE °

WERIELR IR T AR ERE R
HTE B R B RS S A FIERETE -
BRFBERATERT LA
& (VERLGEBATAE - AER
EBEANERII A & LB EN B
F=TETPIREMBEEGR - R
BARARBERABEEREMNS © 2
REBE P ST AL R EHBEUYE
HERIRITHE R - AR LdE
BERRESABRIT -

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

(if)

N

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB7.2 million, RMB4.6 million
and RMB7.8 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was approximately RMB4.2
million.

Lease of advertising space from Wumei
Group by the Group

Pursuant to the Wumei Framework Agreement, we
may lease advertising spaces (such as displays areas on
walls, lift areas, shop venues and so on) in the physical
stores of Wumei Group that Wumei Group manages
and has the right to lease out. In return, we shall pay
Wumei Group rent. The leased advertising spaces
are primarily used by the Group in the provision of
marketing and advertising cloud solutions to our
customers. The term of each individual lease may vary
substantially depending on the marketing project(s)
the relevant advertising space is intended for.

Reasons for the transactions

Wumei Group is one of the largest multi-brand
retailers in China and operates a large number of
stores with extensive geographical reach in China.
The advertising spaces in Wumei Group's stores can
be viewed by a wide audience and are desirable
advertising resources. As such, we have leased
and will continue to lease advertising spaces from
Wumei Group from time to time in order to serve the
customers.

Pricing terms and policy

The rent may be calculated based on one or more of
the following methods: (a) a fixed monthly or annual
rent, usually applicable to leases that are longer than a
month; or (b) a lump sum, usually applicable to short-
term leases that are shorter than a month.
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The rent of each individual lease shall be determined
based on the parties’ arm’s length negotiations with
reference to a range of factors including the rents
charged by Wumei Group for other comparable
advertising spaces in the same store or in the same
vicinity, which are set out in the standard pricing
sheets Wumei Group would issue from time to time
that apply to all potential lessees of the advertising
spaces in the same store, and the intended duration of
the lease.

The rent and other terms in a specific lease agreement
under the Wumei Framework Agreement will be
determined based on arm’s length negotiation, and
we will only enter into such an agreement if (i) the
terms and conditions are fair and reasonable and
based on normal or no less favorable commercial
terms as compared to those made available from
lessors of comparable advertising spaces in the vicinity
who are independent third parties; and (ii) it is in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole. Our business department will annually survey
and review the prevailing market price and terms of
similar advertising spaces to ensure our foregoing
pricing policy can be effectively implemented.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB7.0 million, RMB15.0 million
and RMB15.0 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was nil.
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MDL Wholesale Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement

On November 8, 2024, Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital (for itself
and on behalf of other members of the Group) entered into
a framework agreement with MDL Wholesale (for itself and
on behalf of the other group members of MDL Wholesale
Group) (the “MDL Wholesale Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement”) to regulate the provision of
Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions by the Group to MDL
Wholesale Group.

The initial term of the MDL Wholesale Retail Core Service
Cloud Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing
2044 (both days
inclusive). Separate underlying agreements will be entered

Date and will end on December 31,

into, which will set out the precise scope of services, service
fees calculation, method of payment and other details of
the service arrangement in the manner provided in the
MDL Wholesale Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreements.

(i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions

Pursuant to the MDL Wholesale Retail Core Service
Cloud Framework Agreement, we shall provide Retail
Core Service Cloud Solutions to MDL Wholesale
Group and, in return, they shall pay us service fees in
accordance with the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms.

Reasons for and benefits of the transaction

The reasons for and benefits of the Retail Core Service
Cloud Solutions is set out in the section headed
“1. Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreement — (i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions —
Reasons for and benefits of the transaction” above.
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Pricing policy

We will follow the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms when providing Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions to MDL Wholesale Group. The pricing and
other terms in a specific service agreement under the
MDL Wholesale Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreement will be determined based on arm’s length
negotiation, and we will only enter into such a specific
service agreement if (i) the terms and conditions
are fair and reasonable and based on normal or no
less favorable commercial terms as compared to
our provision of similar Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions to other customers who are independent
third parties; and (ii) it is in the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Prior to
any specific service agreement is entered into, our
legal department will review the legal terms of the
agreement and our finance department will review the
pricing terms of the agreement, in order to ensure the
terms of such agreement are consistent with and no
less favorable to the Group than the terms on which
we provide similar Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions
to independent customers.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB92.0 million, RMB106.0
million and RMB106.0 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was approximately RMB33.0
million (see note).

Note: Reference is made to the Prospectus headed “Connected Transactions
— Our Connected Persons” and “Connected Transactions — A1. Wumei
Retail Core Service Cloud Framework Agreement — Historical amounts,
annual caps and basis of annual caps”. Defined terms in the Prospectus
have the same meaning when used herein. Following the MDL
Reorganization, the transactions covered under the MDL Wholesale
Retail Core Service Cloud Framework Agreement represents the Retail
Core Service Cloud Solutions we provide to MDL Wholesale Group
only following the MDL Reorganization. Transactions entered into with
Maidelong Entities prior to the MDL Reorganization in 2024 do not
constitute connected transactions for the purpose of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. By way of reference, the transaction amount with
Maidelong Entities prior to the MDL Reorganization for the year ended
December 31, 2024 amounted to approximately RMB183.2 million.
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MDL Wholesale Framework Agreement

On October 30, 2024, Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital (for itself
and on behalf of other members of the Group) entered
into a framework agreement with MDL Wholesale (for
itself and on behalf of the other group members of MDL
Wholesale Group) (the “MDL Wholesale Framework
Agreement”) to regulate the provision of property lease by
MDL Wholesale Group to the Group.

The initial term of the MDL Wholesale Framework
Agreement commenced on the Listing Date and will end
on December 31, 2026 (both days inclusive). Separate
underlying agreements will be entered into, which will set
out the precise scope of services, service fees calculation,
method of payment and other details of the service
arrangement in the manner provided in the MDL Wholesale
Framework Agreement.

(i) Lease of properties owned by MDL
Wholesale Group by the Group

We have been leasing and will continue to lease
office space in the building located at No. 1425,
Zhenbei Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, the PRC,
which is owned by MDL Commercial Group Co.,
Ltd. R EREREE B AR A F]), a subsidiary of MDL
Wholesale Group, as our offices. In return, we pay
MDL Wholesale Group rent and property service fees.
To avoid disruption to the continued operations of the
Group, we expect to, upon expiry of existing leases,
continue to rent the properties from MDL Wholesale
Group. The lease terms of the existing leases and
future leases to be entered hereunder are, and are
expected to remain, variable terms (in that they have
fixed initial terms but allow options for extension).

Reasons for the transactions

The building subject to this transaction is located
in one of the prime business districts in Shanghai
and close to public transport. As such building has
the desired features we required for our offices, we
engaged in arm’s length negotiations with MDL
Wholesale Group and leased certain office space
located in such building
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Pricing terms and policy

The rent is calculated as a fixed per-day-per-square-
meter rate multiplied by the size of the rental property
and the number of days of the lease. The monthly
property service fee is calculated as a fixed monthly
rate for each type of service subscribed for by the
Group (such as property management fees, internet
connection fees and so forth).

Both the rates of the rent and the rates of the property
service fee were determined based on the parties’
arm’s length negotiations with reference to the actual
rents, property service fees and other utilities that
apply to other tenants in the same building, and the
prevailing market rentals and property service fees of
similar grade and sized properties in the same vicinity,
charged by landlords that are independent third
parties.

The pricing and other terms in a specific property lease
agreement under the MDL Wholesale Framework
Agreement will be determined based on arm'’s length
negotiation, and we will only enter into such an
agreement if (i) the terms and conditions are fair and
reasonable and based on normal or no less favorable
commercial terms as compared to those made
available from landlords of comparable property in
the vicinity who are independent third parties; and
(ii) it is in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Our business department
will annually survey and review the prevailing market
price and terms of similar property rentals to ensure
our foregoing pricing policy can be effectively
implemented.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMBO.1 million, RMBO.1 million
and RMBO.5 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was nil.
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5. B&T Framework Agreement

On October 10, 2024, Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital (for itself
and on behalf of other members of the Group) entered

into a framework agreement (the “B&T Framework
Agreement”) with Shanghai B&T (for itself and on behalf
of the other B&T Entities) to regulate the provision of Retail

Core Service Cloud Solutions by the Group to B&T Entities.

The initial term of the B&T Framework Agreement

commenced on the Listing Date and will end on December

31, 2026 (both days inclusive). Separate underlying

agreements will be entered into, which will set out the

precise scope of services, service fees calculation, method of

payment and other details of the service arrangement in the

manner provided in the B&T Framework Agreement.

0)

N

Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions

Pursuant to the B&T Framework Agreement, we shall
provide Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to B&T
Entities and, in return, B&T Entities shall pay us service
fees in accordance with the Retail Core Service Cloud
Pricing Terms.

Reasons for and benefits of the transaction

The reasons for and benefits of the Retail Core Service
Cloud Solutions is set out in the section headed
“1. Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreement — (i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions —
Reasons for and benefits of the transaction” above.

Pricing policy

We will follow the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms when providing Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions to B&T Entities. The pricing and other
terms in a specific service agreement under the B&T
Framework Agreement will be determined based
on arm’s length negotiation, and we will only enter
into such a specific service agreement if (i) the terms
and conditions are fair and reasonable and based
on normal or no less favorable commercial terms
as compared to our provision of similar Retail Core
Service Cloud Solutions to other customers who are
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independent third parties; and (ii) it is in the best
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as
a whole. Prior to any specific service agreement is
entered into, our legal department will review the legal
terms of the agreement and our finance department
will review the pricing terms of the agreement, in
order to ensure the terms of such agreement are
consistent with and no less favorable to the Group
than the terms on which we provide similar Retail Core
Service Cloud Solutions to independent customers.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB10.0 million, RMB11.5 million
and RMB12.8 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was approximately RMB9.2
million.

Dmall Zhilian Framework Agreement

As part of its ordinary business, Dmall Zhilian develops
and provides smart retail AloT hardware, software and
Al solutions (including but not limited to store security
systems, intelligent loss prevention systems, intelligent
merchandise replenishment solutions, intelligent package
sorting solutions, intelligent cashier solutions and so forth)
as well as related design, installation and maintenance
services (together, “Zhilian AloT Solutions”). On
November 8, 2024, Dmall Life Network (for itself and on
behalf of other members of the Group) entered into a
framework agreement (the “Dmall Zhilian Framework
Agreement”) with Dmall Zhilian (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiary(ies) from time to time) to regulate the provision
of Zhilian AloT Solutions by Dmall Zhilian to the Group.
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The initial term of the Dmall Zhilian Framework Agreement
commenced on the Listing Date and will end on December
31, 2026 (both days inclusive). Separate underlying
agreements will be entered into, which will set out the
precise scope of services, service fees calculation, method
of payment and other details of the service arrangement
in the manner provided in the Dmall Zhilian Framework
Agreement.

Reasons for the transactions

The Company uses Dmall Zhilian, its subsidiary, to carry
out procurement and sales activities in connection with the
Group’s AloT business. As such, it is part of the Group's
ordinary business for it to procure Zhilian AloT Solutions as
an intra-group transaction.

Pricing terms and policy

For the Zhilian AloT Solutions, Dmall Zhilian charges us fees
using one or a combination of the following methods:

(@ for purchases of AloT hardware, the price is
determined on a cost-plus basis and subject to arm’s
length negotiation between the parties taking into
account various factors including the purchase volume
and hardware type/model in the orders.

(b)  for purchases of AloT softwares and solutions, the
primary pricing methods are (a) pricing based on
cost-plus basis, subject to arm’s length negotiation
between the parties taking into account various
factors including the purchase volume and software
type/model in the orders and (b) a certain percentage
of the revenue of the Group received from providing
such AloT solutions to the Group’s external customers,
which shall be determined based on arm’s length
negotiation between the parties taking into account
various factors including the relative contribution of
Dmall Zhilian (and its subsidiaries), on the one hand,
and the other members of the Group, on the other
hand, to the development of external customer base
and the provision of such solutions to the customers,
in terms of the costs and resources expended on
developing the relevant hardwares and softwares,
ongoing operations and marketing efforts.
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(c)  for design and installation services for AloT hardware,
the price is typically quoted as a fixed fee, which is
determined based on a cost-plus basis taking into
account various factors including the estimated
number of work hours required and the workers’
rates, the costs of the materials to be used, costs of
project management, logistics, quality controls and
other related expenses.

(d) for maintenance and technical support services
in relation to AloT solutions (if such service is not
included in the original warranty), the price is
determined through arm'’s length negotiation between
the parties taking into account various factors
including the scope, modules and duration of the AloT
solutions to which such service relates.

The pricing terms and other terms for the provisions of
Zhilian AloT Solutions between the Group and Dmall Zhilian
are determined through arm’s length negotiation. We will
only enter into a specific service agreement under the Dmall
Zhilian Framework Agreement if (i) the terms and conditions
are fair and reasonable and based on normal or no less
favorable commercial terms as compared to the prevailing
market price and terms for comparable products and
services (available from vendors who are independent third
parties); and (ii) it is in the best interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Our business department
will annually survey and review the prevailing market price
and terms of similar products and services to ensure our
foregoing pricing policy can be effectively implemented.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026,
the relevant annual caps under this transaction are expected
to be RMB429.3 million, RMB450.8 million and RMB473.3
million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction for the
Reporting Year was approximately RMB325.1 million.
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Yinchuan Xinhua Framework Agreement

On October 30, 2024, Dmall Life Wuhan Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (% B & & (BUR) B B BR 2 Al) (for itself and on
behalf of other members of the Group) entered into a
framework agreement (the “Yinchuan Xinhua Framework
Agreement”) with Yinchuan Xinhua (for itself and on
behalf of the other group members of Yinchuan Xinhua
Group) to regulate the provision of Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions by the Group to Yinchuan Xinhua Group.

The initial term of the Yinchuan Xinhua Framework
Agreement commenced on the Listing Date and will end
on December 31, 2026 (both days inclusive). Separate
underlying agreements will be entered into, which will set
out the precise scope of services, service fees calculation,
method of payment and other details of the service
arrangement in the manner provided in the Yinchuan
Xinhua Framework Agreement.

(i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions

Pursuant to the Yinchuan Xinhua Framework
Agreement, we shall provide Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions to Yinchuan Xinhua Group and, in return,
the Yinchuan Xinhua Group shall pay us service fees in
accordance with the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms.

Reasons for and benefits of the transaction

The reasons for and benefits of the Retail Core Service
Cloud Solutions is set out in the section headed
“1. Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreement — (i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions —
Reasons for and benefits of the transaction” above.

For identification purpose only
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Pricing policy

We will follow the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms when providing Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions to Yinchuan Xinhua Group. The pricing and
other terms in a specific service agreement under
the Yinchuan Xinhua Framework Agreement will
be determined based on arm’s length negotiation,
and we will only enter into such a specific service
agreement if (i) the terms and conditions are fair and
reasonable and based on normal or no less favorable
commercial terms as compared to our provision of
similar Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to other
customers who are independent third parties; and
(i) it is in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Prior to any specific service
agreement is entered into, our legal department will
review the legal terms of the agreement and our
finance department will review the pricing terms of
the agreement, in order to ensure the terms of such
agreement are consistent with and no less favorable to
the Group than the terms on which we provide similar
Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to independent
customers.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB82.0 million, RMB93.5 million
and RMB104.1 million, respectively.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was approximately RMB59.7
million.
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Dmall Fresh Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement

On November 8, 2024, Dmall Life Network (for itself and
on behalf of other members of the Group) entered into
a framework agreement (the “Dmall Fresh Retail Core
Service Cloud Framework Agreement”) with Dmall Fresh
(Beijing) (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries from
time to time) to regulate the provision of Retail Core Service
Cloud Solutions by the Group to Dmall Fresh Group.

The initial term of the Dmall Fresh Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing Date
and will end on December 31, 2026 (both days inclusive).
Separate underlying agreements will be entered into,
which will set out the precise scope of services, service fees
calculation, method of payment and other details of the
service arrangement in the manner provided in the Dmall
Fresh Retail Core Service Cloud Framework Agreement. The
Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions required by Dmall Fresh
Group are mainly to support the Dmall app it operates.

(i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions

Pursuant to the Dmall Fresh Retail Core Service Cloud
Framework Agreement, we shall provide Retail Core
Service Cloud Solutions to Dmall Fresh Group and, in
return, Dmall Fresh Group shall pay us service fees in
accordance with the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms.

Reasons for and benefits of the transaction

The reasons for and benefits of the Retail Core Service
Cloud Solutions is set out in the section headed
“1. Wumei Retail Core Service Cloud Framework
Agreement — (i) Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions —
Reasons for and benefits of the transaction” above.
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Pricing policy

We will follow the Retail Core Service Cloud Pricing
Terms when providing Retail Core Service Cloud
Solutions to Dmall Fresh Group. The pricing and other
terms in a specific service agreement under the Dmall
Fresh Retail Core Service Cloud Framework Agreement
will be determined based on arm’s length negotiation,
and we will only enter into such a specific service
agreement if (i) the terms and conditions are fair and
reasonable and based on normal or no less favorable
commercial terms as compared to our provision of
similar Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to other
customers who are independent third parties; and
(i) it is in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Prior to any specific service
agreement is entered into, our legal department will
review the legal terms of the agreement and our
finance department will review the pricing terms of
the agreement, in order to ensure the terms of such
agreement are consistent with and no less favorable to
the Group than the terms on which we provide similar
Retail Core Service Cloud Solutions to independent
customers.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and
2026, the relevant annual caps under this transaction
are expected to be RMB20.0 million, RMB20.0 million
and RMB20.0 million.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction
for the Reporting Year was nil.
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Dmall Fresh Marketing Resource Framework
Agreement

On November 8, 2024, Dmall Life (China) Digital Technology
Co., Ltd.* (Z B A )& (R BB F BRI AR A7) (for itself
and on behalf of other members of the Group) entered into
a framework agreement (the “Dmall Fresh Marketing
Resource Framework Agreement”) with Dmall Fresh
(Beijing) (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries from time
to time) to regulate the provision of marketing resource
by Dmall Fresh Group to the Group (including provision of
marketing resources and coupons issued by Dmall Fresh
Group and other third parties) (“marketing resources”).

The initial term of the Dmall Fresh Retail Marketing Resource
Framework Agreement commenced on the Listing Date
and will end on December 31, 2026 (both days inclusive).
Separate underlying agreements will be entered into,
which will set out the precise scope of services, service fees
calculation, method of payment and other details of the
service arrangement in the manner provided in the Dmall
Fresh Marketing Resource Framework Agreement.

Pursuant to the Dmall Fresh Marketing Resource Framework
Agreement, Dmall Fresh Group shall provide marketing
resources to us and, in return, we shall pay Dmall Fresh
Group service fees in accordance with the pricing terms set
out below.

Reasons for the transactions

Dmall Fresh Group has business relationship with a large
number of high calibre brand operators, payment channel
operators and other businesses and enterprises. In the
ordinary course of Dmall Fresh Group’s business, it conducts
marketing by issuing coupons, which can be used as cash by
its consumers for direct consumption of products listed on
the Dmall app, which are either under Dmall Fresh Group'’s
expenses or reimbursed by the brand operators, payment
channel operators and other enterprises eventually. In order
to serve our retailer customers who require us to gather
marketing resources for them, we purchase marketing

For identification purpose only
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resources and coupons issued by Dmall Fresh Group and
other third parties at a pricing term more particularly set out
below based on arm’s length negotiation. In addition, we
sometimes give these coupons issued by Dmall Fresh Group
to our customers for marketing or promotion purpose. If
these coupons are ultimately used by our customers in the
platform operated by Dmall Fresh Group, we will pay Dmall
Fresh Group the face value of these coupon actually used.

Pricing terms and policy

Dmall Fresh Group charges us fees using one or a
combination of the following methods:

(@)  for provision of marketing services required by our
customers, the price is determined typically based
on a certain percentage of the marketing resources
procured by Dmall Fresh Group which are used by our
customers, which in turn shall be determined based
on arm’s length negotiation between the parties
taking into account various factors including the our
ability in providing the required marketing resources
required by our customers, the extent to which we
need to procure the marketing resources from Dmall
Fresh Group and the fee rate we are willing to give to
procure such marketing resources from Dmall Fresh
Group.

(b)  for coupons issued by Dmall Fresh Group under our
requirement, the price is determined subject to arm'’s
length negotiation between the parties taking into
account various factors including the face value of the
relevant coupons and the cost to Dmall Fresh Group
issuing such coupons.
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The pricing terms and other terms for the provisions of
marketing resources by Dmall Fresh Group to the Group
are determined through arm’s length negotiation. We
will only enter into a specific service agreement under the
Dmall Fresh Marketing Resource Framework Agreement
if (i) the terms and conditions are fair and reasonable and
based on normal or no less favorable commercial terms
as compared to the prevailing market price and terms for
comparable products and services (available from vendors
who are independent third parties); and (ii) it is in the best
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Our business department will annually survey and review
the prevailing market price and terms of similar products
and services to ensure our foregoing pricing policy can be
effectively implemented.

Annual caps and transaction amount

For the years ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026,
the relevant annual caps under this transaction are expected
to be RMB3 million, RMB3 million and RMB1 million.

The actual aggregate amount under this transaction for the
Reporting Year was approximately RMBO.2 million.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive
Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions of the Group that are subject
to the annual review requirement during the Reporting Year and
have confirmed that these transactions were all entered into in
accordance with the matters set out in Rule 14A.55 of the Listing
Rules.
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Confirmations from the Auditor

The Auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing
connected transactions for the year ended December 31, 2024 in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised), “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Auditor has issued its letter to the Board containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions as set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules which stated that:

a) nothing has come to the attention of the Auditor that
causes the Auditor to believe that the above continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to the attention of the
Auditor that causes the Auditor to believe that the above
continuing connected transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group;

) nothing has come to the attention of the Auditor that
causes the Auditor to believe that the above continuing
connected transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

d)  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the above
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to
the attention of the Auditor that causes the Auditor to
believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed
above have exceeded the relevant annual cap as set by the
Company.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, save as disclosed
above, no related party transactions disclosed in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should
be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the aforementioned
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
THE REPORTING YEAR

There have been no significant events that have materially affected
the Group subsequent to December 31, 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024
have been audited by KPMG, which will retire at the conclusion
of the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM. KPMG has been the auditor of the Company since the
Listing Date.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the provisions of the CG Code set
out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as its own
corporate governance code. During the period from the Listing
Date to December 31, 2024, the Company has complied with
all applicable provisions of the CG Code. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
report.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices on a regular basis to ensure compliance with
the CG Code and to maintain the Company’s high standard of
corporate governance practices.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company believes the continued growth rests on integrating
social values into the Company’s business and is committed to
being a responsible corporate citizen. The Company is committed
to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits
and development, protecting the environment, giving back to the
community and achieving sustainable growth.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, the Group has complied in all
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the Reporting Year, there was no material breach of, or
non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, during the period from the Listing Date and up to the date
of this report, not less than 25% of the issued share capital of the
Company (being the public float applicable to the Shares) were
held in public hands.

On behalf of the Board
Chairman
Curtis Alan Ferguson

Hong Kong,
March 18, 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Dmall Inc.
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dmall
Inc. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 171 to 328, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at December 31, 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and notes, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at December 31, 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the British Virgin Islands, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

FREETSEH

RREAFAERERMANERHE - RREAH
REMBBRNBEITRAERNTR - GBEFHE
ERMEFERGAVBTRRL L AZ RRETR
Be o AT EHELEREHEBNER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition of retail core service cloud

ZEROVRBE VSRR

AL E IR a5 Rt 2(2) B 7 R -

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on Note 2(z).

Key Audit Matter
HRESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAeMETNAEEZEE

The Group’s revenue derived from retail core service
cloud amounted to RMB1,810 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, which accounted for 97% of the
Group's total revenue during the year.
BE2024F12A31BILFE - ERERETEROR
BENKRRAARE1810BET  h EXEFANENK
#=HI97% °©

Revenue is charged on retail customers either by taking a
percentage of the customers’ sales (“take rate model”),
or by a fixed subscription fee.
HAKRREBKRREFHERNEET S ([ HMAE
XKEEHEETERFIE -

We identified revenue recognition of retail core service
cloud as a key audit matter because it is significant to the
Group's consolidated financial statements and revenue
is one of the key performance indicators of the Group
and could be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectation.

HRZERORBEN K =RRYE BEXRENGRETH
BRAEEAXE  HmeE ESENTEXEEREZ
— WHARRTEKXKBRAFEHMT IR - Bt
IR ES SRR T FE -

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition of
retail core service cloud included the following:

BRI EZEER O REERRERANETIZFRE T
&IF :

o evaluating the design, implementation and
operational effectiveness of the management’s key
internal controls over revenue recognition with the
assistance of our information technology specialists;

e  HEZEMEERMERNHREIT - HEEEBHERA
EEHIe R - BieET AL

o assessing the appropriateness of the revenue
recognition accounting policies adopted by
inspecting the main terms and conditions in each
type of sales contracts;

e FERREBREHESHNNEERIRRMGHE - FHEFT
RANKEERSTRRNEE ML

o comparing the revenue recorded with sales
contracts and the records of sales reconciliation
with the customers, on a sample basis;

o DU A SRS BREHES O RETFHH
EHRGCEETTHR
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

B BT R

FRETEE®)

o confirming with customers, on a sample basis, the
transaction amount for the year and performing
alternative procedures for unreturned confirmations
by inspecting the sales contract, records of sales
reconciliation with the customers, sales invoice and
bank receipt; and

e MBS REEFHERILFENRSH R @ With
RNEENERAENTERER - TERREHES
4 EEFHHEHRCE - HERRRRITHRRK

B &
o inspecting underlying documentation for journal

entries which met specified risk-based criteria.
s RENEGETRBRFENS DB/

Assessing potential impairment of goodwiill

FHEEENEERE

Refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on Note 2(n)(ii).

B2 RTRE BRI BARM T 14 RAE2(0)i)a) 8 71 -

The Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B ETNETREEZER

The Group has recognized goodwill in the amount of
RMB152 million in prior years. The majority of goodwill
has been allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU")
of Shenzhen Enjoy (Note 14).
EXEEERNBEFERADEARKBIS2BEETT - K
PEBENEZEANISENREELSU([REELE
1) (FfaE14) -

Our audit procedures to assess goodwill impairment
included the following:

B AR ERENETEF R TSR

o involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating the appropriateness of management’s
valuation methodology with reference to prevailing
accounting standards and the reasonableness of
the discount rate applied by comparison with the
discount rates for companies in the same industry;

o  AEHMNAREEZERNHET - 2RBITEFE
AIFHEEIREHNMETEREE I - WHEBERTT
FRAIMBAE X L BORF AR A MR RS 18
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

FARENTEE®)

Management performs goodwill impairment assessment
both annually and whenever there is an indication of
impairment and compares the carrying amount of the
assets group containing goodwill with the recoverable
amounts of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGUs")
to determine the amount of impairment loss, if any. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is based on the higher
of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
which has been derived from discounted forecast cash
flow models. Those models use several key assumptions
and inputs, including discount rate, future revenue
growth rates and profit margin.
EﬁFti&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁmH%%ﬂaLﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁ
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ANEREARFEE -

We identified goodwill impairment assessment as a key
audit matter because the assessment requires significant
management judgements and estimations, which are
inherently uncertain and may be affected by management
bias.

BB ENEHRA R —HRREFFE - AR
ZAh R EEREELEAAEG KA - MZEHE X
EET RS FETHETEL - YARERIERERANTE -

comparing the key assumptions used in prior year's
discounted cash flow forecast with the current
year's actual performance to consider if there was
any indication of management bias;
%Lfiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁw¢%ﬁ%m%ﬁﬁ
 BAFENERREETLR  UEEESRHF
Eaﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%,
evaluating the reasonableness of the future revenue
growth rates and profit margin by comparing
historical performance and externally available
information;
BB LB L 54 RIMBAISE R
BEXRNBEENSIBML
obtaining from management the sensitivity analyses
of discount rate and profit margin, considering
whether there were any indicators of management
bias; and
WEIREIRS AT X LA ER GRS 4E
R ZERLHFEEMNEERBRENTR : &
evaluating the reasonableness of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements, including
disclosures of key assumptions, judgements and
sensitivities, with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards.
2RATEAERNNER - FFEFEMHERRKE
WAMA@E B aiERARRR - HE REURE
DITHVHEE °
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Information other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s
Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY %BEH &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence and communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY %BEH &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Man Wai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

March 18, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AEEER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #E2024F 12831 ILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAEREZI7R)

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B = AR¥ET T ARETTT
Continuing operations BEREEK
Revenue Wz 5 1,859,002 1,585,357
Cost of revenue R (1,112,626) (1,030,656)
Gross profit EF 746,376 554,701
Other net (loss)/income H i (E518), W F 5 6 (102,555) 115,502
Research and development expenses e (412,751) (520,887)
Selling and marketing expenses THE K E R (CYREL) (150,923)
General and administration expenses —MRATE R X (307,969) (259,413)
Impairment loss on trade and other B 5 R EMEWFIERHE
receivables 518 7(c) (4,660) (1,784)
Loss from operations KEEE (173,998) (262,804)
Net finance costs BB KA 7(a) (4,474) (13,344)
Share of losses of associates DG E N B EE (215) =
Fair value change of convertible SRR EEE IR AR
redeemable preferred shares BEZH 27 (2,275,701) (476,160)

Loss before taxation from continuing R B 8 & & £ AIBRBIAT
operations BB 7 (2,454,388) (752,308)
Income tax benefit FriETiEHR 8(a) 978 3,321

Loss for the year from continuing REFEKEEBNFR

operations BB (2,453,410) (748,987)
Discontinued operations EARIEREEK
Profit for the year from discontinued RE BRI EEBHNEA

operations A 4 233,134 93,548
Loss for the year FAEE (2,220,276) (655,439)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
meEAaR

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31HIEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAARHEEFI7R)

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt e ARETT ARETTT

Attributable to: DT ZIE G
Equity shareholders of the Company ZIN/NEIV 5305 (2,195,277) (592,361)
— Continuing operations i (2,428,411) (685,909)
— Discontinued operations — BRI EET 233,134 93,548
Non-controlling interests I e (24,999) (63,078)
— Continuing operations i (24,999) (63,078)
Loss for the year FAEE (2,220,276) (655,439)

Loss per share (expressed in RMB BREEB(USRARE R

per share) 57R) 11
Basic and diluted AERREE (1.13)
Loss per share — Continuing BREE -BESEER

operations (expressed in RMB (UAERARETIIR)

per share) 11
Basic and diluted BERREE (1.31)

The notes on pages 180 to 328 form part of these financial 51808 EF328E MM EBXZSH KRR —
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of &% o FEfTZAR D BIRE RS A% B 4F S A FE (L A% B 5215
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in ~ FFHIFE29(b) °

Note 29(b).

IS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AeoEnRAEEERER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #E2024F 12831 ILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAEREZI7R)

2024 2023

20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR¥ET T ARETTT

Loss for the year FREER (2,220,276) (655,439)

Other comprehensive income for the FREMEEUE (BRIEER
year (after tax and reclassification B ERE)

adjustments):
Item that will not be reclassified to profit #T & E# 7B E 18z

or loss: HH :
Exchange difference on translation of RNA RSB ImTRIAEAE K,

financial statements of the Company =5 (124,499) (111,135)
Item that may be reclassified BE1Z AJBEERT DA R Y

subsequently to profit or loss: HH -
Exchange difference on translation of AR LASND BE B 15 BR

financial statements of subsidiaries NP NG Y B g

with functional currencies other than BOFE X =5

RMB 3,482
Other comprehensive income FREMSENE
_fortheyear (124,927) . (107,653)_
Total comprehensive income FRAEERZEE

for the year (2,345,203) (763,092)
Attributable to: D& IEEAG
Equity shareholders of the Company R AR (2,320,218) (699,327)
— Continuing operations —RBEREERS (2,553,352) (792,875)
— Discontinued operations —BRIHEEETR 233,134 93,548
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AE T (24,985) (63,765)
— Continuing operations —BEREER (24,985) (63,765)
Total comprehensive income FRZHERREE

for the year (2,345,203) (763,092)

The notes on pages 180 to 328 form part of these financial Z5180E = #3228 B MK ERZETBREN —
&
B

statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BB &

At December 31, 2024 72202412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AARHEEFI7R)

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
FisE AREET T ARBT T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment EISE L 12 69,811 76,799
Intangible assets B EE 13 144,070 83,681
Interest in associates R —FEE & A R R s 585 200
Goodwill 5k 14 151,993 151,993
Prepayments, deposits and other TBRARIE - Re REMERK
receivables FIE 18 4,933 20,082
Other financial assets BEthemEE 16 = 196,574
Deferred tax assets FEFHIBEE 26(b) 4,260 4,260
375,652 533,589
Current assets REBEE
Other financial assets EfhemERE 16 87,095 34,935
Inventories and other contract costs GFEREME KIRKA 4,657 11,269
Contract assets BRIEE 2,508 3,237
Trade receivables B 5 WA 17 248,242 165,142
Prepayments, deposits and other TBRFIE -« Re REMERK
receivables TIE 18 83,388 75,496
Restricted bank deposits SRR FIERTTIER 19 56,598 20,933
Cash and cash equivalents He KBS EY 19 801,046 533,171
1,283,534 844,183
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables E FIENRIA 20 98,533 86,563
Accrued expenses and other payables FEETE R R EAEFRIE 21 261,975 422,749
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER R EAEK 22 445,296 202,076
Contract liabilities HBHBE 23 88,679 91,288
Lease liabilities HERE 24 23,582 25,428
Convertible redeemable preferred shares ] & a] & [0] (8 55 A% 27 = 6,965,493
Current taxation BNHEARLIE 26(a) 200 4
918,265 7,793,601
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE (AE)FE 365,269 (6,949,418)

Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 740,921 (6,415,829)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE M BRI R

At December 31, 2024 7202412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAEREZI7R)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
BEE ARET T ARBT T
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER R EAETK 22 84,350 112,100
Lease liabilities HESE 24 3,865 15,156
Deferred tax liabilities FREFIBEE 26(b) 10,821 12,503
Convertible bond AR E S 28 = 208,577
Other non-current liabilities HEipIEmsaE 856 959
e 99,892 el
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(AF6) 38 641,029 (6,765,124)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARR e
Share capital i &N 29(c) 592 323
Reserves it 565,083 (6,865,150)

Total equity/(deficit) attributable AATRERBRREGRER

to equity shareholders of the (#4858

Company 565,675 (6,864,827)
Non-controlling interests FEIER S 75,354 99,703
TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) R (M) B 641,029 (6,765,124)

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on  #&EHE&@A202543 A 18 At/ R A o
March 18, 2025.

Zhang Feng Tang Yifan
R BRN
Director Chief Financial Officer
EF BHEMBE
The notes on pages 180 to 328 form part of these financial 5 180H E %328 B MM HEXZSHKHRESN — q
statements. o o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mOEEEER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #Z2024F 12 A31HIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAREFIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RARERREE
Treasury Share-based Non- Total
Share Share shares Capital Statutory ~ payments  Exchange  Accumulated controlling (deficit)/
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
DRHE

£33 (B#4)/

A RivaR EEROEE  AARE ARk MFRE  EXBE  26B 5 FERER  ESEE

Note ~ RVBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBI00
Wit ARETZ ARETT ARETL ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTT ARETZ ARETR

Note 29(c) Note 29(d)(v)  Note 29(d)(i) Note 29(cl)ii) Note 29(d)(ii) Note 29(d)(v)
K329 MiEE20))  PEE20(ON)  FRE29(d))  FRTEE29(d)  FEE29(d)v)
Balance at January 1,203  H2023%1A1A
igfe3 323 - - (51,114) 3,252 212,119 (316,870)  (6,008.211)  (6,160,501) 83134 (6,077,367)
Changes in equity for 2023: 2035 HEHEE :
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (59361 (92361 (63078 (655439)
Other comprehensive income ~~ E b2l = = = = = - (106,966) - (106,966) (687)  (107,653)
Total comprehensive income ~ £ERGAE - - - - - - (106966)  (592,361)  (699,327) (63765  (763,092)
Equity settled share-based IEREENNR
transactions NEERNRS 25 - - - - - 12,209 - - 12,209 141 13,620
Issuance of restricted ordinary  —RHBAFELT
shares by a subsidiary RRAERER B - - - (1,520) - - - - (1,520) 1520 -
Contribution from a non- —FHBARFE
controlling shareholder of TR 1L B
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - 59,535 59,535
Capital injected to a subsidiary ~ F—FMBA
i 29 - - - (15,688) - - - - (15,688) 15,688 -
Appropriation to statutory BRTETRRE
reserves - - - - 949 - - (949) - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE-FHEAH - - - - - = = = = 2,180 2,180
Balance at December 31,2023 1202312317
ks 3 - - 832) AN 2438 U3S6) GOSN (6S648Y) 99703 (6765124)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #E2024F 12831 ILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAEREZI7R)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AAFRBRREL
Treasury Share-based Non- Total
Share Share shares Capital ~ Statutory  payments  Exchange Accumulated controlling  (deficit)/
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total  interests equity
NRfGA

ERH (B4 /
Bk BROEE BRROGE  AARR  EEER  GREE  ENRRE  2HES A FEREE  En4E
(WM RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

el AR¥TR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETz ARMTR ARET:R

Note 29(c) Note 29(d)(v) Note 29(d)(i) Note 29(d)(ii) Note 29(d)(iii) Note 29(d)iv)
KizE20(c) KiEE20(d)v)  FEEF29(d)i)  PYEE29(d)i) KEF29(d)ii) KYEE29(d)(iv)

January 1, 2024 202451818 (68,322) 4201 224,328 (423,836) (6,601,521) (6,864,827) EENIE]
Changes in equity for 2024: 204 HEHEE :
Loss for the year FREE - - (2195277) (2,195277) (24,999)
Other comprehensive income ~ E i 2ERE - (1494) (124,941) 4
Total comprehensive income ~~ 2E W - (124941)  (2195277) (2320218) (24,985
Equity settled share-based IhEREERINER

transactions hRERGZS 25 17,666
Issuance of ordinary shares BEERARLE

relating to inital public (Ernme

offering (1PO") E)EILRR 290 691,168 691,187 691,187
Conversion of convertible BT EATER

redeemable preferred shares  BERALEAR

to ordinary shares 277 9,367,277 9,367,518
Issuance of ordinary shares to ~ &{TERRHMES

settle vested restricted share ~ EEBEFBHIR

units (“RSUs") REL(ZRH

RAEL)  250) (14,478)

Repurchase of ordinary shares 8B SEZ R

to satisfy individual income R EfEER

tax requirements upon LRRUEA

settlement of vested RSUs MNAEREL (47,119) (47,119
Dividends declared by a RS —

subsidiary attributable to FHEAASR

non-controlling interests HRE (2514)
Purchase of non-controlling BB eI

interests 29() (279,828) (279,828) 250
Exercise of restricted ordinary ~— —FMBAFTE

shares issued by a subsidiary  EEIRBHE

Bk 25() (2,605)

Cancellation of repurchase —FHBRARER

liabiities for vested restricted ~~ CEBRB 5%

ordinary shares by a BRAEEAR

subsidiary 25() 1,296 1,309
Balance at December 31, H2024512A318

2024 ik 10,072,914 (47,119)  (344,249) 4,201 22491 (548,777)  (8,796,798) 565,675 75354

The notes on pages 180 to 328 form part of these financial 25180B EF328E MM B ZSH KRR —
paN

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 # 2024612831 HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAARHEEFI7R)

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
B3 AR¥T T ARETTT
Operating activities R TR
Cash used in operations LEFTAR S 19(b) (74,204) (179,343)
Income tax refunded B ETSH 26(a) 6 95
Net cash used in operating activities MEZBFAREFE = [AED) (179,248)
Investing activities REEH
Payment for the purchase of property LA EYN G0N
and equipment (3,578)
Payment for the purchase of intangible & & & & ER K
assets (2,963)
Proceeds from disposal of property and &3 K 5% A K &
equipment and intangible assets ERATEIE 861
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, — UWEEHIEB AR - Bk
net of cash acquired FrERHIRE (16)
Payment for acquisition of equity U BE RS RIS A Y 3R
investments (800) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value B EZALEBE AlBa
through profit or loss (“FVPL") ([BAAREETABR])
M REE (297,000) (164,500)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets &% A S EET ABZEH
at FVPL TRBERNSHIR 298,590 139,166
Dividends received BB 1,527 =
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEMNBARRES R
subsidiaries VR (26,073) (1)
Net cash used in investing activities REZEBFFARESEE (31,912) (31,031)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended December 31, 2024 #E2024F 12831 ILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JAAEREZI7R)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B = AR¥T T ARBT T

Financing activities REEE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary BATHE XA ARBEEEHEN

shares relating to initial public offering  Z B FTIS K 684,986 =
Proceeds from bank loans SRITERFE A 19(c) 444,158 260,700
Repayment of bank loans BEIRITER 19(c) (229,000) (70,020)
Proceeds of borrowings from a non- KB M A R IR AR RS

controlling shareholder of a subsidiary RE TS FE 19(c) 2,700
Payment of interests of bank loans and  $E{TEF R EAERFIE

other borrowings (NE:N 19(c) (13,835) (8,721)
Repayment of convertible bond EEATERES 19(c) (190,000) =
Payment of interests of convertible bond  RIEEH#A (&5 F B (5% 19(c) (15,692) (11,173)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEfHAESF S35 19(c) (1,444) (1,870)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEEHEREL D 19(c) (22,238) (25,845)
Dividends paid by a subsidiary TR R E G — KB A

attributable to non-controlling interests &l E {8 (2,514) =
Proceeds from issuance of restricted RE—RMBRRIEITER

ordinary shares by a subsidiary Il AR A FT 1S SRR 5211
Capital contribution from non-controlling & B FF#E R HE2s ) H &

interests 59,535
Cash paid for acquisition of non- B IR S A

controlling interests B 29(d) (279,578) -
Payment of listing expenses AR (1,846) (3,456)
Net cash generated from financing  BEEFBI ISR SBE
adivities . 372,997 AN
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBEELZFEYE M~

cash equivalents OR2) 8 266,887 (3,218)
Cash and cash equivalents at 11BN RS RESEEY

January 1 19(a) CEERVA 533,054
Effect of foreign currency exchange /MNEERSEHS

rate changes 988 3,335
Cash and cash equivalents at 12A31ANRERALE

December 31 BY 19(a) 801,046 533,171

The notes on pages 180 to 328 form part of these financial 5 180H E %328 B MWK HEXZSHHREN —
statements. o o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe BT IS SRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR » SHEIEREERRIN)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Dmall Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI") as an exempted company with limited
liability on February 5, 2015 under the BVI Company Law.
The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on December
6, 2024. The gross proceeds from the listing amounted to
approximately Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") 778.6 million
(equivalent to approximately Renminbi (“RMB") 718.8
million).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in providing retail digitalization solutions
to retailers in the local retail industry. The Group’s principal
operations and geographic markets are in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC").

Historically, to comply with PRC laws and regulations, the
Group conducted internet-related business in China through
Dmall Fresh (Beijing) E-Commerce Co., Ltd. (“Dmall Fresh
(Beijing)"”) and its subsidiary, Dmall Fresh (Shenzhen)
E-commerce Co., Ltd. (“Dmall Fresh (Shenzhen)”),
(collectively, the “former VIEs”). Dmall Fresh (Beijing)
and Dmall Fresh (Shenzhen), the financial statements of
which have been consolidated and accounted for as if they
were subsidiaries of the Group by virtue of the contractual
arrangements (the “ Contractual Agreements”).

The directors of the Company consider that the Contractual
Arrangements were in compliance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations currently in effect and were legally
binding and enforceable. Pursuant to the Contractual
Agreements, and together with the 50% equity interests
in former VIEs held by the Group, the Group had rights to
exercise power over the former VIEs, receive variable returns
from involvement in the former VIEs, has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the former VIEs and
was considered to control the former VIEs. Consequently,
the Group regarded the former VIEs as controlled structured
entities through the date of termination of the Contractual
Arrangements on April 24, 2024. Further details of the
disposal of the former VIEs are set out in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB"”). These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2024 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest in
associates.

The functional currency of the Company is United
States Dollar (“USD"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB as the majority of the
Group's operations are conducted by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the mainland China and the
functional currency of which is RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

N

statements (continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair values as explained in the accounting policies
set out below:

° investment property (see Note 2(j));

. other financial assets (see Note 2(h));

° derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(i));
and

. convertible redeemable preferred shares (see
Note 2(u)).

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards require management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgments about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(9]

statements (continued)

Judgments made by management in the application
of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and amended
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to the
consolidated financial statements for the current
accounting period:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current (2020 amendments”)
and amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Non-current liabilities with
covenants (“2022 amendments”)

o Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability
in a sale and leaseback

. Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been
prepared or presented on this consolidated financial
statement. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.

(b)

(9]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

N

interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-
group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the financial
statements. Unrealized loss resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEEER®

(continued)

(d) BT RIFERRERS )

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (v)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an interest in an associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(d)

(e)

N

Subsidiaries and non-controlling
interests (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(n)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
or Company and other parties contractually agree to
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method, unless it is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale). Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets
over the cost of the investment (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEEER®

(continued)

() BELNRAREEQNT(#)

(e) Associates and joint ventures (continued)

The cost of the investment includes purchase price,
other costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part of the
Group's equity investment. Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group's share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment (see Notes
2(h) and (n)(ii)). At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate or the joint venture, the Group's
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or the joint venture, after applying the
expected credit loss (ECLs) model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see Note 2(n)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures (continued)

N

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealized losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognized immediately in profit or
loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to
be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is
recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see Note 2(h)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates and joint venture are stated
at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)), unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)

Business combination

The Group accounts for business combination using the
acquisition method except for business combination
under common control. For business combination using
the acquisition method, the consideration transferred
in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if
related to the issue of debt or equity securities. Any
contingent consideration is measured at fair value
at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a
financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not
remeasured and settlement is accounted for within
equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and
subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognized in the profit and loss.

Business combination arising from transfer of interests
in entities that are under the control of the controlling
shareholder that controls the Group is accounted for
as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning
of the reporting period or, if later, at the date that
common control was established. The assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are recognized at the carrying
amounts recognized previously in the Group’s
controlling shareholder’s perspective. There is no
recognition of any additional goodwill or excess of
the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of the common control
combination to the extent of the continuation of the
Group's controlling shareholder’s interests, and any
difference between the net assets acquired and the
consideration paid is recognized directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9)

(h)

N

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses
and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 2(n)).

Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, are set out below.

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment.
The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognized directly in profit or
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 30(e).
These investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

. amortized cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income
from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see Note 2(z)

(vi)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEEER®

(continued)

(h) Hftr&E@

(h) Other investments (continued)

(i) Investments other than equity investments (i) RBREREUIIMEREE)
(continued)
e fair value through other comprehensive s RAAEBEFAHEMEZE

income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognized in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognized, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortized
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(h) Other investments (continued)

0]

()

N

(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL, unless the investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition the
group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings and not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognized in
profit or loss as other net (loss)/income.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
Note 2(m)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

()

(k)

Investment property (continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain or loss
arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is recognized in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment property is
accounted for as described in Note 2(2)(iv).

When the use of a property changes from owner-
occupied to investment property, the property is
remeasured to fair value and reclassified accordingly.
Any gain arising on this remeasurement is recognized
in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous
impairment loss on the specific property, with any
remaining gain recognized in OCl and presented
in the revaluation reserve. Any loss is recognized
in profit or loss. However, to the extent that an
amount is included in the revaluation surplus for that
property, the loss is recognized in OCl and reduces the
revaluation surplus within equity.

Property and equipment

The following items of property and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(ii)):

o items of property and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying property and equipment (see Note
2(m)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognized in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k)

)

N

Property and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property and equipment, less their estimated
residual values, if any, using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Estimated useful lives

— Building 20 — 40 years

— Office equipment and 3 -5 years
furniture

— Motor Vehicles 5 years

— Electronic equipment 3 - 12 years

Over the lease term
The shorter of
the unexpired term of

— Right-of-use assets
— Leasehold improvement

lease and the estimated
useful lives

Where parts of an item of property and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the estimated
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in
profit or loss as incurred. Development expenditure is
capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured
reliably, the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or
sell the resulting asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in
profit or loss as incurred. Capitalised development
expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(0

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the group
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(n)(ii)).

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in profit
or loss. The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Technological know-how 8 years
Software 2 -5 years
Customer relationship 10 years

The estimated useful lives of technology know-how
are determined based on the respective periods over
which such assets can bring economic benefits to the
Group and the useful lives adopted by comparable
companies in the market.

The estimated useful lives of customer relationship are
determined with reference to the acquired business’s
existing contract based on contract expiring dates,
historical trend of termination or renewal rate and to
the useful lives of customer relationships used by the
industry peers.

Both the period and method of amortization are
reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

N

(m) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the group assesses whether

the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if

the contract conveys the right to control the use of

an identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration. Control is conveyed where the

customer has both the right to direct the use of the

identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

(i)

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for leases that have a short lease term of 12
months or less, and leases of low-value items such
as laptops and office furniture. When the group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value item,
the group decides whether to capitalize the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalized,
the associated lease payments are recognized in
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability
is initially recognized at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is recognized using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(k) and 2(n)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, if there is a
change in the group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if the group changes its assessment
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there
is a lease modification, which means a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract, if such modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case,
the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(m) Leased assets (continued)

N

(i)

(if)

As a lessee (continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise,
the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental
income from operating leases is recognized in
accordance with Note 2(z)(iv).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in Note
2(m)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as
an operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (LAAREEZITR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL"s) on financial
assets measured at amortized cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
other receivables) and contract assets as defined
in IFRS 15 (see Note 2(p)).

Other financial assets measured at fair value are
not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following rates if the effect is material:

. fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

. variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

N

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

° 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

° lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets, lease receivables, contract
assets and amounts due from related parties are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognizes a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realizing security (if any is held). The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

N

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

o failure to make payments on their contractually
due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

o existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the
Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognized as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognizes an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognized in accordance with
Note 2(z)(vi) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortized cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

N

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

° significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

3 a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in payments;

° it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganization; or

o significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

3 the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or contract asset is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (LAAREEZITR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i)

(if)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognized as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill,
an impairment loss previously recognized no
longer exists or may have decreased:

o property and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

. intangible assets;
. goodwill; and

o investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statements of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERSTEE®)

(continued)

(n) FEERREERE @R

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) HtsERBEEREE)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

N

Calculation of recoverable amount o GTERYEILEE

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognized in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) an then, to reduce
the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

e  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognized in prior periods.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognized.

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process
of production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out
method.

2 BAESTEE®

(n) FEERREERE@R)

(i) HtsERBEEREE)

o BEIEEERE
BN ZEEME -
i A ARE E AT Wk Bl 88 2
BEtHBREENES - &
BURERER - mERERS
BATHEL -

BB 5 18 O 388 (3 LA R AR B
EHRE Y ERERBEER
MREEECEERAS
BAR - FABEBERE
RIER L 2 BE AR

Ny
S o

g

(o) FERHEMENRAE

(i)

FE
FRERERFBRET A NUE
HE  BRAZRFHENEES
B ELEBET HIRER
BRI SMBTEASE
MBE

T R A S ] BB M B
E51E -

PRANASEA R ROEFTE

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs
(continued)

N

(i)

(i)

Inventories (continued)

Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognized as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognized.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realizable value and all losses of inventories
are recognized as an expense in the period
the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognized as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognized as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
or the costs to fulfill a contract with a customer
which are not capitalized as inventory (see Note
2(o)(i)) or property and equipment (see Note 2(k)).

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs to obtain
a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalized when incurred if the costs relate
to revenue which will be recognized in a future
reporting period and the costs are expected
to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs
(continued)

(ii)

Other contract costs (continued)

Costs to fulfill a contract are capitalized if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or to
a specifically identifiable anticipated contract;
generate or enhance resources that will be used
to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labor, direct materials, allocations of
costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the
customer and other costs that are incurred only
because the Group entered into the contract (e.g.
payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalized as
inventory, property and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalized contract costs are stated at cost
less accumulated amortization and impairment
losses. Impairment losses are recognized to the
extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) the remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for the goods or services
to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs
that relate directly to providing those goods or
services that have not yet been recognized as
expenses.

Amortization of capitalized contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognized. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set
out in Note 2(2).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(p)

(a)

N

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognized when the Group
recognizes revenue (see Note 2(z)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional (see Note

2(q)).

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue (see Note 2(z)). A
contract liability would also be recognized if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognized (see Note 2(q)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see Note

2(2)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of the
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognized
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, that amount is presented as contract
assets (see Note 2(p)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(q) Trade and other receivables (continued)

(r)

(s)

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortized cost, using the effective interest method
and including an allowance for credit losses (see Note

2(n)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flow. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs
in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(n)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at
fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and
other payables are stated at amortized cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(1)

N

Convertible bond

Convertible bond which does not contain an equity
component are accounted for as follows:

At initial recognition the derivative component of
the convertible bond is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments
(see Note 2(i)). Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognized as the derivative
component is recognized as the liability component.
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bond are allocated to the liability and
derivative components in proportion to the allocation
of proceeds. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognized
initially as part of the liability. The portion relating to
the derivative component is recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently remeasured
in accordance with Note 2(i). The liability component
is subsequently carried at amortized cost. The interest
expense recognized in profit or loss on the liability
component is calculated using the effective interest
method. If the bond is converted, the carrying
amounts of the derivative and liability components
are transferred to share capital and share premium
as consideration for the shares issued. If the bond is
redeemed, any difference between the amount paid
and the carrying amounts of both components is
recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(u) Convertible redeemable preferred

(v)

shares

The Company designated the convertible redeemable
preferred shares as financial liabilities at FVPL. The
Company initially recognizes convertible redeemable
preferred shares at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the convertible redeemable preferred
shares are re-measured to fair value at the end of
each reporting period with changes in fair value being
recognized in profit or loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognized in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
Note 2(ab)).

(w) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognized for the amount expected to be paid
if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are expensed as
the related service is provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Employee benefits (continued)

N

(i)

Share-based payments

The Group operates share incentive plans,
under which it receives services from eligible
employees, directors and non-employees as
consideration for equity instruments (including
share options, RSUs and restricted ordinary
shares) of the Group. The fair value of the
services received in exchange for the grant of
the equity instruments (share options, RSUs and
restricted ordinary shares) is recognized as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss with a corresponding increase in share-
based payments reserve in equity.

Share options

For grant of share options, the total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted using option-
pricing models.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognizes
the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity. The equity amount is
recognized in the share-based payment reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it is
included in the amount recognized in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to retained
profits).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEEER®

(continued)

(w) EEREF (&)

(w) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Share-based payments (continued) (i) URGODAEENSRE)
RSUs ZIREIR 1P EA

For grant of RSUs, the total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the Company’s ordinary shares at the
grant date.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of RSUs that are
expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognizes
the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

Restricted ordinary shares issued by the
Company’s subsidiary

For restricted ordinary shares issued by the
Company’s subsidiary, the total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of equity instruments granted.
In addition, the Company’s subsidiary will re-
purchase the restricted ordinary shares forfeited
due to unsatisfaction of service condition or
performance condition fulfilled by the grantees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

N

Share-based payments (continued)

Restricted ordinary shares issued by the
Company'’s subsidiary (continued)

Service and non-marketing performance
conditions are included in calculation of the
number of restricted ordinary shares that are
expected to vest. The total amount expensed is
recognized over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of restricted ordinary shares
that are expected to vest based on the non-
marketing performance and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

Modifications and Cancelations

The Group may modify the terms and conditions
on which share incentive awards were granted.
If a modification increases the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, the incremental fair
value granted is included in the measurement of
the amount recognized for the services received
over the remainder of the vesting year.

A grant of share incentive awards, that is
canceled or settled during the vesting year,
is treated as an acceleration of vesting. The
Group immediately recognizes the amount
that otherwise would have been recognized
for services received over the remainder of the
vesting year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(w) Employee benefits (continued)

(x)

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an
expense when the Group is demonstrably
committed, without realistic possibility of
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either
terminate employment before the normal
retirement date, or to provide termination
benefits as a result of an offer made encourage
voluntary redundancy.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination,
or items recognized directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax
arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes.

2 BAESTEE®

(w) EEREF (&)

(i) BEBEA
AN B AR HEAGETE IE %R K B
Hi 2 AT LR IER RS A S E R
B BB BRI T
ERFMETE - BEERHOEN
AN - BB TR AR
Slzo

(x) FriSH

PSR X BRENEI I8 R AT IA
HRNBmfER  HEEBAHFRERR
sk b 2 E R TERNIE R HEE
BRSO

BNEATRIA B3R F M E R A B 1RHY
fhET B RERH AN B EFERAX
FEWFL AR EM R - B SR BIHS
HEN S BE AR SRR IAS
B EbRT - ZEBRREMEHRE
AN IR EERE - AARER RS
BHEERRER LCEHROR X
8 o RAVERRIR T B HE A BB A R (AT A
I8 o

AHRREERABEENSE TIRE
BB T T A SS

BRI MEM B RERENEER

BREMEREN BRGNS 2R
H R o

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x)

N

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is not recognized for:

o temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

o temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to
the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

o taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

o those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organization for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognized deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF

AEEHAERI)

2 BEASHEE®

(x)

FR&®H ()
WA T S IBRERRLENIA

o UIHXHRUWEBREIETEE
S ERT S A K EE BT
EEREERT R R RE
BN INEEXEBBENERE
I

o HRMBAF  BMERTKREER
ANANIRERBNERERE @ I
VAZS 85 (5] B 2 ) 488 1) B B 2 R Y
B B E AT ge 2 i v] B A AR 12
Bl &BR

s IS HERBEMELNERNE
RPERE - &

s RERKESIEEZRRMABMEMN
MSAE - RAVR R MR EE
B BOAMEL RS H AR
HITHIR ©

AEBGEHEAERFREEESS
ERELERIBEEEEHRIERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax
asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with Note 2(j), the amount of
deferred tax recognized is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the reporting date, unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases,
the measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (LAARZI7R

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y) Provisions and contingent liabilities

N

(i)

(if)

Provisions

When determining the amounts to be
recognized in respect of liabilities arising from
the provisions, management makes the estimates
based on prior experience and default history. It
is possible that the prior experience and default
history is not indicative of all the future loss. Any
increase or decrease in the provisions would
affect the profit or loss in future years.

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEEER®

(continued)

(2) WEKkHEMBkE - (BR)ZHE

(z) Revenue and other net (loss)/income

The Group derives its revenues from providing retail
core service cloud, e-commerce service cloud and
other revenue to customers.

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other net
(loss)/income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Retail core service cloud

Retail core service cloud provides full-spectrum
digitalized solutions for retailers, including
operating system and AloT solutions.

Operating system

The operating system the Group mainly offers is
Dmall OS, which is a Saa$S solution proprietarily
developed by the Group to digitalize retailers’
operations and support intelligent business
decision. The Group is responsible for design and
implementation services to the retailer customers,
which are not distinct from the utilization of the
Saa$ solutions during the subscription period.
Therefore, design and implementation services
together with the Saa$S solutions are determined
to be one performance obligation. The Group
usually charges the retailer customers a fixed
implementation fee or customisation fee prior
the launch of SaaS solutions, and charges the
retailer customers either by taking a percentage
of the volume of sales (i.e. take rate model), or
by a fixed subscription fee upon the launch of
Saas solutions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(z) Revenue and other net (loss)/income
(continued)

N

(i)

Retail core service cloud (continued)
Operating system (continued)

Revenue from services of Dmall OS is recognized
over the contract term. For take rate model, the
Company performs the sales reconciliation with
the customers on a monthly basis. The Company
issues invoices and recognizes revenue after
volume of sales being agreed by customers. For
fixed implementation fee, customisation fee
and subscription fee model, revenue is generally
recognized ratably over the contract term.

AloT solutions

AloT solutions offer the service to retailers to
build digitally integrated retail locations that
consolidate offline data to achieve more efficient
store management. AloT solutions primary
comprise intelligent delivery solutions, intelligent
cleaning solutions, intelligent loss prevention
solutions, intelligent package sorting solutions,
intelligent cashier solutions and intelligent
merchandise replenishment solutions.

When an AloT solutions contract includes multiple
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis,
which is determined based on the prices charged
to or expected to recover from customers. For
AloT solutions contracts billed based on a fixed
amount for a specified service period, revenue
is recognized over the subscribed period. For
services provided on a consumption basis, revenue
is recognized based on the customer utilisation of
the resources when the services are rendered to
the customers. For AloT product sales, revenue is
recognized when the products are delivered and
have been accepted by customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEEER®

(continued)

(2) WEKkHEMBkE - (BR)ZHE

(%&)

(ii) E-commerce service cloud (ii)

(z) Revenue and other net (loss)/income
(continued)

BIEHEHE

The Group historically operated an online-to-
offline (“020") retailer platform, Dmall App,
for offline retailers and merchants, to facilitate
their online sales of their merchandise to
the consumers during the reporting period.
The Group is not primarily obligated to the
consumers in their purchases of merchandise,
does not take inventory risk, and does not have
latitude over pricing of the merchandise. Upon
the completion of sales, the Group charges the
retailers or merchants a fixed rate commission
fee, as agreed in the contract, based on the sales
amount. Commission fees are recognized on a
net basis at the point of completion of delivery
of merchandise.

Meanwhile, the Group fulfils the delivery
needs of 020 business by utilizing riders from
outsourced delivery agencies. The Group
is primarily responsible for and guarantee
identifying and directing riders to complete
the deliveries requested by the consumers, and
has the ability to control the related services.
The Group considers itself as a principal in the
delivery arrangement. Accordingly, revenues
resulting from delivery services are recognized
on a gross basis at the point of completion of
delivery of merchandise, with the amounts paid
to the riders recorded in cost of revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

N

(z) Revenue and other net (loss)/income
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Other revenue

Other revenue comprises offline advertising
service, marketing resource collaboration service
and product sales. Revenue is recognized when
control over a product or service is transferred
to the customers at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding any obligation to
compensate customers.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognized in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognized in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognized as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividends income from unlisted investments
is recognized when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

Dividends income from listed investments
is recognized when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (LAAREEZITR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(z) Revenue and other net (loss)/income
(continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortized
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognized in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognized as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred.

(aa) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into

the functional currency of the entity to which they

relate at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into

the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are

recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Translation of foreign currencies

(continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency of the entity
to which they relate using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is
the date on which the Group initially recognizes such
non-monetary assets or liabilities.

The results of foreign operations which have a
functional currency other than RMB, the Group’s
presentation currency, are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into RMB at
the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognized.

(ab) Borrowing costs

N

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(ab) Borrowing costs (continued)

(ac)

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use.
Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary
to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use are
interrupted or complete.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
group’s business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the group and which represents a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to
be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if
the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

o the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

o the post-tax gain or loss recognized on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.
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BRI SRR AR B X ROMERCAR
7 BERERBR e RE R BAKENE
EKBERD  UKKRBINTEE
BRgens  IBRHEBT TR
BREEEME—HFAE M
7 BN ERREEMEENHEA
=1

PEAERIEEERHREL &L (W
BRRERL)ERFEBT a0 BAREL
ERIREREE - HMEBENE - £
WOBREREEERF -

ERBAXRBHROB/KIE - AEBSER

TEINE—SF HPERE:

s  ERUEREXRBABENELE
B R

s BRELEEMBEENLEHEDN

RABERELEXEERAR
R BR YR B IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEXRSFHEER®
(continued)
(ad) Related parties (ad) EEEE
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s @ HEBNLATER AIEALTHZA
family, is related to the Group if that person: TRV R B RS [E A5 A -
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEEBZEHEXLR
PRI

(i) has significant influence over the Group; (i) HAEBBEEAFZEN
or 54

(i) is a member of the key management (iy BAEEXAEEFRAF
personnel of the Group or the Group's HNEEEEAR o
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) WA THIMEMEME - BNE L

following conditions applies: REEH N

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of () ZERBEASEBEAR—%
the same group. ErKEAH]

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture (i) —XEBAS —TEAE
of the other entity (or an associate or joint ERAIIAEERE (HABS
venture of a member of a group of which —EBMBEBEETKE
the other entity is a member). AR ERAIHREE R

a]) e

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MREBHAR—F=FH
third party. WEa&ERF e

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third vy, —RERBARF=-FEEN
entity and the other entity is an associate BERR MBE—EBA
of the third entity. ZE=ZHEREREE AT

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ZERBAASENHELRE
plan for the benefit of employees of either P ERERIEET
the Group or an entity related to the R BB R B FET S o
Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (i) ZEEBX@MIEATIES
by a person identified in (a). S A AR o

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)
2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARSFTHEE®
(continued)
(ad) Related parties (continued) (ad) BEEE 5 (&)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) (HFE THIEMIEM  ENE 2R
following conditions applies: (continued) REEH@S : (&)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

@OFTIEATHZERRE
AFENLBZLER (L&
MWEARDBEREEA

(vii)

o0 mé
fie & \

o

\
A

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group (viiy ZERESHEMBSEBMNET
of which it is a part, provides key fAlpk B A Al M A & B g A
management personnel services to the SENEAGIEHBARE
Group or to the Group's parent. BABR °

Close members of the family of a person are those

ERALHORRIETRREEZER

family members who may be expected to influence, FRAFEZATIIZATHENR
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with BERK B ©
the entity.

(ae) Segment reporting (ae) D EBFHRE

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the chief operating decision-maker
("CODM") of the Group for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

RED BRI BRRMESE D EER
S - IR ARASERIRER M
BUEETERYEMFHEERENE
HRAEETIELEOREE ([TELEE
REE | RENM B ERE PRI
% o

HPBHREMS @ ERIEALE ST
Tad BEEZ0ARRUKLER
B AREmMRREEE - £FETFH
B EPEAYER - AR HEERSK
RERBN T EREERRMLEYEE
PR - BIVERIGR o fRfERI T E AR E
DEWHERERFHZRLE - AR F&
B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Notes 14, 25 and 31 contains information about the

assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value of

goodwill impairment, fair value of equity-settled share-based

transactions. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are

as follows:

(a) Impairment of non-financial asset

N

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of a non-financial asset may not be recoverable,
the asset may be considered “impaired”, and an
impairment loss may be recognized. The carrying
amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed annually
in order to assess whether the recoverable amounts
have declined below the carrying amounts. These
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Goodwill
is tested annually for impairment. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced
to recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit containing goodwill is the
greater of the fair value less costs to sell and the
value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling
price because quoted market prices for these assets
or cash-generating units are not readily available. In
determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the asset or the cash-generating unit
are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. Management uses all
readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of level of
revenue and amount of operating costs.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilized. In assessing
whether such temporary differences can be utilized
in the future, the Group needs to make judgments
and estimates on the ability of each of its subsidiaries
to generate taxable income in the future years. The
Group believes it has recorded adequate deferred
taxes based on the prevailing tax rules and regulations
and its current best estimates and assumptions. In
the event that future tax rules and regulations or
related circumstances change, adjustments to deferred
taxation may be necessary which would impact the
Group's results or financial position.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On April 24, 2024, the Group entered into termination
agreement of Contractual Arrangements and a share
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the Contractual
Arrangements were terminated and the Group transferred
50% equity interests in Dmall Fresh Beijing to Mr. Zhang
Feng and Ms. Lu Yuxin at a consideration of RMB1,
respectively. Immediately following the transactions, the
Group no longer holds, directly or indirectly, any interest
in Dmall Fresh (Beijing). As a result of the divestment, the
financial results of the Group’s online advertising services
were classified as discontinued operations in the financial
statements.

3 EErHEREET )

(b) EEBIREE

ERERRBERMMA LR ZRER - H
VAR BER R IR FERIA T AL E IS £ 58
MARBR - R E RS A ATERA A
EREREEZREN  AREFEHES
B A RAERK S EFEEL BRI
A BE N IEH HIET MBS - ARER
7 HEERERBBR R FOERIA R
HIRR REGRERR - FRRRNE
FERIA © %5 B RBHHB AR FOER AR
FAIE B - AR AL AT IR (R 38
B emPEA KB XA

R202454 F248 - REBEFTLAKHTHEL
I R AR B @ - Bt - BOTHE
I MAKEDHERIE RS RN
S0%MEEETREEENRBEHNZL R
BAR/ARKIT - BEEXSHEMXE © A
SETBERAREFBZHMEALRON
EfeiEs - ARHEE - ARER LESRS
MM B RERMBRETDBERERILELE
ES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continved) 4 BHEIEKEZHERK »)

(a) Results of discontinued operations () BRIEEEEKNES

Revenue
Cost of revenue

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T

Y 2% 41,781 164,334
%N (2,510) (6,552)

Gross profit
Research and development expenses

EF 39,271 157,782
A (13,925) (29,931)

Selling and marketing expenses S & SHR 2 (45,225) (29,249)
General and administration expenses —MITE A Y (858) (5,054)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

HENB AR 253,871 =

Profit before taxation Bt AT RIE 233,134 93,548
Income tax expense FriS i = =
Profit for the year from discontinued REBKRIHEEEKNER

operations FIE 233,134 93,548

Earnings per share — discontinued

BREF -CRILEEXK

operations (expressed in RMB (UABRARETTIIR)
per share)
Basic and diluted AEXREE 0.18

(b) Cash (used in)/generated from
discontinued operations

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

(b) BRILEEE(FA), FeE
e

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

K EE(FTA) FsH

e FEE (19,278) 66,214
BEFZEMARESFE - =
BERE AR T - -

Net cash (used in) generated from
for the year

FNA)FEREFE
(19,278) 66,214

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

4 CRUEZREER®
() HEHAXREEMBERRHNIE

4 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

(c) Effect of disposal on the financial
position of the Group

HESAEEREERNEERAER
UM ag s

The disposals had the following consolidated effect on
the Group's assets and liabilities on the disposal date:

RMB’'000
ARETFIT
Cash and cash equivalents ReFREEEY 26,101
Restricted bank deposits SR BRI TIE K 10,513
Other current assets HEmsh&EE 1,292
Trade receivables H 5 e WGRIE 53
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TENFOE « e M EAEWFUE 28,007
Other non-current assets HIERe&EE 10
Contract liabilities EHEE (4,888)
Accrued expenses and other payables FERTE F M E b e~ 7E (231,729)
Net liabilities __&®f¥& (170,641)_
Total consideration satisfied by cash RS MHERE =%
Intangible assets recognized from pre-disposal EERSENAGBR S EEKRIZE
__Intergroup transactions upon loss of control 7 s liotid o . 83,230
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries charged to HEREARMREREREERRA
the results of discontinued operations in the BRI EEBNEEP R
consolidated statement of profit or loss 253,871
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: SR EARIR ML 558
Consideration received, satisfied in cash LIRE X R BEWRE —*
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of B BEHENRERREEEY 26,101
Net cash outflow RERHFE (26,101)

* The balance represents amount less than RMB500.

* EBMEEINARBITS00TTHRIE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WHERDIHE

(a) Revenue (a) Wz

The principal activities of the Group are the provision AEENFEE2EH AT PIRETEX

of retail core service cloud, e-commerce service cloud ODRBE - EFEBREEREMAR

and other services to customers. % o

() Disaggregation of revenue (i) WaEnslos
Revenue of the Group are all from contracts N B Ay a5 2R B B PR B 7 R
with customers within the scope of IFRS 15. The HERF1SHREBERNR G LM
amount of each significant category of revenue is e o HEEWERIEISFEN
as follows: T:

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Revenue from contracts with IR B BB B A 3R 5 2E B 2R
customers within the scope of 155 EERZTF LM

IFRS 15 &

— Retail core service cloud —ZERORKEE 1,809,508 1,298,730

— E-commerce service cloud — B FEBEREE 4,279 300,006

— Others —HAb 45,215 (13,379)
1,859,002 1,585,357

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with B EERERESRKEREE

customers by the timing of revenue recognition is ARSI T

as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETT

Disaggregated by timing of R TR 2D
revenue recognition

— Point in time — IR 208,198 469,203

— Over time —BERF R 1,650,804 1,116,154

1,859,002 1,585,357

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

The Group's revenue from customers individually
contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group during the reporting period is as
below, details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from this customer are set out in Note
30(a).

Customer A* BEA*

5 WHEKDEHRE @)

(a) Wz=(#®)

(i)

* Customer A is considered as a group of entities
known to be under common control.

Revenue expected to be recognized in
the future arising from contracts with
customers in existence at the reporting
date

As at December 31, 2024, the aggregated
amount of the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations under the
Group’s existing contracts is RMB1,245,444,000
(2023: RMB247,238,000). These amounts
represent revenue expected to be recognized
in the future from contracts with customers in
existence at the reporting date. The Group will
recognize the expected revenue in future when
or as the work is completed, which is expected
to occur over the next 1 year to 5 years.

(ii)

WD (&)

RmEHE - AEERE BT
Fryaib A& B SRR
10%EWNT - ZEFPELENEER
R SR E AR B TEES0(@) ©

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
1,335,816 1,139,183

* BEPARER—HEMT LR
PRI EEE

RiREAHEBEEREFNEHN
FREAEMTRHIR B RHER W

m

R2024%F12A318 © 5 F
REEBEBEHNBETHBRED
EEORSELBRARE
1,245,444,0007T (20234 : AR
#5247,238,0007T) ° %2 FEIE
RERMEBHERBREFEL
TEEAR BB ERH I - AEH
H 1& 8 1E & sk LE T Bk R i 3R
TR A - TRRT ISR RI1FES
FANEAE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(b) Geographic information

N

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (ii) the Group's property and
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill, investments
in associates, non-current prepayments, deposits and
other receivables (“Specified non-current assets”).
The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or
the goods delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the asset, in the case of property and
equipment, the location of the operation to which
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and
goodwill, and the location of operations, in the case
of investments in associates.

The Chinese Mainland R A
Overseas RSB

5

Wik & o BR R ()

(b) HEEF

TREIEROANEEREINEEFH
Was R(NAEBERNYERER - BYE
B AE RBEARNKRE  JERD
BNAFIR - e MEMRKFIR(HEE
RBEE DB ERBERN - &
FeyiiB B iR RHREHRIMNE
AL EMIE - BRI - HEE
FERBEENMIEUETIREENERR
NEME  WBEVEENETE Az
HED R EEME « BRI
RAMIE - ARG EIME °

Revenues from external
customers

REISPEBE PR

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T

1,701,376 1,462,096
157,626 123,261

1,859,002 1,585,357

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WHESHHE =)

(continued)
(b) Geographic information (continued) (b) HHEER (&)
Specified non-current assets
EEFRBEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREET T ARET T
The Chinese Mainland HR B A, 368,433 328,128
Overseas NSEIN 2,959 4,627
371,392 332,755
(c) Segment reporting () 7IBHE

The Group has presented the following two REEE 25A T AE AT s 5 &6 o 8
reportable segments. No operating segments have R E D MEEBEK AT A HRE S
been aggregated to form the following reportable & o

segments.

e Retail core service cloud o  FERLRBE

o E-commerce service cloud o EF AR IRSE

Other operations include offline advertising service, BEMERPEE TESRS - 2HER
marketing resource collaboration service and product EVERBREMEE °

sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(c) Segment reporting (continued)

N

(i)

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources among
segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the revenue and gross
profit attributable to each reportable segment.
Other items in profit or loss are not allocated to
reportable segments.

Revenue and costs are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the costs
incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment
profit is gross profit. No inter-segment sales
have occurred during the reporting period.
The Group’s other net (loss)/income and
expense items, such as other net (loss)/income,
selling and marketing expenses, general
and administration expenses, research and
development expenses, and assets and liabilities
are not measured under individual segments.
Accordingly, neither information on segment
assets and liabilities nor information concerning
capital expenditure, operating expenses, interest
income and interest expenses is presented.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5

(continued)
(c) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) Segment results (continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group's senior
executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance for the reporting period is set out

Wiz &k o EBERE &)

() ZEW|E )
(i) DEEEE)
R & L E IR D B MFFHE D
MERAMBERTFAEEKRSTE
BIREH AR E R RS EARR
BRI

below.
2024
20245
Reportable segments
A&
Retail core E-commerce
service cloud service cloud Others Total
ZERD ETRK
RE RHEE EHAth st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSI ARSI AR®¥TR AR¥TR
Segment revenue 7 U 1,809,508 4,279 45,215 1,859,002
Segment gross profit D EBER 728,879 1,708 15,789 746,376
2023
20234
Reportable segments
AHEDE
Retail core  E-commerce
service cloud  service cloud Others Total
ZERD B
RIEE RBE Hith fsT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue DR EE 1,298,730 300,006 (13,379) 1,585,357
Segment gross profit/(loss) 2 &FEF],(18) 541,721 30,858 (17,878) 554,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

6 OTHER NET (LOSS)/INCOME

Government grants and tax preference (i)
Investment income from wealth
management products

measured at FVPL (Note 16)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries
i B Es
Hth

Dividends income
Others

6 Hit(BHE) WEFE

U 6 B N B TR B ()

B E MR A W
Fair value change in financial assets BRARBEFABENESRE
ENANBEZE(F16)
HEHB AR, (BE)

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREFIT
38,414 71,653
1,090 167
(143,915) 43,762
31 (1)

1,527 =

298 (79)
(102,555) 115,502

(i) Government grants mainly represented unconditional cash
awards granted by local authorities in the PRC. For the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, government grants
mainly represented subsidies received from government for
encouraging foreign investment and technology research
activities.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7 KREAIEE

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): B BIEB &R, GTA) A TN&IEESE
i ¢

(a) Net finance costs () MERAKFH

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBT T

Interest on bank loans and RITER R E AL BT E
other borrowings 14,147 9,027
Accrued financial charges of AR ES R ER I
convertible bond &M 11,668 13,595
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,444 1,870
Interest income from bank deposits SRITERF B zs (8,493) (10,897)
Gains on derecognition of convertible BUH MR Al B E s Y e
bond (Note 28) (Fff7%28) (12,736) -
Changes in fair value on the derivative AEBESITELI AR
components of convertible bond BEZE(Fi28)
(Note 28) 2,570
Foreign currency exchange gain SN B 3 Wz (2,821)
13,344
(b) Staff costs (b) ETHA
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Salaries, wages, bonuses and e L& -~ e N EAM
other benefits = 648,457 780,810
Contributions to defined contribution R EHFCRIRGT SR
retirement schemes 61,877 77,201
Share-based payment expenses VAR 7 BERE R
(Note 25) (Bft&E25) 19,257 13,620

729,591 871,631
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

7 PBRBIBIEIE (%)
(b) BIRA#)

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(b) Staff costs (continued)

N

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal government. The Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC contribute funds which are calculated on
certain percentages of the average employee salary
as agreed by the local municipal government to
the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a statutory
maximum relevant income level of HKD30,000 per
month for employer and employee contributions.
Mandatory contributions are immediately vested in
employees.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the
above contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 7 KREAEE®
() Other items (o) HEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBT T

Expenses of promotion and HEREHEEBRX
marketing activities 56,699 48,002
Logistics costs /NN - 233,454
Servers and cloud infrastructure costs BR7E S & = AR LA A 42,845 58,046
Depreciation charge (Note 12) WEERME12) 37,282 45,793
Cost of inventories sold FEHEEKAK 45,057 31,725
Amortization of intangible assets B A ESHE(HE13)
(Note 13) 23,803 12,485
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 B M
— audit services —FE R 3,220 540
— other services (i) — Bt AR A5 (i) 2,965 5,875
Impairment loss on trade and B 5 R EMEWRFIERE
other receivables fE518 4,660 1,784
Listing expenses Bayiliiba 44,332 25,859
()  Other services include RMB2,920,000 (2023: () HAuR®EEARE2920,0007T
RMB5,690,000) which is also included in the listing (20234 : AR#¥5,690,0007T) * 78
expenses disclosed separately above. BEFALXEBEREN EHHAX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 #HZEiEEKRNFEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement (a) RiEeBEERNBIERS
of profit or loss represent:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Current tax BN ERBEIE
Provision for the year (Note 26(a)) FREHE (Misr26(a) 534
Deferred tax IEIER 1
Origination and reversal of temporary TR E R ESE R
differences (Note 26(b)) (BF5E26(b)) (3,855)
(3,321)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses/ (b) BiEBASX (W) E2#RE AR
(benefit) and accounting loss at RTENETHEYER -
applicable tax rates:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR AREET T

Loss before taxation BRETATE B 2,221,254 658,760
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before ZAERE R AR EATRE

taxation, calculated at the applicable STEABRBIRIFIE,

rates in the jurisdictions concerned (j) (E18) BETIE) 32,423 (23,856)
Effect of preferential tax rate (i)iii) BB R AT E)i) (53,225) (5,719)
Effect of additional deduction on research #ift 25 5 S RESMNOBR A 5228

and development expenses (ii) (ii) (40,927) (60,094)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A AT RIS & 340 70,166
Tax losses and temporary differences REERIE LR IBEENT

for which no deferred tax assets were EHEBREGRETE

recognized 16,182
Actual tax benefit B FIE R (3,321)

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 &HZ48BEEXRMNFEH @
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses/ (b) HERX (WR)EZRBRAB
(benefit) and accounting loss at RTENETEERYER . (©)
applicable tax rates: (continued)

(i) Income tax rate applies to the Group: () ANEBFERARFSHEE
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BV, BEEABERRES AR
the Group is not subject to any income tax in Bl REEREBHBRFSH
the BVI. AR ERIFTEH -

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the RIEASESHANED - A&
Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any ERHASESBAMNTRME
income tax in the Cayman Islands. 1 e
Dmall Hong Kong Limited (“Dmall HK"), Retail ZEHEEERAR([ZHER])
Technology Asia Limited (“Retail Technology Retail Technology Asia Limited
Asia”) and Digital Retail Technology (Hong ([ Retail Technology Asia |) &
Kong) Limited, the Group’s subsidiaries Digital Retail Technology (Hong
incorporated in Hong Kong, are subject to Hong Kong) Limited Jh 2N & B A H 8 7
Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%. For the year MEZHHBAR - FEEERE
ended December 31, 2024, subsidiaries in Hong BRERRRI16.5%HF - HE
Kong did not have any assessable profits. 202412 A31BLEEE - RE
V& OB B A R I A ] PR R A A
I
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are subject to the BRIESEHRT @ AEBRH R
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (“CIT Law") B A RIZERBR BB EMEHA
at the statutory income tax rate of 25%, unless ([EEERMBBE ) E25%HETE
otherwise specified. According to the CIT FriEBiMmEMmE - RBLEMSE
Law, entities that qualify as “high-and-new WE - malemEmtEl(lS
technology enterprises” (“HNTE") are entitled FHRMEE]) EENEREZE
to a preferential income tax rate of 15%, 15%MEEMERME - MEE
and entities that qualify as Small Low-profit NMEEE(NMEEE]DERNE
Enterprises (“SLE") are entitled to a preferential BEZHE20%HEEMSMIE

income tax rate of 20%.

Taxation for subsidiaries incorporated in other T EL A B A A [ 5 1A S A B /BB
jurisdictions is charged at the appropriate current AN AR IE TH R A8 M B SGE A Y
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries. RITIHEETE - q
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 &HZ48BEEXRNFEH @
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses/ (b) HERX (WR)EZRBEHAH
(benefit) and accounting loss at RTENETEEYER . ©)
applicable tax rates: (continued)

(i) An additional 100% of qualified research and (i)  WRBECRBEASEE)  RAFEE
development expenses incurred is allowed to be AR WA FR BB SMNBR P EE & & 18
deducted from taxable income under the PRC e AI100% ©

Income Tax Law.

(i) Certain subsidiaries have been approved as iy BHTHBARCE#ESSFTHE
HNTE and entitled to a preferential income tax floe 2 - NIREERE - ZHEK
rate of 15% during the reporting period. The BB A RIZEIR 15% M EEE
HNTE certificate needs to be renewed every B RNT - R EERS
three years. REB-FEF K-

Certain subsidiaries of the Group have been approved REBERE THEB AR EIE R/ ME

as SLE. The entitled subsidiaries are subject to a B - RBEHRN - THEERDOKBR

preferential income tax rate of 20% during the BIZRR20% B BAAERBIRAH -

reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEM<
Details of emoluments of the directors of the Company RBERHE - AR ESHESFBAOT ¢

during the reporting period are as follows:

2024
20245

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Share-based
fees in kind bonuses contributions Sub-total  payments Total
Ek =4 R 5 A
ESpe  REVEA BTAL BRI et ERAR st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARMTT AR¥Tr AR%TR ARBTR AREMTRT ARETR

Executive director HTES
Mr. Zhang Feng RIESE

Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson Curtis Alan Ferguson
(BRER )%
Mr. Chen Zhiyu Tt
Ms. Sun Yuhan (resigned on ~ ZFEZ L (722025
January 2, 2025) F1A288)
Mr. Wang Zhenghao FiEERE
Ms. Zhang Kangrong RERLT L (72024

(resigned on April 19, 2024)  F4519HEHT)

Independent non-executive BV HFHITES
directors
Dr. Hou Yang (appointed on ~ ER{E1(72024%

December 6, 2024) 12A6HEZ1E)
Ms. Cai Lin (appointed on o+ (120245
December 6, 2024) 12A6HEZ1E)
Dr. Mao Jiye (appointed o~ EEEEL (522024
December 6, 2024) F12A6R 1)
Mr. Li Wei (appointed on TS (R20245F
December 6, 2024) 12A6HEZE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9 EEMEw)

2023
2023%
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-total payments Total
e 2 AR A
B=He  REYEN B RGBT Nt ZRHEHR &t

RMBO00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'00D
ARETL ARETE AREBTR ARETT ARETE ARETR ARET:

Executive directors UTEE
Mr. Zhang Feng Rl - 2,602 - 52 2,654 4 2,658

Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Curtis Alan Ferguson Curtis Alan Ferguson
(BER)EE 351 - - - 351 - 351
Mr. Chen Zhiyu BREFLE - 1,091 - - 1,091 - 1,091
Ms. Sun Yuhan (resignedon ~ EFERL (722025
January 2, 2025) F1A28840) - - - - - - -
Mr. Wang Zhenghao FibEx4E - - - - - - -
Ms. Zhang Kangrong RERL L (12024

(resigned on April 19,2024)  F4A19REHT) - - - - - - -

351 3,693 - 52 4,096 4 4,100
The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal BREZEEYI NS (BETB IR R IE
terms and number of options or RSUs granted, are disclosed B AS Rl SR I IS BB AT B B ) K I
under Note 25. IS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B RAR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
is the directors of the Company whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 9 for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: one). The aggregate of the emoluments in the
respect of the remaining four (2023: four) individuals are as

followings:

Salaries and other emoluments e REMME
Discretionary bonuses EIEIEAL

Retirement scheme contributions RIRFTEIE TR
Share-based payment expenses LARR (7 BERER RS

REHMAL

HE2024F12A31HLLFE  AGE=5M
AEFE1£(2023F  1B)BAARES -
HM SRR E - BREsR 44 (2023
FA4B)ATHEREBEHT ¢

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

15,978 10,659
2,156 284
223 177
3,429 1,823

21,786 12,943

The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

PR EEHFMALOMEENATEHE

2024 2023

20245 20234

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

N AEL

HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 2,500,00177C 23,000,000/ 7T 1
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 5% 3,500,00058 7T 1
HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 524,000,000/ 7T 1
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 1
HKD8,500,001 — HKD9,000,000 8,500,0017%7529,000,00078 7T =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

11 LOSS PER SHARE 1 SR(E8) &F
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREX(EE) BF
The following table sets forth the basic loss per share TR FESREA(EE), &
computation and the numerator and denominator for M EREURD F RO :

the years presented:

2023
2023%F
Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity NA R AR R ARG
shareholders of the Company (E518) /FIE 88
(RMB’000) (AR¥TFIT)
— Continuing operations —FHEISE T (2,428,411) (685,909)
— Discontinued operations — BRI REERS 233,134 93,548
(2,195,277) (592,361)
Weighted average number of TR Nt 58
ordinary shares 552,380,621 525,150,000
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (RMB) EREXR(ER), &R
(AR®TT)
— Continuing operations —RELEET (1.31)
- Discontinued operations — BRI E TS 0.18
(1.13)
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the FRREN(EER) B TEANA TR
net loss attributable to equity shareholders of the xR E(L (BR),/ BIEERIAFEAND
Company by the weighted average number of T E RIS EETE o

ordinary shares in issue during the year.
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11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Weighted average number of shares

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

(b)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding:

Ordinary shares at January 1

Conversion of convertible redeemable
preferred shares

Issuance of ordinary shares upon
initial public offering

Issuance of ordinary shares to settle
vested RSUs

Repurchase of ordinary shares to satisfy
individual income tax requirements
upon settlement of vested RSUs

1A B R BB
B2 YR A] B IR T] i O] (8 SR A

BRARBERET
Rl
BITEARAGEDRE
R IR oD BEAL
REECRBX RN
BE (V7 5 R ] B AR PATT
BIEAMBFHENR

11 BRUEE) BFe

R SIRAD B
BTSN B IR T8

2024
20245

2023
20234

525,150,000 525,150,000
24,769,632 -

1,830,940 =

892,781 =

(262,732) =

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding

BTSN BRI
Fi8

552,380,621 525,150,000

Diluted loss per share

(9]

The Company has four categories of potential ordinary

shares during the reporting period: preferred shares,

RSUs, share options and convertible bond (2023:

preferred shares, RSUs, share options and convertible
bond). For the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023, the potential ordinary shares were not included

in the calculation of diluted loss per share as their

inclusion would result in anti-dilution. Accordingly,

diluted loss per share for the years ended December

31, 2024 and 2023 were the same as basic loss per

share of the respective years.

BREEEER

REEHA - NARBER MBI LS
B% - B - ZRFIARG B - AR
KA EiRES(20234F : BERKR - 2R
B D BN - FERRIE R P]BIRE S ) o
HZE2024F K 2023F 12 A31HIEF
B BrEEERIEGT AGREEEE
HFTEETR  RERTAZEROBE
EREETE - At - BE2024F K&
2023F 12 A31 B L FENBREEE
BEAEFENIRENEBIBAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

12 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Reconciliations of carrying amounts

12 MERFE

(a) FREMEAVHAR

Office
Electronic Motor  equipment Leasehold  Right-of-use
Building  equipment vehicles  and furniture improvement assets Total
= ETRE RE BRRERER HE#E  ERELE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARMTE  ARETT  ARETR
Cost: A
At January 1, 2023 M2023%51R18 5,457 87,107 486 20,436 38,838 35,154 187,478
Acquisitions through BBEHAMET
business combinations A - - - 155 - 5,210 5,365
Additions NE = 729 = 609 1,122 41,384 44,444
Disposals HE - (12,675) (486) (8,075) (726) (16,880) (38,842)
At December 31, 2023 20235124318 5,457 75,161 - 13,125 39,834 64,868 198,445
Additions NE 13,299 7,220 - 1,856 78 19277 41,730
Disposals ek = (14,886) - (9,151) - (32,026) (56,063)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - 2,107) - - (204) - (231)
At December 31, 2024 2024124318 18,756 65,388 = 5830 39,708 52,119 181,801
Accumulated depreciation: R5HTE
At January 1, 2023 M2023E1A18 (344) (72,820) (15) (13,311) (12,002) (14,534) (113,026)
Charge for the year FAZH (317) (7479) (297) (3610) (5,743) (28,347) (45,793)
Written back on disposals i EEF ] - 11,960 312 7,688 726 16,487 37173
At December 312023and 120235127318
January 1, 2024 k202451818 (661) (68,339) = (9.233) (17,019) (26,394) (121,646)
Charge for the year FRZ (439) (3,157) - (2,216) (5,085) (26,385) (37,280)
Written back on disposals (& - 13,534 - 8,727 - 22,366 44,627
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR = 2,107 = = 204 = 2311
At December 31, 2024 20245124318 (1,100 (55,855) - 2722 (21,900) (30,413) (111,990)
Net book value: IRERE
At December 31, 2024 20245124318 17,656 9,533 - 3,108 17,808 21,706 69,811
At December 31, 2023 72023F 124318 4,796 6,822 = 3,892 22,815 38474 76,799

RmERA - WERANEENYE MR
RTIRRE R -

During the reporting period, there was no impairment
provided for the Group’s property and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

12 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 12 MERRE@

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) EAREE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets ZIRAEEERIE D ERAEEERR
by class of underlying asset is as follows: EFEEITT :

2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T

Properties leased for own use, carried at ~ EFAHAEWE - EITEK

depreciated cost 51 BR

— Office buildings —WAKE 16,012
— Equipment and others — 2R M L 22,462
38,474

The analysis of expenses items in relation to leases RAEBEDPERRNERES BN

recognized in the Group’s profit or loss is as follows: YIEE ST :

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARET T

Depreciation on right-of-use assets has ~ {FHEEENEE B4&RA

been charged to the consolidated BmEMG - TR

statement of profit or loss as follows:

Cost of revenue —E IO 16,567 13,788
General and administration expenses —mMITHFEY 3,617 11,976
Selling and marketing expenses THE R iR 2 1,396 1,372
Research and development expenses e 4,805 1,211

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ¥ FEAEITEER

(Note 12(a)) (MF7E12@0)) 28,347
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) HEBBENHFE(FE7)) 1,870
Expense relating to short-term leases and 25 HRFAE R IKEEEE

leases of low-value assets HEFENHEY 10,892

12,762
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

12 YERRZRE D
(b) FEHEEE®)
KAEEREHMWAKE - BEREWHE
WA E3EREE - BHAAEIER
S R E S I R SRR T A
BRIEHE - BEAYSETSRASENR -

12 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group leases office buildings, equipment and
others under leases expiring from 1 to 3 years. Some
leases include an option to renew the lease when all
terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

HEMNRSRLABENMEERENEH
DI BIEFIRA P EE19(d) K fit 5524 -

The total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Note 19(d) and
Note 24, respectively.

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13 |BEEE

Technological Customer
know-how Software relationship Total
EBHM B4 BEFBE et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT AR¥ETT ARET:R
Cost: B
At January 1, 2023 M2023F1 /108 29,315 2,780 76,000 108,095
Additions NE = 2,963 - 2,963
Disposals HE = (33) = (33)
At December 31, 2023 7202312 A31H 29,315 5,710 76,000 111,025
Recognized from pre-disposal BEENSEEARAR
intergroup transactions upon R G R R PR HIRERS
loss of control TR - 83,230 - 83,230
Additions NE = 1,032 - 1,032
Disposals HE = (375) = (375)
At December 31, 2024 72024512 A31H 29,315 89,597 76,000 194,912
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

13 BEREE®)

Technological Customer
know-how Software relationship Total
BRI B4 EFBE H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
Accumulated depreciation: FFHAE -
At January 1, 2023 M2023F1 5108 (4,387) (2,272) (8,233) (14,892)
Charge for the year FAXH (4,098) (787) (7,600) (12,485)
Written back on disposals S R - 33 - 33
At December 31, 2023 and 20235124318 &

January 1, 2024 202451 A1 H (8,485) (3,026) (15,833) (27,344)
Charge for the year FAXH (3,467) (12,736) (7,600) (23,803)
Written back on disposals R - 305 - 305
AtDecember31,2024 = W204%12A318 (1952) (15457) .. (23433) (50842}
Net book value: BRERE ¢
At December 31, 2024 12024512 A31H 17,363 74,140 52,567 144,070
At December 31, 2023 72023124318 20,830 2,684 60,167 83,681

During the reporting period, there was no impairment
provided for the Group's intangible assets.

RBEHR - LEAANKENEL BE R
EERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

14 GOODWILL 14 BE
RMB’000
ARBFTT
Cost: AR :
At January 1, 2023 M2023F1A1H 151,887
Acquisition of Beijing Xianmei Technology Services YWiE1L RAUERHE RIS AR A &
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Xianmei") (TemALZED) 106
At December 31, 2023, January 1, 2024 and 72023412 A318  2024F1A18B K&
| Degmizeren, 2o2s 2024128318 ] l22E
Accumulated impairment losses: ZEPREESSA :
At January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023, 7202391818 ~ 20235F12A31H »
_January 1, 2024 and December 31,2024 = . 20241 A1AR20245 128318 T
Net book value: BRIENRE :
At December 31, 2024 1K2024%12 8318 151,993
At December 31, 2023 72023F12A31H 151,993
Impairment tests for cash-generating units BERY T BEEEEMBRAER

containing goodwill of Shenzhen Enjoy
Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Enjoy”)

Goodwill acquired in business combination in 2021 with
amount of RMB151,887,000 is allocated to the cash
generating unit (“CGU") of Shenzhen Enjoy.

The recoverable amount of Shenzhen Enjoy has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. The
directors of the Company forecasted an average annual
revenue growth rate of 17.2% in 2024 (2023: 17.8%), for
the next five-year period, and the cash flow beyond the five-
year period was extrapolated using an estimated annual
growth rate of 2% (2023: 2.5%). Pre-tax discount rate of
14% (2023: 14%) was used to reflect market assessment of
time value and the specific risks relating to the CGU.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

14 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units
containing goodwill of Shenzhen Enjoy
Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Enjoy") (continued)

The Group performs annual impairment tests on goodwill at
the end of reporting year.

Based on the result of the goodwill impairment tests, the
estimated recoverable amount of Shenzhen Enjoy was
approximately RMB210,232,000 as of December 31, 2024
(2023: RMB207,108,000), exceeding carrying amount by
RMB20,297,000 (2023: RMB18,705,000). No impairment
was recognized in respect of the goodwill as of December
31, 2024 (2023:nil).

The Group performed a sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions used in management’s annual impairment test
of goodwill. Had the discount rate during the forecast period
been 1% higher, the remaining headroom would have
decreased to RMB100,000 as of December 31, 2024 (2023:
RMB193,000). Had the estimated profit during the forecast
period been decreased by 5%, the remaining headroom
would have decreased to RMB13,097,000 as of December
31, 2024 (2023: RMB8,328,000). Reasonably possible
changes in key assumptions would not lead to impairment
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The parameters of
average revenue growth rate, annual growth rate and pre-
tax discount rate used for impairment test of goodwill
remained largely the same throughout the reporting period,
because the management considered that there were no
material changes in business and operation of Shenzhen
Enjoy or external market conditions when determining the
key assumptions.

14 BE»)

BERIITBEREERLIMRDER
AR (R B EENREEE
By RERIE ()

SERNREFEREEHEETEERER

o

EREEREAANGER  BIE20245F
12A318 - RINZEMN AT D £ 58
49 5 A R # 210,232,000 7T (2023 F : A
R ¥207,108,0007T) ' BEEREEARE
20,297,0007T (20234 = AR # 18,705,000
JC) ° BiZE2024F 12 A31H - WEEER
ZRME (20234 : &) o

AEEHEEESFHETHRERENRSP
FTR M BB BRRETT T HRE DT o WA
HIREBEIR R EF1% » RIEZ 2024512 8
BNHAR TEERE KRS ZE AR 100,0007T
(20234 : AR¥193,0007T) ° {881 2
RO {5 TR A 5% - RIEIZE20244F 12 A 31
Her T E AR ZEAKE13,097,0007T
(20234 : AR¥:8,328,0007T) » # Z2023
FR2024512A318 - BREZRNESIERE
SEHITEEIBRE - ARFEREIRNT
PRI RE « FHRRERMATRIE X2
REERERENRSEIE - BRABEER
BRI BT ZERE R A4S o T R R RS
BINEB TG R I R E SR B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Subsidiaries of the Group

N

The following list contains the particulars of

subsidiaries which principally affected the results,

assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares

held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Name of company

AR

Dmall China Inc.

Dmall China Inc.

Dmall Asia Inc.

Dmall Asia Inc.

Dmall Hong Kong Limited

SR ERRAT

Dmall Life (China) Digital
Technology Co., Ltd.*
SRR (B HFRE

1 NG

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

Place of Issued and
incorporation  paid-up capital/
and business  registered capital
AL BETRAR
RE£HY EX/HERER
Cayman Islands UsD100
FREHS 10057
British Virgin UsD1
Islands
ARABRES %7
Hong Kong HKD1
A 1T
The PRC USD500,000,000
thE 500,000,000% 70

15 B RKRE
(a) NEBEHHBEAR

TREIIEE

-

=

REEEE  BEX

BENKHBARNFE - BmAHRA
S BRIFR RN IRR R EBAY -

Proportion of ownership interest

iR AL Al
Group's Held by Held by

effective interest the Company a subsidiary

REERRRIE HALARE HKEAREE

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023F  204%F 20B%F 204F 2023F

100% 100% 100% 100% = =

100% 100% = - 100% 100%

100% 100% = - 100% 100%

100% 100% = - 100% 100%

Principal activity

IEEY

Holding company of DMALL
ASIAINC.
DMALL ASIA INC. F#2RR A 7]

Holding company of Dmall
Hong Kong Limited
SHEEERARMNERAE

Holding company of Dmall Life
(China) Digital Technology
Co., Ltd., Dmall Life (China)
Netwaork Technology Co.,
Ltd., and Retail Technology
Asia Limited

SHER(PEETHHE
RAA - ZEAE(RE)
BERBERA T RRetal
Technology Asia Limited#)

BRAR

Development of e-commerce
service cloud

ERETARREE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 MEBLARKRE®
(continued)
(a) Subsidiaries of the Group (continued) (a) mEEMWMEB AT E)
Proportion of ownership interest
FiE AR A
Place of Issued and
incorporation  paid-up capital/ Group's Held by Held by
Name of company and business  registered capital  effective interest the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
BT BETRAR
AGIEL REXME E5/dMER  AREEEAE HANERE HMEARERE  IEBED
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024  2023F 2024 2023 2045 2023F
Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital The PRC RMB2,600,000,000  100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Development of retail core
Technology Co., Ltd.** service cloud, ecommerce
service cloud and others
ZHMNBFHRER P& ARE FEZERLREE B
NCIREd 2,600,000,0007T HIRBE R
Dmall Life (Wuhan) The PRC RMBS5,000,000  100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Development of retail core
Technology Co., Ltd.** service cloud
SEER(RENRER 8 ARE RETERLREE
NCIREd 5,000,0007¢
Dmall Zhilian (Beijing) The PRC RMB168,340,000 80% 80% = = 80% 80%  Provision of AloT solutions
Technology Co., Ltd.**
SHER(IRONRER  TE AEE REACTRARE
NCIREd 168,340,0007C
Dmall Zhilian (Wuhan) The PRC RMBS5,000,000 80% 80% - - 80% 80%  Provision of AloT solutions
Technology Co., Ltd.**
SHER(USNRER T8 ARE REACTRARE
ST 5,000,0007¢
Shenzhen Xintonglu Supply ~ The PRC RMB250,000,000  100%  100% = - 100%  100% Holding company of
Chain Technology Co., Shenzhen Enjoy Information
Ltd.** Technology Co., Ltd.
AmAERGREERE P& ARE A BREERRMRAERA
AR 250,000,000 AEERAT
Shenzhen Enjoy Information ~ The PRC RMB25,013,000 49.75%  49.75% = - 4975% 49.75%  Software development and
Technology Co., Ltd.** maintenance services
AMBRESRMRG P& ARE M FERFERY
BRAR 25,013,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (A AR -

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(a) Subsidiaries of the Group (continued)

AEEHAERI)

15 B ARKRE#)

(a) AEEHMELT (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

FiE AR A
Place of Issued and
incorporation  paid-up capital/ Group's Held by Held by
Name of company and business  registered capital  effective interest the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
BT BETRAR
NEEE REXHE E5/dMER  AREEBRAE HANERE HHEAREE  XEED
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023F 2024 2023F 20245 2023F
Dmall Life (China) Network ~ The PRC USD178,000,000  100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Research and development
Technology Co., Ltd.*
SHEE(PE)BEREE  TE 178,000,000 7T Ha
BAE>
Dmall Life (Chengdu) The PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100%  The development of Dmall OS
Technology Co., Ltd.** system and management of
research and development
SHERFHNRER  TE AEH DmallOSZ470k) % Rt
STl 5,000,0007¢ BB
Retail Technology Asia Hong Kong USD63,100,000  100%  58.50% = - 100% 5850% Provision of Dmall OS in
Limited overseas market
Retail Technology Asia B 63,100,000%7C RAEDMalOSZ A GHNTS
Limited
& These entities were registered as wholly foreign-owned & ZEBETRIE S BAE KA R T
enterprises under the laws and regulations in the PRC. N IR E 5
**  These entities were registered as domestic limited o ZEBRETRES l&@&&%ﬁ?ﬂ%
liability companies under the laws and regulations in RIRAARETIA

the PRC.

The following table lists out the information relating to
Shenzhen Enjoy and Dmall Zhilian (Beijing) Technology
("Dmall Zhilian"), the subsidiaries of the
Group which has a material non-controlling interest
("NCI") as at December 31, 2024. The summarized
financial information presented below represents the

Co., Ltd.,

LRIEEPN

amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF

N

TR#FIN2024F12 A31 BEAEE
A BERIEERER
AIRYI AR Z EEH (L) E
HAERAT(LHEH ) EHANER -
TXEIN T ERTE
AR EIEEER 5 -

5 ([ RS |)H

25 TR E



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 MBARIKRE ®)

(continued)

(a) FEEAMBLR )

(a) Subsidiaries of the Group (continued)

2024
20244
Shenzhen

Enjoy  Dmall Zhilian

Y SiE Z BB

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

NCI percentage AR RS L (I 50.25% 20.00%
Current assets MENEE 72,913 180,095
Non-current assets EREBEE 95,907 27,502
Current liabilities mEaE (44,870) (115,054)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (12,784) (1,908)
Net assets BESE 111,166 90,635
Carrying amount of NCI SRR E R AR A 55,594 19,760
Revenue Wz 80,747 651,917
(Loss)/profit for the year HR(ER),/FE (12,287) 3,266
Total comprehensive income 2 ENEBEE (12,287) 3,266

(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI
Dividend paid to NCI
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

DB E FRE AR A
(&), /T8

IR T IR R s R AR

REEHAERTRE
REEDAEHRSRE
BMEERBABRTRE

(6,709) 621
2,514

2,891
643
(6,086)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 MIBATIRE®)
(continued)
(a) Subsidiaries of the Group (continued) (a) XEEWKHEBLRE)
2023
20234
Retail
Technology Shenzhen
Asia Enjoy  Dmall Zhilian
Retail
Technology
Asia B EE g i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTET ARETT

NCI percentage FE1E AR i A L 5 41.50% 50.25% 20.00%
Current assets MENEE 82,849 81,277 127,193
Non-current assets EMBNEE 651 107,286 34,571
Current liabilities mENRE (38,762) (51,153) (73,108)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = (13,462) (2,713)
Net assets BEFRE 44,738 123,948 85,943
Carrying amount of NCI FEIE R R AR E (A 18,566 62,284 18,853
Revenue Wz 113,829 83,697 477,060
Loss for the year FABE (127,337) (3,285) (31,025)
Total comprehensive income FHEK AT (128,993) (3,285) (31,025)
Loss allocated to NCI DB E IR E R

E5i8 (52,845) (1,608) (8,625)
Dividend paid to NCI A T IR = Y

& E = = =
Cash flows from operating activities #& & EBFTSIRERE (134,149) 12,621 (38,664)
Cash flows from investing activities & EEBFTSIRERE (144) (25,715) (297)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEHBIRERE 143,458 4,038 38,411

(b) Investments in a subsidiary by the (b) RATFEHBARNERE

Company

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBTFT

Unlisted investment, at cost JELTIRE - KA

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 16 HEthEemEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T

Current B
Financial assets measured at FVPL RAABESABENESH
BE
Wealth management products BATEm 34,935
Equity investment Mg E
— Guoquan Supply Chain (Shanghai) —iREpHrEE( L8 BR AR
Co., Ltd.) (SR E ftFEs( -8) B R 2 7)) ([$RE 1)
("Guoquan”) =
34,935
Non-current JEBNER
Financial assets measured at FVPL RAABEFSABENESH
BE
Equity investment IR E
— Guoquan — iR 196,574
The fair value of wealth management products is calculated BHEMNALEBEERBRERKIE S REMM
by discounting the expected future cash flows. The key BatE - A"EEREVERKEANEZH A
input used by the Group for wealth management products SR ATERAOFREK - HE2024F 12 A31H
is the expected rate of return. For the year ended December WHFE o Bt A HMESRIEETE
31, 2024, it is estimated that with all other variables held HERT @ REEEERABEEIN, R
constant, an increase/decrease in fair value of investment D1%  KREEEBEBR D, 1ENHARE
management products by 1% would have decreased/ 344,0007T(20234F © AR#349,0007T) °
increased the Group’s loss by approximately RMB344,000
(2023: RMB349,000).
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the B ZE2024F12H31H KX2023F12H318 -
investment in Guoquan is determined based on the closing RBBEIRENAREBEDBEBEEROKTE

market price of its shares. BE -

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

17 TRADE RECEIVABLES 17 EZEWKIE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

Trade receivables =) e 255,089 168,395
Less: loss allowance B B iR (6,847) (3,253)

248,242 165,142

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered G E S EWRZIBIESER —FRILE
within one year.

Aging analysis Bl 2 AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of REEEAR - B EWRGIBEEXEH I
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss R EEREENERRS T

allowance, are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Within 3 months AR 171,477 148,234
3 to 6 months 3&6fEA 5,224 4,491
7 to 12 months 721218 A 73,430 5,621
More than 1 year but less than 3 years 1F LA EBR3FUR 3,643 9,072
Over 3 years 3FLA L 1,315 977
Less: loss allowance B EERE (6,847) (3,253)

248,242 165,142

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)
18 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 18 FAMNMIE - ZERAEMEBRR
OTHER RECEIVABLES b |
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Current B3R
Prepayments for purchase of services/goods B8 E fR75, & & 2 A Z08 1,263 8,142
Receivable from a supplier (i) JEM A 8 P R IE () 43,558 43,558
Deposits b 1,972 2,335
Deductible input value-added tax AR TR (E 10,341 19,803
Receivables from retailers and advertisers ~ JERZER MBS B 8,033 17,906
Receivable for transferring software E R R R I8
copyright PAWAY -
Other receivables H At fEUFRIR 41,241 27,585
Less: loss allowance (i) W IR EG) (44,737) (43,833)
83,388 75,496
Non-current JEBNHA
Prepayments for purchase of property and B B ¥72 K % 89 FE 1 208
equipment 15,615
Lease and security deposits HERERRES 4,467
20,082
(i) The receivable from a supplier was in connection with a () ZEERW—XHEFHRBEE-BARYK

dispute for purchase of goods of RMB43,558,000. The Group
sued such supplier for undelivered goods. Full provision was

43,558,000t EMBEAUNER - NEEH
AR ERBFZEIER - AREEEE

provided for the receivable from the third-party supplier, TEATBE - MELEWE =7 BRIS R IE AR
since the loss was determined to be probable. SRR -
Current portion of prepayments, deposits and other TBRFIE - Be REAMERGRIERN RN
receivables are expected to be recovered or recognized as TEEEN —FARE S BRRBFAX

expenses within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAND 19 RERALEEYUREMIR

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION eREER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: () BekBEeEEYEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Cash at bank and on hand SRITNFER S 857,644 554,104
Less: Restricted bank deposits (i) W IR BRI TAE 5R(3) (56,598) (20,933)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREeEFEY 801,046 533,171
(i)  As of December 31, 2024, the restricted cash mainly () EE20244128318 ' RHIHERS
represents pledged term deposits for letters of FERARFAEERRNEERER

(b)

N

guarantee.

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to

cash used in operations:

Loss before taxation

Adjustments for:

Fair value change of convertible
redeemable preferred shares

Fair value changes of derivative
components of convertible bond

Share of losses of associates

Dividends income

Depreciation on property and
equipment

Amortization of intangible assets

(Gain)/loss disposal of property and
equipment

Investment income from wealth
management products

Fair value change on financial assets
at FVPL

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

PR AT 1R

BMEUATIEE R -

A BT 0 OB SR A
NRBEZED)
AR E ST A MK ED
DR RAEEES

FEnZ Rl & A R EE

e B

YERRBITE

BB

HEWE KRB
(Wezs) /518

B EMMNIRE R

E/

N

BEFABGDZ
MEENALEE

S
& @

=

)ﬁ”w

(b) REAMBRELEFRAREHN

HER -
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T ARET T
(2,221,254) (658,760)
27 2,275,701 476,160
28 (1,408) 2,570
215 =
6 (1,527) -
12(a) 37,282 45,793
13 23,803 12,485
(125) 246
6 (1,090) (167)
6 (43,762)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

19 RERBFAESEEYWUREMIER
EREER @)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) BRBAIESEELCEFFARESHN
R (®)

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to
cash used in operations: (continued)

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BteE ARMT T AREFTT
Impairment loss on trade and B 5 KB A R IE
other receivables RIEEE 7(0) 4,660 1,784
Interest on bank loans and RITER R EAER
other borrowings & 7(a) 14,147 9,027
Gains on derecognition of IR IR E A
convertible bond Wz 7(a) (12,736) =
Accrued financial charges of AR E S BT BT
convertible bond A 7(a) 11,668 13,595
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 7(a) 1,444 1,870
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries & ME R &H)
(Wzs),/ BE (PLEX:117)] 1
Equity settled share-based payment  LAtEzS4EE R AR &
expenses HERONZRFES 7(b) 19,257 13,620
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
(Increase)/decrease in restricted ZPR BRI TIERK
bank deposits (), (46,178) 35,153
Decrease/(increase) in inventories and 17 & K& Hith & 49K 2
other contract costs D, (38hn) 6,612 (5,275)
Increase in trade receivables and B I REWHIEREL
contract asset BEE (86,177) (25,218)
Increase in other receivables and H Ao fEURGRIE K TS
prepayments FRIBHEN (36,727) (7,557)
Deferred tax assets FEIEFIRE = (2,168)
Deferred tax liabilities BEIEFIIEAE (1,682) (1,687)
Increase in trade payables B 5 T FRIAE N 11,969 20,788
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — E b (71BN BT &
and accruals A, ) 35,651 (109,656)
Increase in contract liabilities BHaEREN 2,278 41,815
Cash used in operations REmRARE (74,204) (179,343)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(continued)

() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities:

N

The table below details changes in the Group’s

liabilities from financing activities, including both

cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from

financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

At January 1, 2024

Changes from financing
cash flows:
Interest element of lease

®20245181H

RERSRELT:

ENEENFEHD

Bank loans

and other
borrowings
RITERR
HitifE R

Note RMB'000
Mz ARETT
(Note 22)

(MzE22)

314,176

444,158
(229,000)

(13,835)

rentals paid
Capital element of lease ANz
rentals paid
Proceeds from bank loans SR/ TEFFTEUE
Repayment of bank loans BEFTER
Repayment of convertble BB AER{ES
bond
Interest paid BERFE
Total changes from RERSRELDAR

financing cash flows

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

201,323

REeERBFAESEEYWUREMER
EREER @)

() MEEBHELMNEEHR:

TRAMASERELDELNRERE
8 BRASNEREEY - AR
EENBERBARESRERRIR S
MERGAERERERDEABETD

ReMEMEE -
Convertible
redeemable
preferred Convertible Lease
shares bond liabilities Total
&R
BEELR TEREZ 2 HAEEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTRL
(Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24)
(Mk27)  (Foskzs)  (Kstad)

6,965,493 208,577 40,584 7,528,830

(1,444) (1,444)

(22,238) (22,238)
444,158
(229,000)

(190,000)
(15,692)

(190,000)
(29,527)

(205,692)

(23,682) (28,051)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities: (continued)

EREER &)

19 BERRSE/YURHE MR

(0 MEEBELNEEHR: @

Convertible
Bank loans redeemable
and other  preferred Convertible Lease
borrowings shares bond liabilities Total
RITEFR  AEA
HitfEn EEELR FERES 2 HE8E st
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETr ARETR
(Note 22) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24)
(Wk22)  (Fesra7)  (Wst28)  (Fso4)
Other changes: Hitt 2% :
Increase in lease liabilities from FREIVHHE 2 HE
entering into new leases BEEMm
during the year 19,153 19,153
Early termination of leases ~ RAIAREHEE (10,052) (10,052)
Accrued financial charges of  AJEEHA(EAERT B
convertible bond 5 11,668 11,668
Interest expenses FSRE% - 15,591
Changes in fair value through AR EE AR
profit or loss = 2,275,701 (1,408) 2,274,293
Gains on derecognition of & |FRER A BB {ES
convertible bond Yz ((PRED) (12,736)
Foreign currency translation NS EHE
adjustment 126,324 (409) 125,915
Transfer to ordinary shares BB EL AR (9,367,518) = (9,367,518)
Total other changes  Eft2#@#® (6,965,493) (2,885) 10,545  (6,943,686)
At December 31, 2024 R2024%12A31H 529,646 27,447 557,093

Annual Report 2024 5F F %R

DN




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAND 19 RERREZEYUREMIA

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION eREER @
(continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (0 MEITHELANEEHER  (©)

financing activities: (continued)

Convertible
Bank loans redeemable
and other  preferred Convertible Lease
borrowings shares bond liabilities Total
RTERKR  AERT
HiteR BEELR 7ERES HE8E st
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz AREFT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETET
(Note 22) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24)
(War22)  (Wek27)  (Kist28)  (Mfat4)

At January 1, 2023 R2023F171H 120,490 6,378,735 203,193 20313 6,722,731

Changes from financing ~ BEREHELE .

cash flows:
Interest element of lease ENHENFIESD

rentals paid - - - (1,870) (1,870)
Capital element of lease AN L)

rentals paid - - - (25,845) (25,845)
Proceeds from bank loans BITERMGHE 260,700 = = = 260,700
Proceeds of borrowings froma —F B A B IR

non-controlling shareholder Rt fFEFFIEHIE

of a subsidiary 2,700 - - - 2,700
Repayment of bank loans BEFTER (70,020) = = = (70,020)
Interest paid BEAFIE (8,721) = (11,173) = (19,894)
Total changes from HERERESDAN

financing cash flows 184,659 = (11,173) (27,715) 145,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAND 19 RERREZEYUREMIA

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER @
(continued)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (0 MEITHELANEEHER (&)

financing activities: (continued)

Convertible
Bank loans redeemable
and other  preferred Convertible Lease
borrowings shares bond liabilities Total
RTERKR  AEET
HiteR BEEER 7ERES HE8E st
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARETFT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETET
(Note 22) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24)
(War22)  (Wek27)  (Kist28)  (Mfat4)

Other changes: Hitt 2% :
Increase in lease liabilities from EBAHELNAEE

business combination el - - - 5,371 5,371
Increase in lease liabilities from FREIFHE 2 HE

entering into new lease BEEM

during the year - - - 40,745 40,745
Accrued financial charges of  AEEHAEHE A B

convertible bond 53 28 - - 13,595 - 13,595
Interest expenses MEFX 7(a) 9,027 - - 1,870 10,897
Changes in fair value through  #ZA R (BB AERZ

profit or loss & 27,28 - 476,160 2,570 - 478,730
Foreign currency translation ~ JNEITEER

adjustment - 110,598 392 - 110,990
Total other changes HitBBAE 9,027 586,758 16,557 47,986 660,328
At December 31, 2023 R2023%12A31R 314,176 6,965,493 208,577 40,584 7,528,830
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAND 19 RERBALEEYUREMI

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EREER @

(continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases: (d) HEBRESHRHALE:
Amounts included in the statement of cash flows for REETF AR RERNSEBIE N
leases comprise the following: FIA -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Within operating cash flows REEREREN 6,748 10,752
Within financing cash flows REERESREN 23,682 27,715
30,430 38,467
20 TRADE PAYABLES 20 EZEMNARIE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Logistics cost payable FET YA AR 28,016
AloT product and service fee payable FEfTAIOTE b K R 75 & 50,140

Customer service fee and other procurement JEHEF RIS & M H b EREE
cost payable BN 8,407
86,563
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

20 TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 20 ESENRE®

The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on the B ZRENFIERZEE R AR DT T -
invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBT T

Within 3 months 3EAMA 91,472 77,959
3 to 6 months 3%6{E A p) 1,775
7 to 12 months 721218 A 120 2,989
Over 1 year 1A E 6,939 3,840
86,563
All trade payables are expected to be settled within one year FrB 8 5 BN FIRTERT R —F A4 E IR
or are repayable on demand. EREE -
21 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER 21 EFERAREMENTIE
PAYABLES
The Group A&EH
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥TR ARET T

Current BNHA

Accrued payroll and welfare JEET T E KA 109,763 137,375
Payables to retailers and merchants (i) B ZE R RSP EIA>) 10,666 153,677
Deposits from merchants Slatisn 3,636 4,175
Refundable government subsidy (i) A RAE S BN () 23,000 23,000
Cloud services fee payables ENERBE 1,125 4,343
Taxes payable FERTREIR 7,371 16,768
Professional fee payables ENHEEER 12,444 20,784
Other payables HAbFER SR 93,970 62,627

261,975 422,749
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

21 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER 21 ERtERREMENRIE @)
PAYABLES (continued)
The Company PN

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T

Current BPER
Professional fee payables ENEXER 6,617 18,139
Amounts due to related parties JE 1~ A ESE 75 5RIE 47,119 =
Others HAb 180 1
53,916 18,140
Non-current JERNHA
Amounts due to related parties FE{ST AR 5 2 5,569
5,569
(i)  Payables to retailers and merchants mainly represent () ENTERREFPHEEIEZREARTETIR
cash collected on behalf of retailers and merchants from HEREEEWERIRS -
consumers.
(i) Refundable government subsidy represents the cash received (i) AIREBTHBERBFKENE RS B
from the government, but the conditions attaching to the M HERIR S -
grant have not been fulfilled.
Current portion of accrued expenses and other payables are FEATE B R E A B AR BB S BT S
expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on R—FREFTHIREK(EE -
demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER 22 SRITERREMMER
BORROWINGS

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Current BPER
Bank loans RITER 442,454 199,331
Borrowings from other companies HAb R RIE K 2,842 2,745
L Sacall 202,076
Non-current JEBNHA
Bank loans RITER 84,350 112,100
e 84,350 [N 112,100
529,646 314,176
(a) As at the end of each reporting period, (a) ABRHREH R BEEGRE
borrowings were repayable as follows: byl N
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARETT
Within 1 year or on demand 1FEAFIREK 445,296 202,076
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&E2FR 63,350 64,500
After 2 years but within 5 years 2518 B5F R 21,000 47,600

529,646 314,176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

(b) As at the end of each reporting period,

22 SRITERREMER @)

(b) REMEHK - ERWEAFE

N

borrowings were secured as follows:

W

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Bank Loans MITER
— Secured —FHE# 225,564 173,094
— Unsecured — R 301,239 138,337
Other borrowings HibER
— Unsecured — A 2,843 2,745
529,646 314,176

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had total bank
facilities amounting to RMB1,060,000,000 and
USD17,149,000 (equivalent to RMB123,275,000),
and the Group had unused bank facilities of
RMB584,055,000 and USD 10,149,000 (equivalent to
RMB72,955,000).

As at December 31, 2024, the loan in amount of
RMB 164,600,000 borrowed by Dmall Life (China)
Network Technology Co., Ltd. and RMB10,000,000
borrowed by Dmall Life (Beijing) Technology was
guaranteed by Dmall Life (China) Digital and Dmall
(Shenzhen) Digital separately, and the loan in amount
of USD7,000,000 (equivalent to RMB50,313,000)
borrowed by Dmall Hong Kong Limited was
guaranteed by Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital Technology
Co., Ltd.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

MR2024F 128318 - "EBHIRIT
Bz E B85 & AR %1,060,000,000
70 5 17,149,000 € 7t (& RN A R ¥
123,275,0007T ) * AEEBE K EH A K
RITHE A E A A R 584,055,000
7T} 10,149,000 T (HHE RN AR
72,955,0007T) °

HZE2024F 128318 » 224 E(F
B M RERARBANSEA
A R # 164,600,000 T E R & % 2
EEAER)BREBEANSEAARK
10,000,000 7T W E 5 5 Bl A % Bh A& &
(PENEFTRZEORIDETFTER - 0
% Bh A& B R A RE A#R)7,000,0003
TT(FEER ARES50,313,0007T) W E K
RZE ORI HEFRHRBR A FER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23 SHERE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

— Retail core service cloud —ZERZLORBE 88,679 73,887
— E-commerce service cloud — BT EERBEE 4,007
— Others —HA 13,394
91,288

Movements in contract liabilities SHEEEH
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Balance at January 1 Dz RREL:OFE S 91,288 49,473

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HRHERTAENELNEE
recognizing revenue during the year that B E A E B EA A

was included in the contract liabilities at &R

the beginning of the year (63,365) (33,917)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result B EF U EITES FIE M

of receiving advance payments BYAAEEEN

during the year 60,756 75,732
Balance at December 31 W12 A318 2 &8 88,679 91,288
As at December 31, 2024, the amount of contract liabilities HR202412A31H « TBEARNBR —F1481ER
expected to be recognized as income after more than one BRENEHNABESEAARKS3,306,000
year is RMB53,306,000 (2023: RMB41,866,000). (20234 : AR¥41,866,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEERE
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRIITREREARNEEEER BN
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities as at the end of TEHEIEBER

each of the reporting period:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T

v ey Lo 2302 29428
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FZE2FRA 3,781 13,915
After 2 years but within 5 years 218 B5F N 1,241
e $ 865 1556
40,584
25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 DESEENURGAERA
TRANSACTIONS &
The table below sets forth share-based payments expenses TREFINRBEHAFRRERE  BRHIRGNE
for share options, RSUs and restricted ordinary shares during iz Kz 52 FR 16 B B8 1 9 AR £ 7 B Bt &9 -1 3%
the reporting period: Fx :
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Share Option Plan RS 12,741 9,182
RSUs PR WAL B AL 4,128 2,158
Restricted ordinary shares PR A B AR 2,388 2,280

19,257 13,620
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company

(i)

Pre-IPO share incentive plan

On January 8, 2016, the shareholders of the
Company approved the 2016 Share Incentive
Plan (the “2016 Plan”) for the purpose of
promoting the success and enhancing the
value of our Company by linking the personal
interests of the directors, senior management
and employees to those of the Company’s
shareholders and by providing these individuals
with incentives for outstanding performance.

The overall limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued pursuant to all Awards under
the 2016 Plan (the "Equity Incentive Pool”)
is @ maximum of 99,850,000 Shares, of which
Options shall consist of 50,000,000 Shares and
RSUs shall consist of 49,850,000 Shares.

Restricted share units and share options granted
to employees or non-employees under the
2016 Plan are generally subject to a five-year
service schedule, under which 25% of restricted
share units or share options shall vest on each
anniversary date since the second anniversary of
the grant date. Restricted share units and share
options become exercisable only when an Initial
Public Offering (“IPO") occurs. If the employee
leaves the Company with good faith before
the IPO, the employee will retain the vested
restricted share units or share options.

On April 2, 2021, the shareholders of the
Company approved and adopted the 2020
Stock Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) for the
purpose of attracting and retaining the best
available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility, to provide additional incentives to
employees, and directors of the Group and to
promote the success of the Company’s business.

25 DESEENUROHERN

10 )

(a) ADTRMDERETE

(i)

BRRRBRERN RO RS

12016561 A8H » AAREIRREHAL
T 2016 AR DB ENEHEI([2016
F5rEl)) BEERBBES -5
REERE K& 8 A E AR 2= B AR
NAIRRO T = B8 - WRZE
ATREEZRFHE - AR
ERARIRIKI RRAHEE -

BIK2016 F 5T EITE T F1 B 42 )
([BRREB @) o] FETHAR G
2B EERER% /99,850,000
R HAPBREERE
50,000,000% % 1 & 5 PR 1 B 15
{1 P3549,850,000% f& 17 o

2016F 5181 MR TR B HIFE
B OS2 IR il B 00 BE 7 N BB A 5B
FXRRAFRBEE - Bt -
PR I B A7 B S B AR 925 %
FER B B HIME —BFEN
BEBFERE - XRHIRME
MEBREENERAFAEE
(BRDFABEDBERT AT
% - Mz EERBERAFREEH
EERFAARAT - BIZEE KR
HERBNXRBIRMEMKE
RAE o

720214828 » AAFRLERL
I ERAN T 20204F B B Eh At
([2020F%H8l]) - EEREESE
ERENBUIBERBTRES
MATAAER TAAEEEER
ERIRHREINEE - LMREARR
RIEBHRI °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 DEZEENURGAERA
TRANSACTIONS (continued) R @)
(a) Share award schemes by the Company (a) &AATRMEETEI(E)
(continued)
(i) Pre-IPO share incentive plan (continued) () BXAHBERRMDBEE
(&)
The overall limit on the number of Shares which R 2020 F 51 8118 T F1 B 2R
may be issued pursuant to all Awards under the (RS |) AT ae 31T R AR D
2020 Plan (the “Equity Incentive Pool”) is the EE MEREREE AN A B
sum of (i) a maximum of 60,000,000 Shares RS I BB AL S AT B 361 T
which may be issued in the form of Options ) 5% % 60,000,000 A% B& 15 K (ii)
or RSUs, and (ii) other Shares as approved by SEHENEMRMDBER -
the Board, including such number of Shares BIEEE R2016FM % BNz
equivalent to the unused portion of the scheme M ZaT 82 B O ET 81 LR AR BD
limit of the 2016 Share Incentive Plan as at the A& MRS °

expiry of such plan.

Under which a total of 60,000,000 restricted BIEZE - & HEFTEE
share units and share options were newly 60,000,000 R il A% 17 B8 iz &
authorized. In addition, for the number of BERSAE o HhAN - 2016F5TEITB T
restricted share units and share options (1) HI(AREETT + QB EBEITHEBILK
unissued; (2) issued but forfeited shares and (3) AR X (3) B BT IR AR R A2 Uk
issued and that is forfeited in the future under B S PR Il AR 10 B 7 R BE AR i 2
the 2016 Plan are authorized under the 2020 fE2020F 5T 81T TR #E - 1
Plan. Upon the effective of the 2020 Plan, no 20204F 5T &K% - 20165 5T ]
new shares would be issued under the 2016 BB EITHARD ° 20205
Plan. Restricted share units and share options STEITE T 8 R I M (0 B i J2 B
under the 2020 Plan are generally subject to a RiEREZRNAFRGETE -
five-year service schedule, under which 25% BB ZATE - R IR0 B8 7 5k
of restricted share units or share options shall HBIRERI25% FERR B X B B8
vest on each anniversary date since the second MAFEHNSERFEAEE o i
anniversary of the grant date. If the employee ZEENRBRAREEN=ER
leaves the Company with good faith before FAAR - AlZEEBREES
the IPO, the employee will retain the vested JB Y2 PRl AR 1) B Sk BB AR A o

restricted share units or share options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 DESEENURGAERE
TRANSACTIONS (continued) R @)
(a) Share award schemes by the Company (a) &AAFRMERETEI(#E)
(continued)
(i) Pre-IPO share incentive plan (continued) () BXAHBERROBBEE
(&)
Share Option Plan EREAZ
A summary of activities of the share options is B EERAT

presented as follows:

Weighted
Number of average
share options  exercise price

BREXRE MEFHITEE

usb

ETT
Outstanding — January 1, 2024 HARITE—2024%1 818 62,792,800 1.67
Granted during the year FRERE 2,779,500 2.72
Forfeited during the year FAERIK (5,547,950) 2.47
Outstanding — December 31, 2024  [HK7T8—2024F 128318 60,024,350 1.64
Exercisable — December 31, 2024  RJ{T{£—2024F12A31H 42,748,300 1.30
Outstanding — January 1, 2023 WARTTEE—2023F181H 63,174,000 1.60
Granted during the year FRERH 9,128,000 2.72
Forfeited during the year FAERIK (9,509,200) 2.22
Outstanding — December 31, 2023 HAR{T{F —2023F12431H 62,792,800 1.67
Exercisable — December 31, 2023  AJ17f —20234F12A31H = =
The contractual lives of these share options are ZEBRENEGONFEHRAENE
(i) either five years from the later of December 6, 202412 B6H([ LW A &
2024 (the “Listing Date”) and the vesting date EEARTRERM A ERSRE

or (ii) ten years from the vesting date. (i) B 5B A E#e s+ 4F -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company
(continued)

N

(i)

Pre-IPO share incentive plan (continued)

Fair value of share options

The fair value of share options was estimated
using the Binomial option-pricing model. The
determination of estimated fair value of share
options on the grant date is affected by the fair
value of the Company’s ordinary shares as well
as assumptions regarding a number of complex
and subjective variables.

Key assumptions are set as below:

Risk-free interest rates 2 B i 1) 2
Expected volatility TEER B %
Exercise multiple IT{EfEER

Dividend yield A% B s &

The expected volatility was referenced to the
average of daily historical share price volatility
of comparable companies operating in similar
industry of the Company.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

25 UIREREENURDAERMN

RB )

(a) F=LERHEBEI (S

(i)

BR R BRER R BB RS

(%)
BRENIEE

BRENAEETRAZEA
M EERIUMG - BEER
BREH AN ARBER
RRREBRAAEBEARFRE
ETHEMERTBEHNRINT
@,

ERREFINWT ¢

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

3.57%-3.85%
52.8%-53.1%

3.85%
53.1%
2.2 2.2

0% 0%

BMREE2E T EARBERN
BETENRI LR RS REL K
BB XM FIE



25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company

(continued)
(i) Pre-IPO share incentive plan (continued) (i)
RSUs

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and

the respective weighted average grant date fair

value are as follows:

25 DIESGAERNUROHERN

RB )
(a) QTG EBFTE(E)

BIRARBER R BB S
(&)

FRHIIR 7 E A
EREZREIBEODELEE RE
BNEFERE A BRAREBEL
M -

Weighted
average grant

Number of date fair value

RSUs per RSU

S5 Z R GG

E=Rva:opii

ZRERE FHREAH

BNEE AREE

usD

ETT

Outstanding — January 1, 2024 MARTTEE—2024F181H 15,371,359 0.30
Granted during the year FAERE 3,697,700 1.77
Forfeited during the year FAERIK (1,073,750) 1.06
Exercised during the year FAREITE (12,567,609) 0.16
Outstanding — December 31, 2024  [HA&77{# —2024%12A31H 5,427,700 1.48
Outstanding — January 1, 2023 HARITE—2023F1 818 15,708,859 0.25
Granted during the year FREED 2,000,000 1.26
Forfeited during the year FAERIK (2,337,500) 0.82
Outstanding — December 31, 2023 #K77{# —2023%F12831H 15,371,359 0.30

The contractual lives of these RSUs are (i) either

five years from the later of the Listing Date and

the vesting date or (ii) ten years from the vesting

date.

The fair value of each RSU was determined by

reference to the market price of the Company’s

shares at the respective grant date.

ZEZRBIRDBELNEOFH
AOB LT EBREER TR
BE ARG AFER()EFER
HIRERT+4F -

BOHXBRHIRMHEMLNREE

PESERRTRHNEERT
A T E T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company
(continued)

N

(ii)

Post-IPO share incentive plan

On November 27, 2024, the shareholders of
the Company approved the 2024 First Share
Incentive Plan conditionally the Post-IPO Plan
for the purpose of remunerating, incentivizing,
retaining, rewarding, compensating and/or
providing benefits to eligible participants; to
align the interests of eligible participants with
those of the Company and Shareholders by
providing such eligible participants with the
opportunity to acquire shareholding interests
in the Company; and to encourage eligible
participants to contribute to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Company and
to enhance the value of the Company and its
Shares for the benefit of the Company and
Shareholders as a whole.

The overall limit on the number of underlying
shares which may be delivered pursuant to
all awards granted under the Post-IPO Plan
is 44,334,506 shares of the Company. The
Company shall, in respect of each Award, issue a
letter to each grantee setting out the terms and
conditions of the Award (an “Award Letter”),
which may include the number of Shares in
respect of which the Award relates, the issue
price or exercise price (as applicable), the vesting
criteria and conditions, the vesting date, any
minimum performance targets that must be
achieved and any such other details as the
scheme administrator may consider necessary,
and requiring the grantee to undertake to hold
the Award on the terms of the Award Letter and
be bound by the provisions of the rules of the
plan.
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10 )

(a) AT ERETE(#)

(ii)

BRNRBRERR O BB S

R2024F11 A278 » &ANRQ AR
AL T 2024 5 — D BB ET
2l ZEEIMA e A AFAEEE
el BEREERSEERE
BN B BB RE) - fE
/5@ BiRmEER2HE
ERBWEARRFRENKS
EEE =R PN Xz
Mam—3 0 WeEE ERBEE
RANTINREIER KA G
ERER - WRARARRIRR
R BEF IR A AN 2 B R E AR (D
ZBfE -

BEEBERXARABEEFTEREN
Fir B 228 Pl A2 1< W AR B AR 0 81 B
H)#E B8 IR A44,334,506 8 A A
AIRAD © AR RIZAHE S 18 52 E) M)
FBHEBEANEHEYG - BPETE
DAY R R it ([ SR ek 44 ) -
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MEE - BITERTEE(WE
R BEEERKY  HEAR
B MEEBRERREREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

25 DESEENUROHERN

RB )
(a) QTG EBFTE(E)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company
(continued)

BRNRABRERRD B S

(ii) Post-IPO share incentive plan (continued) (i)

Exercise price and exercise period of Share
Options: The exercise price for Share Options
shall be no less than the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on
the grant date; and (ii) the average closing price
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the grant
date. The exercise period for Share Options shall
be not longer than 10 years from the grant
date. A Share Option shall lapse automatically
and shall not be exercisable (to the extent not
already exercised) on the expiry of the tenth
anniversary from the grant date.

In the event of any alteration in the capital
structure of the Company by way of
capitalization of profits or reserves, rights issue,
open offer, subdivision or consolidation of Shares
or reduction of the share capital of the Company
(other than any alteration in the capital structure
of the Company as a result of an issue of Shares
as consideration in a transaction to which the
Company is a party) after the adoption date,
the scheme administrator shall make such
corresponding adjustments, if any, as it in its
discretion may deem appropriate to reflect the
change.

(%)

BRENITEERTER B
BOTEENSERIATEEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

25 DIERGEERNUROHERN

RB )
(a) QTR GEBETE(E)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company
(continued)

BRNRBRERRD B S

(ii) Post-IPO share incentive plan (continued) (i)

N

On November 26, 2024, the shareholders of
the Company approved the 2024 Second Share
Incentive Plan conditionally the Post-IPO Plan
for the purpose of remunerating, incentivizing,
retaining, rewarding, compensating and/or
providing benefits to eligible participants; to
align the interests of eligible participants with
those of the Company and Shareholders by
providing such eligible participants with the
opportunity to acquire shareholding interests
in the Company; and to encourage eligible
participants to contribute to the long-term
growth and profitability of the Company and
to enhance the value of the Company and its
Shares for the benefit of the Company and
Shareholders as a whole.

The total number of Award Shares which may be
granted under the 2024 Second Share Incentive
Plan is 46,789,006 Shares, which shall consist of
existing Shares only. For the avoidance of doubt,
no new Shares shall be issued by the Company
(including transfer of treasury shares) pursuant
to the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 LREREENURSAERD
TRANSACTIONS (continued) RB )

(a) ADTRMDERETE (@)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company
(continued)

(i) BRAMBERRO MBS

(ii) Post-IPO share incentive plan (continued)

The Company shall, in respect of each Award,
issue a letter to each grantee setting out
the terms and conditions of the Award (an
“Award Letter”), which may include the
number of Shares in respect of which the Award
relates, the purchase price or exercise price (as
applicable), the vesting criteria and conditions,
the vesting date, any minimum performance
targets that must be achieved and any such
other details as the scheme administrator may
consider necessary, and requiring the grantee
to undertake to hold the Award on the terms of
the Award Letter and be bound by the provisions
of the rules of the plan.

The Company shall, in respect of each Award,
issue a letter to each grantee setting out
the terms and conditions of the Award (an
“Award Letter”), which may include the
number of Shares in respect of which the Award
relates, the purchase price or exercise price (as
applicable), the vesting criteria and conditions,
the vesting date, any minimum performance
targets that must be achieved and any such
other details as the scheme administrator may
consider necessary, and requiring the grantee
to undertake to hold the Award on the terms
of the Award Letter and be bound by the
provisions of the rules of the plan. The scheme
administrator may determine the amount (if
any) payable on application or acceptance of an
Award and the period within which any such
payments must be made, which amounts (if any)
and periods shall be set out in the Award Letter.

(%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) Share award schemes by the Company

(continued)

(ii) Post-IPO share incentive plan (continued)

In the event of any alteration in the capital
structure of the Company by way of
capitalization of profits or reserves, rights issue,
open offer, subdivision or consolidation of Shares
or reduction of the share capital of the Company
(other than any alteration in the capital structure
of the Company as a result of an issue of Shares
as consideration in a transaction to which the
Company is a party) after the adoption date,
the scheme administrator shall make such
corresponding adjustments, if any, as it in its
discretion may deem appropriate to reflect the
change.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has
approved but not yet granted share-based
awards under the 2024 First Share Incentive Plan
and the 2024 Second Share Incentive Plan.

(b) Share incentive plan by Shenzhen Enjoy

N

On May 25, 2023, the shareholders of Shenzhen Enjoy
approved a share incentive plan (the “Shenzhen
Enjoy incentive plan”). The participants were
granted 613,000 restricted ordinary shares with a
grant price of RMB8.5 per share on May 25, 2023.
The vesting of the restricted ordinary shares is subject
to certain performance targets and will take place in
two equal instalments over 24 months.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Share incentive plan by Shenzhen Enjoy

(continued)

All these shares of Shenzhen Enjoy are restricted for
sale until certain service and performance conditions
are met. The fair value of these restricted ordinary
shares at the grant date was RMB17 per Shenzhen
Enjoy ordinary share with reference to its market price.
For the year ended December 31, 2024, 306,500 of
restricted ordinary shares were vested (2023: nil) and
the repurchase obligation for the vested restricted
ordinary shares was cancelled accordingly. As at
December 31, 2024, 306,500 of restricted ordinary
shares were outstanding (2023:613,000 of restricted
ordinary shares).

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as
follows:

25 UIREREENUROAERDN

RB )
(b) FYNBEHRDBBEETE ()

REKH TR RERBIGHER - FTB%
ERNDREBOHEIZRHLE - ZE
R EBRNEL BN AAEE
AHERFIISELBIRARE 177 (K
SEHME) - 2202451283181k
FE - 306,500 Z R # LB E 5B
(2023%F : %) - EREBXRHIZEBR
BB &I 2 AAEEUE - 102024412
A31H - 306,5000% 5B i &8 A% 1% &
Z%77(2023%F : 613,000% 5 BR Hll 8
&) o

26 HFEPBARRKRNFAER

(a) #RE BN R ENBH IR
T

Income tax payable/(receivable) at
January 1

Provision for the year

Effect of withholding tax

Tax refunded/(paid):

—Income Tax

— Withholding tax

Income tax payable at December 31

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
1 A1BER,(FBKR)

FRiSHt (78)
FANREE 33
AR E 501
(B, BRERE :

—FTiSHt 95
—TEHH (547)
12831 B ERARSH 4
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e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognized

(i) Movements of each component of
deferred tax assets and liabilities

The deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognized in
the consolidated statement of financial position
and the movements during year are as follows:

Cumulative
tax losses

26 GZEMBEMRRARVABHR @

(b) CHRFEEHREERAR

(i) EEHREEERBESEARDD
DTHEE

A BN R PR A ELER
BEE,/(BE)ARRERNHZ
E) N

Restricted Revaluation

Credit loss ordinary of intangible

allowance shares assets Others Total

FHERR FEFRRE XMILER EVEEER Rt )

N

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETr ARETR ARETT ARETR
Deferred tax arising UTEEEEMEL
from: BE:
At January 1, 2023 ®2023F1A1H 1,595 404 - (14,186) 89 (12,098)
Credited/(charged) to A/ Gk E) B
profit or loss 1,982 (143) 342 1,683 9) 3,855
AtDecember 31,2023 72023%12H318 3,577 261 38 (12,503) 80 (8,243)
Credited/(charged) to A/ (IR B )
profit or loss 227 26 (228) 1,682 (25 1,682
AtDecember31,2024  R2024%128318 3,804 287 14 (10821) 55 (6,561)
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26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 #HEBERRKRNAES @)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (b) ERRELEHBEEEREB®)
recognized (continued)
(i) Reconciliations to the consolidated (i) FREMBEARRKER

statement of financial position

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T

Net deferred tax asset in the tR e BRSO R AR
consolidated statement of MIREEFE
financial position 4,260
Net deferred tax liability in the fRE B RS RR R AT
consolidated statement of IR BB FE
financial position (10,821) (12,503)
(6,561) (8,243)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized () KREHELEHBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in WIEM 200 E TR - ANEEI
Note 2(x), the Group has not recognized deferred MmA2024512 A3 Bt 251 HiEE B
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of AR #5,165,688,0007T (2023 4F : A
RMB5, 165,688,000 at December 31, 2024 (2023: FR#55,420,825,0007T ) HERIELEF HE
RMB5,420,825,000), as it is not probable that future E - YRR ERER SR AR TR
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilized A H K A] BE RS R 2R FE R A TR A
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and KB EE -
entities.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED 27 BAREBEFABRENEHME

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR &

LOSS

Convertible redeemable preferred shares Al E R A E B T R

Issued and fully paid 2RTRHE

Series of Convertible Redeemable Issue Price Proceeds

Preferred Shares Share Issued per Share from issuance

AR A R E R R RS 2T BRETE  BTRERE
usD usb
ETT ETT

106,000,000 1.00 106,000,000

B 40,404,040 1.98 80,000,000

B+ 25,505,051 1.98 50,500,000

B++ 18,399,621 2.50 46,000,000

C 132,103,065 2.80 369,888,571

C+ 13,354,347 3.88 51,814,866

The rights, preferences and privileges of the Series A AlRESERR - BB - B+ERE AR - B++

Preferred Shares, Series B Preferred Shares, Series B+ B - CIEBARRC+IRE SR (HTE

Preferred Shares, Series B++ Preferred Shares, Series C [ e T OB ST AR | ) AUAER « B B

Preferred Shares and Series C+ Preferred Shares (collectively LT ¢

“Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares”) are as
follows:
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27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

Convertible redeemable preferred shares
(continued)

Redemption Rights

The preferred shares are redeemable at the option of the
holders after the occurrence of any of the following events:
(a) at any time after the fifth anniversary of the issuance
date of Series C+ Preferred Shares, if a Qualified IPO has
not been consummated by then; (b) Dr. Zhang Wenzhong,
together with his affiliate companies, ceasing to be the
single largest shareholder of the Company and have the
right to appoint or designate at least the majority of the
directors of the Company; (c) termination of cooperation
between the Group and the supermarkets in which Wumei
Technology Group Co., Ltd, holds more than 50% of equity
interests in; or (d) termination of VIEs Agreements, which
would result in that the Company’s failure to consolidate
the VIEs and VIEs’ subsidiary. For above-mentioned (c) and
(d), the Company is obliged to rectify within three months
after receipt of a written notice from any holder of Preferred
Shares demanding the rectification. The redemption rights
granted upon the occurrence of any of events (b), (c) and
(d) to the investors have been suspended immediately prior
to the first submission of the listing application form to the
Stock Exchange, and will only be exercisable if the listing
does not take place, otherwise such redemption rights will
terminate upon the listing.

The redemption preference from high priority to low priority
is as follows in sequence: Series C+ Preferred Shares, Series
C Preferred Shares, Series B++ Preferred Shares, Series B+
Preferred Shares/Series B Preferred Shares and Series A
Preferred Shares.

The redemption price equals to the amount at the issuance
price of preferred shares (as adjusted by any share split,
combination, recapitalization and other similar transactions)
plus an interest rate of 8% per annum (simple interest),
accruing daily from the first issuance date of such preferred
shares to the date the applicable redemption price is paid in
full by the Company.

27 RAARBEFAEZNEHE

B
nEBR T EEE LR (&)

LR
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27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED

NANCIAL STATEMENTS

AEEHAERI)

27 BRARBEFARZNEHE

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

Convertible redeemable preferred shares
(continued)

Conversion Feature

Each preferred share is convertible, at the option of the
holder, at any time after the issuance date according to
a conversion ratio, subject to adjustments for dilution,
including but not limited to share splits and combinations,
share dividends and distributions, issuance of new securities
for a consideration less than the applicable conversion
price (i.e. a “down-round” protection feature) and certain
other events. The number of ordinary shares to which a
holder shall be entitled upon conversion of each preferred
share shall be the quotient of the applicable original issue
price divided by the then effective conversion price for the
preferred shares (the “Conversion Price”), which shall
initially be the Issue Price, resulting in an initial conversion
ratio for the preferred shares of 1:1. The conversion price
of preferred shares is the same as its original issuance price
and no adjustments to conversion price have occurred. As
of December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023 and June 30, 2024,
each preferred share is convertible into one ordinary share.

Each preferred share shall automatically be converted, based
on the then-effective Conversion Price, without the payment
of any additional consideration, into fully-paid and non-
assessable ordinary shares upon the closing of a Qualified
IPO.

Immediately before the completion of the IPO on December
6, 2024, all convertible redeemable preferred shares were
converted into ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis.
The fair value of each of redeemable convertible preferred
share on the conversion date is the offer price in the IPO.
The differences of the fair value related to the convertible
redeemable preferred shares between December 31, 2023
and the date of the conversion were then recognized in the
profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

Convertible redeemable preferred shares
(continued)

Voting Rights

Each preferred shareholder shall be entitled to that number
of votes corresponding to the number of ordinary shares on
an as-converted basis.

Dividend Rights

No dividend shall be paid on or declared and set aside for
any ordinary share during any fiscal year unless and until a
dividend in like amount as is declared or paid on ordinary
shares has been paid on or declared and set aside for each
outstanding preferred share, on an as if converted basis, in
such fiscal year.

Liquidation Preferences

In the event of any dissolution, liquidation or winding up
of the Company or any other deemed liquidation event (as
defined below), the holders of the preferred shares shall
be entitled to receive the amount equal to one hundred
percent (100%) of the issue price for each preferred share
then held by them and, in addition, an amount equal to all
declared but unpaid dividends on such preferred shares (the
“Liquidation Preference Amount”), in the sequence of
Series C+ Preferred Shares, Series C Preferred Shares, Series
B++ Preferred Shares, Series B+ Preferred Shares/Series B
Preferred Shares and Series A Preferred Shares. If there are
any net assets remaining after the Liquidation Preference
Amount has been distributed or paid in full to all holders
of the preferred shares, the remaining net assets of the
Company available for distribution to the shareholders shall
be distributed ratably among all shareholders according to
the number of ordinary shares held by such shareholder on
an as if converted basis.
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27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

Convertible redeemable preferred shares
(continued)

Liquidation Preferences (continued)

“Deemed liquidation event” refer an event involving (i)
the sale, lease, transfer or other disposition, in a single
transaction or series of related transactions, by the Company
of all or substantially all the assets or properties of the
Company, except where such sale, lease, transfer or other
disposition is to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;
(i) any merger, consolidation, amalgamation or acquisition
of the Company, whereby the holders of the Company’s
Capital Stock immediately prior to the transaction own or
control less than a majority of the as-converted voting power
of the surviving entity immediately after such transaction;
or (i) any other transaction or series of related transactions
involving the Company as a result of which the holders
of the Company’s Capital Stock immediately prior to the
transaction, own or control less than a majority of the as-
converted voting power of the surviving entity immediately
after such transaction.

Upon the occurrence of the Deemed liquidation event,
the Company is required to be liquidated unless otherwise
waived by the holders holding at least 50% of the votes of
the outstanding Preferred Shares.

Presentation and classification

The Company classified the convertible redeemable
preferred shares as financial liabilities, because it is obliged
to redeem the convertible redeemable preferred shares
or liquidate itself at the option of the holders of the
outstanding preferred shares upon occurrence of contingent
events that are beyond its control and the preferred shares
are not in the most subordinated class of instruments issued
by the Company upon the liquidation.
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27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

Convertible redeemable preferred shares
(continued)

Presentation and classification (continued)

Upon occurrence of certain redemption events which are
beyond the control of the Company, the Company is obliged
to purchase the convertible redeemable preferred shares if
requested by the holders. Such redemption obligation also
gives rise to financial liabilities. The conversion feature meets
the definition of a derivative and the fixed-for-fixed criterion
is not met due to the “down-round” protection feature,
thus the conversion feature is classified as a derivative
financial liability. As at December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023
and June 30, 2024, all the preferred shares were classified as
current liabilities as the preferred shares may be converted
into ordinary shares at the option of the holders at any time
and the conversion feature does not meet the definition of
an equity instrument.

The convertible redeemable preferred shares are hybrid
instruments with parts that have different economic
characteristics and risks (debt vs equity nature).

The financial liability is designated and measured at fair
value through profit or loss in its entirety, as the Company
cannot reliably measure its embedded derivatives separately.

27 RAARBEFAEZNEHE

B
nEBR T EEE LR (&)

2R HEE)
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EINRE M BEEREUZAE - FE i ZEmn
MEHEBEATESREE - R20214F
20224 [ 2023412 A31 B A K 202446 A
308 - IAEBARHOEEEARBERE 1t
Ty B AR AT BE R AR IR (B SE AR I B A HDE
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TAMESR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

27 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED 27 BARBEFABRZNERME
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR B
LOSS (continued)
Convertible redeemable preferred shares ATER T EEE R (&)
(continued)
The movements of the convertible redeemable AER T ERE S REBEYNT

preferred shares are set out as below:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREF T

Balance at January 1 1 A1B 2455 6,965,493 6,378,735
Changes in fair value through profit or loss  EAREER A B2 &) 2,275,701 476,160
Foreign currency translation adjustment SN E T 126,324 110,598
Transfer to ordinary shares wEE T IR (9,367,518) =
Balance at December 31 RK12 8318 2 & 6,965,493
The Company has engaged an independent qualified RATEERE—ZB IS EREEGEMEE
professional valuer to determine the underlying equity value AR BEeREeEfBEEETAN R NEE
of the Company using the discounted cash flow valuation Re#E(E{E - I LA Black=Scholes i 7 & ## 25
approach and the fair value of convertible redeemable SR E T R ER A BOE LR A RE
preferred shares using Black-Scholes model and equity B o FEMEHILT :
allocation model. Key assumptions are set as below:
2023

20234
Discount rate ARIR & 16.00%
Risk-free interest rate e P 4.04%
Volatility A 55.71%
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

28 CONVERTIBLE BOND

At January 1, 2024 202451 H1H
Accrued finance charges FAEREER

for the year
Payment of accrued finance charges fExTREEE & FfTER
Fair value changes on the derivative T4 mEFD 2 A%

28 mEHBES

Liability Derivative

component components Total
aEHs PTEmE D At
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AREET T ARET T ARET T

185,235 23,342 208,577

11,668 11,668
(15,692) (15,692)

components EEEE) - (1,408)
Derecognition of convertible bond 4% |-#ERR Al 82 (E 54 8,789 (12,736)
Repayment of convertible bond BB A EEIRES (190,000) (190,000)
Foreign currency translation GNEE 3T & S R

adjustment (409)
At December 31, 2024 2024 12A31H
At January 1, 2023 72023F1 418 182,813 20,380 203,193
Accrued finance charges FREREER

for the year 13,595 - 13,595
Payment of accrued finance charges JEzTREE & TR (11,173) = (11,173)
Fair value changes on the derivative $T4fRERD Z AR

components EEE - 2,570 2,570
Foreign currency translation INEEIT E R

adjustment - 392 392
At December 31, 2023 72023 12A31H 185,235 23,342 208,577

On May 27, 2022, the Company, Dmall Life Network
and Beijing Heyin Investment Fund (Limited Partner)
("Beijing Heyin"”) entered into a series of agreements
(the "Convertible Bond Investment Agreements”).
Pursuant to the agreements, the Company agreed to issue,
and Beijing Heyin agreed to subscribe for a convertible
bond in the principal amount of RMB190,000,000 (the
“Convertible Bond"”), which bears interest of 5.8% per
annum and matures on June 14, 2027. Beijing Heyin paid
the consideration in cash to Dmall Life Network on June 15,
2022.

72022958278 © AR\~ ZEAER
wEIERASREES(BEREE) (=R
EFDIV—RIBER(TATERESRRE
WmEl)  c BEZSHE  AAFREHE
17 BEREGERERBERSBERARYE
190,000,000 7T #) 7] 85 4 (5 % ([ o] iR &
%) FHIEA58%IWH2027F6 5148 F|
H o b RA ER2022F6 A 158 MZ B4R
MR HBEENRE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

28 CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 28 TMEEZR®)

Beijing Heyin is entitled to early redeem the convertible bond
by a notice of redemption at its face value plus accrued but
not paid interest on June 14, 2025 or June 14, 2026 (i.e. the
put option).

The Company could early repay the convertible bond by a
notice of repayment at its face value plus accrued but not
paid interest at any time after June 14, 2025 (i.e. the call
option).

On or after the 180th calendar days upon the completion of
a Qualified IPO, Beijing Heyin could, at any time till maturity
date, convert the bond into ordinary shares of the Company
at conversion price of US$3.93 per share (i.e. the conversion
option).

If at any time on or after the 180th calendar days upon the
completion of a Qualified IPO till maturity date, if the closing
price per share of the Company on last trading day and the
average closing price per share of last 20 consecutive trading
days equal to or exceed US$5.1, the Company shall have
the right to require Beijing Heyin to convert the bond into
the Company’s ordinary shares (i.e. the forced conversion
option).

The convertible bond was initially bifurcated into liability
and derivative components upon issuance. The call option,
put option, conversion option and forced conversion option
are all classified as derivative financial instruments and have
been included in the balance of the convertible bond in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The effective
interest rate of the liability component of the convertible
bond is 7.6850% per annum.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF
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6 A 148 M EE B B AL E mE N fEHE A
A BIR P HE B nl s & 5 (AN A HARE) ©
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28 CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

The estimate of the fair value of the derivative components
of the convertible bond is measured based on a Binomial
pricing model. Details of the assumptions used are as
follows:

Expected volatility LIV EIES
Dividend yield A SR =
Maturity period FI| HRHARR

Risk free rate A | B ) =R

On March 22, 2024, the Group entered into an amendment
to the convertible bond investment agreement with Beijing
Heyin. Pursuant to the amended agreement, the Group
repaid RMB50,000,000 of the principal amount and accrued
but not paid interests by June 15, 2024. Therefore, it met
the derecognition criteria for the convertible bond repaid
and the difference between the carrying amount and
the consideration paid is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on the amendment date.

On December 23, 2024, the Group entered into another
amendment to the convertible bond investment agreement
with Beijing Heyin. Pursuant to the amended agreement,
the Group repaid the RMB140,000,000 of the principal
amount and accrued but not paid interests on December 31,
2024, following which the convertible bond has been repaid
in full and no balance of the convertible bond remains
outstanding.

28 TEBRES %)

ATERESHITEMRB DM AR BETIRA
“EAEBEREETREA - ABREFBN
T

Derivative

components of the

convertible bond

TE#F%Z
TTHEmE

2023

20234

52%
0%
3.46
3.97%

2024563 H228 - AEEBIEREGEE] L
‘J@;WEE%%&%?T%F* &7] o IRIEZIEET

» NEER2024F6 A15HRIEEARE A
Eﬁ%o 000,000 7T K& FEFHE RS A& o
It FEEEENHEHBESNRILEREZ
£ REHSBEENRENZENETERE
FEBmARER -

2024512 A238 « AEEEILREFE] AL
AEREFRERRNEE] o BIBZIER]
& AEER2024F 12831 EM%‘EZ@%E/\
R ¥140,000,0007T & fEETEARSFIE - H
BATERESDBEEE ﬁjﬁﬂirﬁﬂifét
BRI E S EREE o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AABRKESIR + BERAEERIN)

29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29 BRAKf#E
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) RERAMI DB E
The reconciliation between the opening and REBARA S /B R ER 2 A EA Y K AP
closing balances of each component of the Group’s Rz HNEHEHRGE RS
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated % RRBENFE RO R = HKED
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes DEVEEFEAT

in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are
set out below:

Treasury Share-based
Share Share shares Capital  payments  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
DRGAER

Bx  RDEE EFRGBE  EARE  OAREE  ENRE  ZHER &t
RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBI000  RMB'O0D  RMBI0OO
ARBTT ARETR ARETLE ARETZ ARETR ARMTL ARETR ARETE

Balance at January 1, 2023 120231 A1B#&ER 323 = = 30 212,258 (320917)  (1,672,681)  (1,780,987)

Changes in equity for 2023: R2023FfEREE :
Total comprehensive income A2 AN 2%

for the year - - - - - (111,197) (511,726) (622,923)
Equity settled share-based  LVEREERARG A
transactions ERNRS - - - - 11,340 - - 11,340

Balance at December 31,  R2023%128318K
2023 and January 1,2024 202441718 & 23508  (432,114) (2,184,407) (2,392,570)

Changes in equity for 2024: 20245 RIEREH :
Total comprehensive income  FRZE Nz 4%

for the year (124,484)  (2,324,090)  (2,448,574)
Equity settled share-based ~ LUEREE MR A

transactions ERRRS 16,869 16,869
Issuance of ordinary shares ~ StENAREEHTT

relating to IPO vl 691,168 691,187

Conversion of convertible TR EREIEARE
redeemable preferred shares  #/A L@k

to ordinary shares 9,367,277 9,367,518
Repurchase shares to REEEEBXRHR

satisfy individual income HEMRERLAR

tax requirements upon IHREARER

settlement of vested RSUs B3¢ (47,119) (47,119)
Issuance of ordinary sharesto E/TE B ﬁﬂﬁ

settle vested RSUs BRRAIRR B L (14,478)

Balance at December 31, 202461283102
2024 373 10,072,914 (47,119) 225,989 (556,598)  (4,508,497) 5,187,311
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 29 EXKRE#E

(b) Dividends (b) RE
HZE2024F 2023512 A31HIEEE
BE  AARWERTHEIRIRE o 1R
AL TR 16 TS B HOR IR B, - R
HASE R 16 NS B MR IR A, -

No dividends have been paid or declared by the
Company during each of the years ended December
31, 2024 and 2023. There is no final dividend
proposed after the end of the reporting period. There
is no final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period.

(c) Share capital () B’A&

SEERAR
AABR2015FERBHB RS T
Az - SEERR AN A250,000% 7T ©
/£52,500,000,000f% &= J T {50.0001 &
ToHERE o

Authorised share capital

The Company was incorporated in British Virgin Islands
in 2015 with authorized share capital of USD250,000
divided into 2,500,000,000 ordinary shares with par
value of USD0.0001 each.

EETRA

No. of shares

Issued share capital

Share capital

A8 B (&S
Note RMB’000
B sE ARBT T
Ordinary shares, issued and ERTHNHENEBR
fully paid:
At January 1, 2023, R2023F1 418 -
December 31 2023 2023F12A318 &
and January 1, 2024 2024%F1H1H 525,150,000 323
Conversion of convertible redeemable 5 A] & 1 A] % [B] 8 5¢
preferred shares (Note 27) A (B EE27) 335,766,124 241
Issuance of ordinary shares B AREERET
upon initial public offering =g iilha (i) 25,774,000 19
Issuance of ordinary shares to BITERRNEED S
settle vested RSUs (Note 25) & ) S PR AR 1) B AL
(BtzE25) 12,567,609 9
At December 31, 2024 202412 A31H 899,257,733 592
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Share capital (continued)

Issued share capital (continued)

Notes:

U]

Issuance of ordinary shares upon initial public offering

On December 6, 2024, the Company issued
25,774,000 shares with par value of US$0.0001,
at a price of HKD$30.21 per share by initial public
offering. Net proceeds from such issue amounted to
RMB691,187,000 out of which USD2,577 (equivalent
to RMB19,000) and RMB691,168,000 were recorded
in share capital and share premium respectively.

(d) Reserves

N

(i)

Capital reserve

Capital injected to a subsidiary by the
Group

On February 28, 2023, equity holders of Dmall
Zhilian approved Dmall (Shenzhen) Digital
Technology Co., Ltd. to increase its investment
in Dmall Zhilian in amount of RMB93,522,000.
In connection with such additional investment,
the Group’s equity interests in Dmall Zhilian
increased from 55% to 80%. As of December
31, 2023, RMB36,000,000 was injected to Dmall
Zhilian.

Such transaction was accounted for as a
transaction with a non-controlling equity
holder of Dmall Zhilian. No gain or losses on
such changes was recognized in profit or loss.
The difference between capital injected by the
Group and its interests increased in the carrying
amount of Dmall Zhilian’s net assets was
recognized as deduction in capital reserve with
amount of RMB15,688,000.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF

29 EXRRf@RE®
() BA#E)
BEATIRA ()

MIEE

U]

(d) f#iE

(i)

BRARBEERETERR

K2024F 12 468  KRARIAEXRA
7 5% & A =\ 3 17 25,774,000 i & A%
E{E0.0001ETTWRD - FRIEE
302177 ° WLIREITFIS I F 58
A ANER#691,187,0007T + EF2,577
FEL(FHERAR19,000T) RAR
#691,168,0007T 7 Bl 5T A AR 28 £ 3%

NG
A EEE ] — S BB A EEE

F2202342 A28H © ZEHEEE
IR B A EZ ORI & T
B HR A AR %2 T ILE A
R #93,522,0007T ° 3t& @8N
BEME @ NEBHZBEHA
A% EL B 55% 12 N2 80% © &
ZF2023F12A318 ' EMZ S
B£ & AR #36,000,0007T °

BRARXZIEREZ A IFER
BERBEANZS AR - GEE
B sk BRI RN s
R AEEITERENZ D
FEEREEEINOER Z BN
ERERREAFHROR - &
A AR®15,688,0007T °
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Reserves (continued)

(i)

Capital reserve (continued)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests of
Retail Technology Asia

On November 8, 2024, the Group entered into
a share purchase agreement with the non-
controlling equity holder of Retail Technology
Asia to purchase 11% equity interests of
Retail Technology Asia for a consideration of
USD10,308,000 (equivalent to RMB74,142,000).
Following the completion of the transaction, the
Group's equity interests in Retail Technology Asia
increased from 58.5% to 69.5%.

On December 13, 2024, the Group entered into
another share purchase agreement with the non-
controlling equity holder of Retail Technology
Asia to purchase the remaining 30.5% equity
interests of Retail Technology Asia for a
consideration of USD28,582,000 (equivalent
to RMB205,436,000). Upon completion of this
transaction, Retail Technology Asia became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

This transaction was accounted for as transaction
with non-controlling interest and the excess
of considerations over the aggregate carrying
amounts of acquired non-controlling interests
of RMB279,828,000 was recognised directly in
equity.

29 EXKRE#E
(d) @)

(i)

NG AEIE )

W fERetail Technology AsiaHy
FEEEIR e

R2024F 11 A8H » AEEH
Retail Technology Asia HJ 3F #2 i%
s A AR EE = -
410,308,000 7T (HHE M AR
¥ 74142000t ) WREBE
Retail Technology Asia B 11% A%
o R THIE - ANEEH Retall
Technology Asia #) £ % £t 5] £
58.5% EF1%E69.5% °

72024F 128130 » AEEE
Retail Technology Asia # 3F 2 i%
ERBEEALS —HBERRD
# 0 LA {E28,582,0003 T (#H
R A R ¥ 205,436,000 7T ) B
E Retail Technology Asia & T~
30.5% M HE - X FTEAIE + Retalil
Technology Asiafi¥ & 78 & B #) &
BB AT

ZRXGERBEFERERZOR
SAE - B AR EIETER
BEAFEHENRKEBEARE
279,828,000 7T B £ 1A #E 5 P FE

A
177
e ©
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Reserves (continued)

N

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve is established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations
and the articles of association of the companies
which are incorporated in the PRC until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of their registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to equity
holders.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents
the portion of the grant date fair value of share
options, RSUs and restricted ordinary shares
granted to eligible employees, directors and
non-employees of the Group that has been
recognized in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in
Note 2(w)(ii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements for operations
outside of Chinese mainland. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in Note 2(aa).

Treasury share reserve

The reserve for the Company’s treasury shares
comprises the cost of the Company’s shares
held by the Group. At December 31, 2024, the
Group held 3,698,462 of the Company'’s shares
(2023: nil).

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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29 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of adjusted liability-to-asset ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted liabilities is defined as total liabilities
less convertible redeemable preferred shares and
convertible bond.

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities and movements in its
own equity share price.

29 EXRfRE#)

(e) EXERE

AEBEREANTIERRRREARE
BB ERE N - KRB ERE K
RS R E m MRS E B M ASEK
ARGRENT R - #ESRRAIER
W R E MR E BIER AR o

AEERGEHERREEEANRRE
REESBREFHER Tl HEERE
SIS BT RERIEE AN H RN
@ AR ARIERE RS T - AR
AR BB E AL AR -

AEEREHERBREEL RNAERE
ERHEARE UM E - £HER
BIEE AR AR AT ER A REE
SRR B AT E 55 o

BREREEREMTIANR
EE

L] :E%%%LEQJAEEWF,\ k2
Bg  MEREEER AEETAXKE
HE ;%E’Jﬂﬂéixé&zli%ﬂx%{ﬁff )
P ERER -
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 MBEAKREERSMIAAR
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (ERETE )
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The Group'’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk REEEGZEREERAEEANERZS
management policies and practices used by the Group to [ B ) B 755 B e B IBRSR SR TR B T X o

manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk (a) EERK

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables and contract
assets. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
high credit ratings assigned by the management of
the Group, for which the Group considers to represent
low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

As at December 31, 2024, 41.66% of the total trade
receivables and contract assets was due from the
Group's largest customer (2023: 66.75%).

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 HKAREEREMIANR

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (LT

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) =ERRE)
The following table provides information about the TREMHE BAAREER20245 22023
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade F1R2ANANEENEERRRE S
receivables and contract assets as at December 31, EWGRIRTERMEEEIE AR A N EERN
2024 and 2023: BRL

2024
20245

Expected Gross carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance
TR IER BERTEE BiEEE
% RMB’'000 RMB’000

% AR¥T T ARET T

Within 1 year 1A 250,131 5,735
1 — 2 years 1224 2,501 215
2 - 3 years 2E35F 1,142 228
3 -4 years 3FE4F 557 167
4 — 5 years 4ZF54F 713 457

More than 5 years S5 45 45

255,089
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 iIKEAMEERSMTIAAR
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEE @
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) SERKE)
2023
20234
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAEE R 1EERTA (B BB
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARETTT ARETT

Within 1 year 156 A 0.62 158,346 985
1 -2 years 1Z224F 21.34 8,290 1,769
2 — 3 years 2FE3F 22.38 782 175
3 -4 years 3E44F 29.98 884 265
4 -5 years 4ZE55F 50.00 68 34
More than 5 years 5 100.00 25 25
168,395 3,253
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of ERNEEESEWZIER A GEENE
trade receivables and contract assets during the year is EEREENEENT
as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETTT

At January 1 ®1A1H 3,253 3,511
Impairment loss recognized EHERA R EEE 3,697 2,250
Amounts written off MEHE S5 (103) (2,508)

At December 31 ®12A31H 6,847 3,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

30 BIEREEREMIAAR
EBEE#®

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBELER

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period, of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current
at December 31, 2024 and 2023) and the earliest
dates the Group can be required to pay:

AEENBRRASENERERDEST
KREBEEZONETIER - ARER
HER R RASRERERE S BMEE
RETEAHETHEE - WneHEH
EEMRBESHFRK -

TRINTRBREPRTEBHIENTES
BEBEZHRTENIHER - BABR
DEREHABBRR S RE(RIERA
BRI RAE ZFENR - I BTFE
FIZR - B 20244 [ 2023412 A 31
B2 ERMERFTE) R ERAER
BN zHFEH :

2024
20245
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARRERR SR
More than More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying
1 year or less than less than More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total December 31
155 BBE jikcpkd MM2A318
REX  BFHE  BFISE BiBsE &t AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%Tr ARETr ARETR AR¥Tn  AR%Tx
Trade payables BIRMATE 98,533 98,533 98,533
Accrued expenses and other payables  fEFTEF REMENFIR 261,975 261,975 261,975
Bank loans and other borrowings RIS REMER 450,743 537,814 529,646
Lease liabilities HEAR 24,069 28,002 27,447

835,320

926,324 917,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

N

(9]

30 BIEAREEREMIAAR
EE#

(b) REBVESEMRE)

2023
2023F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANRERRE R
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Carrying
Within 1 year less than less than More than amount at
or on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total ~ December 31
1ERE, BRIE BimE MM2A318
RER  BFHE EFERE BB E &5t HERE(E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREBTR ARETR ARMTT ARETT  ARETR
Trade payables B AR 86,563 - - - 86,563 86,563
Accrued expenses and other payables  FE&TEF R EMEFFIE 422,749 - - - 422,749 422,749
Bank loans and other borrowings FATERREMER 210,354 68,285 48,670 - 327,309 314,176
Convertible bond-fiability component ~ AIEHES - BEHH 11,020 11,020 212,040 234,080 185,235
Lease liabilities HEaR 26,757 14,292 1,254 = 42,303 40,584
757,443 93,597 261,964 - 1113004 1049307
Interest rate risk () FI=mEp

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is primarily exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to lease liabilities and cash flow risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy to mitigate interest rate risk; nevertheless, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arise. The directors of the Company consider
that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant
because the current market interest rates are relatively
low and stable.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF

MEER A BT ARTISMNXRE(K
FHAABESIARRBESREN R

AEETEZHGEESABEMHEBNAR
B AR E e b S A] BN R IRTTAE AR
RS RERR - AKE B AL ERN
KEPBRARE N R BN
t o EEESEBEMNEMO - e
ZREAFEZREIPERNERER - &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily

through sales and purchases which give rise to

receivables, payables and cash balances that are

denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency

other than the functional currency of the operations to

which the transactions relate. Currency risk is mainly

due to exchange rate fluctuations between the USD

and RMB. The Group manages this risk as follows:

(i)

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognized assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts
of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated
using the spot rate at the year-end date.
Differences resulting from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations into
the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

30 HEREEREMIARAR

Bl

(d)

B ERE

AEEETEZRETMESLIAINE (AN
RHBBERBHEEH AN ER)
FHEMBRIR - BNREMR &R
MEEERER - EREREERASE
TTEARE 2 FHEZRE) - NEEE
R 2 T

() EREBRERE
TRFAMAEENREHRE L
REERERHEMINERE
MEHREEXRBEMELNE
KRk - SE2WRBE N - HERER
MEBEAARBIR - WERBF
B BIHIE R E S AR
R o MBI INER B 55 ¥R
RMER/ASEZREEMEL
HVZERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i)

Trade and other receivables
—in USD
—in HKD
—in SGD
—in MYR
—in PHP

Cash and cash equivalents
—in USD
—in HKD
—in SGD
—in RMB
—in HUF
—in PHP

Trade and other payables
—in USD
—in HKD
—in SGD
—in RMB
—in PHP

30 BIEAREEREMIAAR
EE#

(d) E¥mEMgE)

Net exposure arising from
recognized assets and liabilities

HRE¥ R (&)
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARTFIT
B 5 K E b FEUEIE
—PAZETTEHE 228
— A TTEHE 6,335
— DAFr b JTEHE 717
— AR RAELEHE =
—SEEELRGHE -
ReRBREEEY
— AZETTEHE 4,132
— A TTEHE 664
— BART I3 JTETHE 784
— AR ITEHE -
— LAY 7F R t@ ARETE 1,037
—AERELRFHE =
B 5 R E MR FIE
—AZEITEHE (126) (831)
— A TTEHE (5,889) (94)
— AR N oA (106) =
—AAREITTEHE (45,462) (21,273)
—SEEELRGE (91) -
EHRAEERBEMEE
K ER R 558 (27.,201) (8,301)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

30 BIEREEREMIAAR
EBEE#®

(d) E¥mb)
BREDH

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i)

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’'s loss after tax (and
accumulated losses) and other components
of consolidated equity that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant.

2024
20244

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign

exchange rates

Effect on profit
after tax and
retained profits

SHNEER HEHRENER
R/ (T

RENBzHE
RMB’000
AR®T T

usb e 214
(214)

HKD BT 403
(403)

SGD g T 153
(153)

RMB ARETT (YREL)]

2,139

HUF 9 7 F @M 5
(5)

MYR SRARSEH 61
(61)

PHP FERELHER 27
(27)

TR A KBRS 8 RE
HEARRMNEXREARAHE
R HAKBEONRTRER
(R RFHER) Rz A amr
o FTER K BIES B L - BRARFT
BHMEREERFTE -

2023
2023F
Increase/

(decrease)  Effect on profit
in foreign after tax and
exchange rates retained profits
SNERER  HRRTIEME K
ER(THR) REFEZZE
RMB'000

AREFT

5% 163
(5%) (163)

5% 326
(5%) (326)

5% 71
(5%) (71)
5% (1,008)

(5%) 1,008

5% 174
(5%) (174)

5% =

(5%) -

5% -

(5%) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 IEMEEREMIAAR

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (ERETE )

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥RkE)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued) (i) BREDIN(E)

Results of the analysis as presented in the ERZVNNSITERBERE RS
above table represent an aggregation of the EEERBUASEYEEETE8
instantaneous effects on each of the Group BrEi1&FE RiERIERE AR
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in LTTEKTﬁ:ﬁ}\Eﬁ%L\M’E%i&
the respective functional currencies, translated B 4B A BRS R 22

into RMB at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation

purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change BREDMBRINEEREZEE
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to AREFGTERNRERREHR
re-measure those financial instruments held by T35 75 {5 75 & [ T 9 NS R B Y
the Group which expose the Group to foreign SETEA  BREAERARBER
currency risk at the end of the reporting period, ADEEE B AINE BT EN RS
including inter-company payables and receivables SNSRI EREN Y 3E
within the Group which are denominated in a 18 ° 2023F KD T iSRRI B E
currency other than the functional currencies i HEAT o

of the lender or the borrower. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

30 FIEREERESMTAAR
BEE®

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (e) AAEHEFE

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of

the Group’s financial instruments measured at

the end of each reporting period on a recurring

basis, categorized into the three-level fair value

hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value

measurement. The level into which a fair value

measurement is classified is determined with

reference to the observability and significance

of the inputs used in the valuation technique as

(i)

DRBERR

TREJNRZHREPRIZEEN
EEGFENAEESRTEND
REE  PBERBERMHEREE
A 13 A BEEMFEN
=RARBEER - 2EER
EFRENERDE2ELTH
BIEFABABEN SR
NEBWERERE :

follows:
e level 1 Fair value measured using only s F—H EFERF—HBHA
valuations: Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted fh1E - BIR(AINEE B H
quoted prices in active HREEEXEER
markets for identical assets or & PR TH 3% ) R 4L 5
liabilities at the measurement BRE)FGFTENAR
date. BE -
e level 2 Fair value measured using e FH FHEZHBHAH
valuations: Level 2 inputs i.e. observable HE: BETHEE—R
inputs which fail to meet B A R R g A BB )
Level 1, and not using BYRFAHAEAT
significant unobservable A RE ABES
inputs. Unobservable inputs ENANEME T
are inputs for which market ABRG ABER
data are not available. I % 77 3% SUR M &)
N ¢
e level3 Fair value measured using e BE= FREXRTAHE
valuations: significant unobservable il WAREBFENA

inputs.

SEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AABRKESIR + BERAEERIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 MIKEREERSHMIAEAR

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEEw®w

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) DAEMEFEE)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) () AREEREBRE)

The following table presents the Group's TREFNAEERBREHARAR
financial assets and financial liabilities that AEBEIFENESREENES DA
are measured at fair value at the end of the f& :

reporting period:

Fair value Measurement as
at December 31, 2024 categorized into
R2024F12A3MB 2 ARBEFESEA

Fair value at
December 31,
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RA20245
12A31H
ZAREE e -t B=ZR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARBTRE AR®TR ARBTR AR®ETR

Recurring fair value KEMAREER
measurements itE
Assets: BE
— Equity investment —EmiE 52,659 52,659
—Investment in wealth ~ —#RERHER
management products 34,436 34,436

87,095 52,659 34,436
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30 iIKEAMEERESMTIAAR
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL BEE®
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AAEBHEFTEE)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) () AREEREBRE)

Fair value Measurement as
at December 31, 2023 categorized into

M2023F 12 A31 B2 AR EEFNENEA

Fair value at
December 31,
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20236
12A31H
ZAnEE FE— ER FE=

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBETT ARETT ARETR

Recurring fair value REMAAEE
measurements Hp=

Assets: BE
— Equity investment —RRiRE 196,574 196,574 = =
— Investment in wealth — BB E R

management products 34,935 = = 34,935
Liabilities: BfE:
- Convertible redeemable A2 #An] fE (@&

preferred shares e (6,965,493) = - (6,965,493)
— Derivative components ~ — A (&4

of the convertible bond ~ ZHTEMEBH

(Note 27) (M¥5x27) (23,342) = = (23,342)

(6,757,326) 196,574 - (6,953,900)

For assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of the reporting period.
During the year ended December 31, 2024,
there were no transfers among different levels
of fair values measurement (2023: transfer
from Level 3 to Level 1 was due to the IPO of
Guoquan in November 2023).

UL EEEEZAABETE
WEERBEMS  ~A£EEA8
RBEREFTHDB(ER
HARBEAEEREMSBEBEAX
MREREH ASIE) B TR E
HzHREREER - #=2024
F12A3MBLEFE - UMAAE
B ENTRBA W EER
(20234 : RSB 20234 11
ABERAREE  AtmE=R
BREE—H) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(a) Key management personnel
remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 10, is as
follows:

31 EXBEBARE K&
(a) TEEEASTH

AEETEEEABHFM(BEINT
RAFES (WM EPTIRE) kA T &
=% E 8 (AP EE 10T 5 ) B FRI8)
LN

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETF T

Salaries and other benefits e REMER 20,455 15,134

Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAL 2,156 284

Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHER 361 292
Equity-settled share-based payment A i E AR () A ERRE

SR 4,506 2,075

27,478 17,785

Total remuneration was included in staff costs (see
Note 7(b)).

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31 EXBBARZ RESHRE)

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)

(b) REEHMRAEBEEAR

(b) Names and relationships of the related

parties that had material transactions
with the Group during the reporting
period

Name of related party

RS B

Wumei Technology Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries,
excluding MDL Wholesale Group, Yinchuan Xinhua
Group and B&T Entities (“Wumei Group”)

MERBEBERATREFRARI(TEEEEREMERE
ERARRETFAR  RIFEEEERESERGE
RARREFARIRAREER) ([MEE®E])*

MDL Wholesale Limited and its subsidiaries
("MDL Wholesale Group”)**

BREREHEEAERAR A FAF
(Rt EERE )~

Chongging Department Store Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
("Chongging Department Store Group”)

ERBEAERNBRARMNEFAA
((EEEESEE )

Yinchuan Xinhua Commercial (Group) Co., Ltd and its
subsidiaries (“Yinchuan Xinhua Group”)

R EAEREEERNERAALEFAT
(MRl EERE |)>

ZHEBLTNEEKEER

Relationship
E2[ES

Entities ultimately controlled by the Company’s
Founder and Controlling Shareholder,
Dr. Zhang Wenzhong

AN F B A AR FE AR ER 3R 3 18 S AR

ME R

Entities ultimately controlled by the Company’s
Founder and Controlling Shareholder,
Dr. Zhang Wenzhong

AR A BIIA A FRIZE A AR SR R SR 18 S A2

TR

Entities significantly influenced by the
Company'’s Founder and Controlling
Shareholder, Dr. Zhang Wenzhong

RRRAIEAFIERBER R P ELELER

S 4R A = B
TENER

Entities ultimately controlled by the Company’s
Founder and Controlling Shareholder,
Dr. Zhang Wenzhong

AR BB IR A FRIZE IR AR B R S AR 18 S A 42 il

MEE

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T ERAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)

(b) Names and relationships of the related
parties that had material transactions
with the Group during the reporting
period (continued)

Name of related party

B B

Entities that manage and operate stores bearing the brand
of B&T in the PRC (“B&T Entities”)*

RABEEERELALERERENERE
((BExEER

Dmall Fresh (Beijing) E-commerce Co., Ltd.
(“Dmall Fresh (Beijing)”)
Lo (b ) EF B ERAR ([ ZEHE(dLRE) )+

* The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The
English translation of the names are for identification
purpose only.

**  Prior to MDL Wholesale Group's reorganization in June
2024, MDL Wholesale Group represents Maidelong
Entities that manage and operate stores bearing the
brand of Maidelong in the PRC.

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF

N

31 EXRBEBARZ NRiEHRE)

(b) MEEHHEAEBEEAR
% HIBIR TS (0 B R BB R ()

Relationship
22[ES

Entities ultimately controlled by the Company’s
Founder and Controlling Shareholder,
Dr. Zhang Wenzhong

RN AIRIIA AN FRAE AR AR B o S A 18 - AR A 12

B

Entity under Company’s key management
control after disposal

HERARRREIZEEEEHNER

ERNESDEBE AT - A7
MR SRR AR -

=2
=T

% 5

** R2024F6 AR RREHEREENE
MRl - EEEREREERREERE
B EPREREMNELERTRERS
BV -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B RAR M

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

31 ERBEBARZ NRiEHRE)

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)

(c) Transactions with related parties (0)

Continuing operations

Services rendered and products
sold to

Wumei Group

MDL Wholesale Group

Chongging Department Store Group

Yinchuan Xinhua Group

B&T Entities

Dmall Fresh (Beijing)

Purchase of delivery service from
Wumei Group

Other transactions with related parties

Purchase of rental services received from
Wumei Group

Purchase of rental services received from
MDL Wholesale Group

Purchase of promotion and other services
received from Wumei Group

Purchase of promotion and other services
received from MDL Wholesale Group

Purchase of promotion and other services
received from other related parties

Receipt on behalf of Dmall Fresh (Beijing)

Payment paid on behalf of Wumei Group

Payment paid on behalf of other related
parties

Discontinued operations

Services rendered to

Wumei Group

MDL Wholesale Group

Chongging Department Store Group

FRSEX®B

REREETUTEIH
AR & B fm

e SE]

BiEREftEEEE

EERERE

R)FESE

BREERE

LR (IR

BERAUTEIHRM
PR3
YES L]

SR T M H MR S
BEREYEEENEE
AR5
BERAETEAEES
B HE RS
BEREYEEENER
KB A RS
BERAECEAEES
] e HE R B EL M AR TS
BB R H MR M
& B B At AR
U2 BT (AL 70 W&
RERMEEE TR
REREMEE T XS0

IR

ERIEREEK
MR R M
ES S

B EEsE
EFRERE

BEEBLNRS

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
1,050,748 821,047
216,211 259,471
96,411 62,781
59,666 54,944
9,191 3,721

207 =

13,067

14,445

600

852

389

11 32

25,170 =
27,878 180,352
37,748 68,062
32,528 106,343

174 1,114
93 1,090
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(continued)

(d) Related party balances

N

The Group's balances with related parties as at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Trade in nature: ESMHE:
Amounts due from related parties JE L BB 5 SR IE
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< S 75 SR IE

Amounts due from and to related parties of the Group
are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand/on
contract terms.

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

31 EXRBEBARZ NRiEHRE)

(d) BBt AERR

RS AR - ZN5% B B A EE 77 e A BRI
T~

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

231,097 143,112
15,624 169,081

M I A< 7 S 1B R Bt 7 s IR T D I 4K
C BB BERER RANGRE

a5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32 A EEBHENMEARRE
FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in a subsidiary RBARMRE 1 1
Amount due from subsidiaries R NGIE e 4,695,356 4,618,234
4,695,357 4,618,235

Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFE « ZS REMEL

receivables FIE = 5,070
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEY 551,439 1,064
e 551,439 S E_i,_1_?f‘r__
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued expenses and other payables [T A M E Ath fE{F ZA 18,140
Convertible redeemable preferred A] B A A BB B8 o AR

shares 6,965,493
o 33.916 6,983,633
Net current assets/(liabilities)  ABHE (AF)FE 497,523 [ (6,977,499)
Total assets less current liabilities AEERABERS 5,192,880 (2,359,264)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ek R

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFIR - SHEBEKRIN)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32 AEIBEMNBBEMRRET )
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

2024 2023

20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥T T ARETT

Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Accrued expenses and other payables fExt% F3 N = fth e~ 2R 18 21 5,569
Convertible bond A] B A 25 28 27,737
B 5:569 33,306
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE(8E) 38 5,187,311 (2,392,570)
Capital and reserves ERR 29(a)
Share capital [N 592 323
Reserves i 5,186,719 (2,392,893)
TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) (B4 A 5,187,311 (2,392,570)
Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors 20253 A 18H @ KEFTSHEWIRER
on March 18, 2025. #m o
Zhang Feng Tang Yifan
Rig BEMN
Director Chief Financial Officer
o BHRMBE

Dmall Inc. Z R HEBRLF

N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (AAREEFIR - SEIEBEKRIN)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At December 31, 2024, the directors consider the immediate
parent to be Celestial Limited, which is incorporated in BVI,
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Dr. Zhang
Wenzhong.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2024

Up to the date of these financial statements, the IASB has
issued a number of new or amended standards which are
not yet effective for the year ended December, 31 2024 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates:

Lack of exchangeability

33

34

BR S ERAE2URERIA - BEXEHZE - RS A LR

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity

I % B 75 i 5 AR | S8 9555 I BB B A
KRB B R BEIR FE E TH AR

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments

BIR B RS R F O R BRI R EERNFE TR ERT A

SR B 2 &5

ERFETHRZERTA

&

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BRI RE LR G ERIFELE - 111

BITAZ

BEERBRERT

MR2024%F12 8310 ' EERAEASENES
£FA 7] ACelestial Limited(REEBHER RE S
FMAAL) - BARSERSLIERTS AR XH
i )

EEMHEREZE2024512 A 31
B I FE i ARERPIEETA -
MEARZREUREEENRE

BEEAVKBREAE  BEeEESEE
EBMZ B HESTLER] - ZFERIR
HE2024F 12 AN BIEFERAER » BR
MZEVHEBRERPERA - ZEBRBIEN
TRIGEERAR R EFERARI A ©

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or after

RELT Rz &
HETFELEN

January 1, 2025
20251 A1H
January 1, 2026

20261 H1H

January 1, 2026

202651 A1H

January 1, 2026
2026F1H1H

Annual Report 20245 F %

-




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHERME

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (JAAREFR @ SEEBEKRIN)

34 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 34 CE#MHENREZE2024512A31

NEW STANDARDS AND B IEFE B RERWIERTA -
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT HEARZEEEENSTE
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED (&)

DECEMBER 31, 2024 (continued)

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or after

AT BHEIZk 2 & B

HEFTFEEX

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements January 1, 2027
BUBR B AR 22 RISE 1855 - BT IRAK Z R A = 202751 A1H
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures January 1, 2027
BRI TSRS 2ERE 195 - TAARRBEIEZHIE L A] - HE 202751 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between To be determined

an investor and its associate or joint venture
BIR B IR E LR F 105 R B @ ERIFE 28R 2 BRI A - REL M T
HEBENFE BRI ZFNEELES TR

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of REEIR AR S E RNV ER R &
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in TBEIRE - 25 RIE - BIEHNER /TN
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that ZELEANBET AP KA L 4R & IS R E
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact EERTE o

on the consolidated financial statements.

35 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE 35 HEMREARSH
REPORTING PERIOD
There were no material subsequent events after December 2024512 A31 R E E AR E BB &
31, 2024 up to the date of this report. RigBHMF -

Dmall Inc. Z R BEBRAF

N
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